
NOTICE: Persons with disabilities needing accommodations for effective participation in this meeting should 
contact the City Clerk at (248) 524-3316 or via e-mail at clerk@troymi.gov at least two working days in 
advance of the meeting. An attempt will be made to make reasonable accommodations. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

TROY CITY COUNCIL 
 

 

REGULAR MEETING 

AGENDA 
 
 
 

DECEMBER 17, 2012 
CONVENING AT 7:30 P.M. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Submitted By 

The City Manager 





 

 

TO:   The Honorable Mayor and City Council 
   Troy, Michigan 
 
FROM:  Brian Kischnick, City Manager 
 
SUBJECT:  Background Information and Reports 
 
Ladies and Gentlemen: 
 
This booklet provides a summary of the many reports, 
communications and recommendations that accompany your 
agenda.  Also included are suggested or requested resolutions 
and/or ordinances for your consideration and possible adoption. 
 
Supporting materials transmitted with this Agenda have been 
prepared by department directors and staff members.  I am 
indebted to them for their efforts to provide insight and professional 
advice for your consideration. 
 
As always, we are happy to provide such added information as 
your deliberations may require. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
Brian Kischnick, City Manager 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
VISION: 
To honor the legacy of the past and build a strong, vibrant future and be an 
attractive place to live, work, and grow a business. 
 
GOALS: 
Provide a safe, clean, and livable city 
 Practice good stewardship of infrastructure  
 Maintain high quality professional community oriented police and fire protection 
 Conserve resources in an environmentally responsible manner 
 Encourage development toward a walkable, livable community 
 
Provide effective and efficient local government 

 Demonstrate excellence in community services 
 Maintain fiscally sustainable government 
 Attract and support a committed and innovative workforce 
 Develop and maintain efficiencies with internal and external partners 
 Conduct city business and engage in public policy formation in a clear and 

transparent manner 
 
Build a sense of community 
 Communicate internally and externally in a timely and accurate manner 
 Develop platforms for transparent, deliberative and meaningful community 

conversations 
 Involve all stakeholders in communication and engagement activities 
 Encourage volunteerism and new methods for community involvement 
 Implement the connectedness of community outlines in the Master Plan 2008 
 
Attract and retain business investment 
 Clearly articulate an economic development plan 
 Create an inclusive, entrepreneurial culture internally and externally 
 Clarify, reduce and streamline investment hurdles 
 Consistently enhance the synergy between existing businesses and growing 

economic sectors 
 Market the advantages of living and working in Troy through partnerships 

 

TROY CITY COUNCIL 
 

VISION STATEMENT AND GOALS 
Adopted: Monday, February 7, 2011 

 



 

 

 

 

 

CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA 

December 17, 2012 – 7:30 PM 

Council Chambers 

City Hall - 500 West Big Beaver 

Troy, Michigan 48084 

(248) 524-3317 

INVOCATION:  Pastor Randy Vinson from Bridge Community Church 1 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: 1 

A. CALL TO ORDER: 1 

B. ROLL CALL: 1 

C. CERTIFICATES OF RECOGNITION AND SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS: 1 

C-1 City of Troy Employees’ Casual for a Cause Program for the Months of 
September and October 2012 Presented to Troy People Concerned 1 

C-2 Troy Garden Club and Telly’s Greenhouse for Beautification at the Troy Public 
Library and Troy Historical Village 1 

C-3 Troy Public Library 2013-2015 Strategic Plan/Presentation 1 

D. CARRYOVER ITEMS: 1 

D-1 No Carryover Items 1 

E. PUBLIC HEARINGS: 1 

E-1 No Public Hearings 1 



F. PUBLIC COMMENT FOR ITEMS ON THE AGENDA: 2 

G. CITY COUNCIL/CITY ADMINISTRATION RESPONSE/REPLY TO PUBLIC 

COMMENT: 3 

H. POSTPONED ITEMS: 3 

H-1  No Postponed Items 3 

I. REGULAR BUSINESS: 3 

I-1 Board and Committee Appointments: a) Mayoral Appointments – Downtown 
Development Authority; b) City Council Appointments – None 3 

I-2 Board and Committee Nominations: a) Mayoral Nominations – Planning 
Commission; b) City Council Nominations – Employee Retirement System Board 
of Trustees/Retiree Health Care Benefits Plan & Trust 4 

I-3 No Closed Session Requested 7 

I-4 Appointment of City Council Member 7 

a) City Council Interviews of Candidates .................................................................. 7 

b) Appointment of City Council Member ................................................................... 7 

I-5 Oakland County Bid – Installment Purchase of Golf Cars 7 

J. CONSENT AGENDA: 8 

J-1a Approval of “J” Items NOT Removed for Discussion 8 

J-1b  Address of “J” Items Removed for Discussion by City Council 8 

J-2  Approval of City Council Minutes 8 

a) Regular City Council Meeting – December 3, 2012 .............................................. 8 

J-3 No Proposed City of Troy Proclamations: 8 

J-4 Standard Purchasing Resolutions: 8 

a) Standard Purchasing Resolution 1: Award to Low Bidder – Bus 
Transportation Services - Recreation ................................................................... 8 



J-5 Request for Acceptance of Warranty Deed, Quit Claim Deed and Permanent 
Easements for Tuscany Estates Site Condominium – Sidwell #88-20-24-226-109 
& 111 9 

J-6 Request to Abandon an Existing Detention Basin and Accept a Warranty Deed 
and Quit Claim Deed for Tuscany Estates Site Condominiums – Sidwell #88-20-
24-226-110 9 

J-7 Sole Source – Purchase Freeance Mobile Application (app) Software 10 

J-8 Scheduled Contract Reopener with Detroit Water and Sewerage Department 
(Year 5) 10 

K. MEMORANDUMS AND FUTURE COUNCIL AGENDA ITEMS: 11 

K-1 Announcement of Public Hearings: None Submitted 11 

K-2 Memorandums (Items submitted to City Council that may require consideration at  
some future point in time): None Submitted 11 

L. PUBLIC COMMENT FOR ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA: 11 

M. COUNCIL REFERRALS: 11 

M-1  No Council Referrals 11 

N. COUNCIL COMMENTS: 11 

N-1   No Council Comments Advanced 11 

O. REPORTS: 11 

O-1 Minutes – Boards and Committees: 11 

a) Animal Control Appeal Board-Final-September 26, 2012 .................................. 11 
b) Building Code Board of Appeals-Final-November 7, 2012 ................................. 11 

c) Planning Commission Special/Study-Final-November 27, 2012 ........................ 11 

O-2 Department Reports: 11 

a) Troy Public Library 2013-2015 Strategic Plan/Presentation ............................... 11 



O-3  Letters of Appreciation: None Submitted 12 

O-4  Proposed Proclamations/Resolutions from Other Organizations: None Submitted 12 

O-5  Robert Davis v City of Troy et al 12 

O-6  Michigan Association of Home Builders et al v City of Troy 12 

O-7  Special Elections Lawsuits 12 

P. STUDY ITEMS: 12 

P-1  No Study Items 12 

Q. CLOSED SESSION: 12 

Q-1  No Closed Session Requested 12 

R. ADJOURNMENT: 12 

FUTURE CITY COUNCIL PUBLIC HEARINGS: 13 

SCHEDULED REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETINGS: 13 

Monday, January 14, 2013 Regular Meeting ......................................................... 13 
Monday, January 28, 2013 Regular Meeting ......................................................... 13 

Monday, February 4, 2013 Regular Meeting ......................................................... 13 
Monday, February 18, 2013 Regular Meeting ....................................................... 13 

Monday, March 4, 2013 Regular Meeting .............................................................. 13 
Monday, March 18, 2013 Regular Meeting ............................................................ 13 
Monday, April 8, 2013 Regular Meeting ................................................................ 13 

Monday, April 15, 2013 Regular Meeting .............................................................. 13 
Monday, May 13, 2013 Regular Meeting ............................................................... 13 

Monday, May 20, 2013 Regular Meeting ............................................................... 13 
Monday, June 3, 2013 Regular Meeting ................................................................ 13 
Monday, June 17, 2013 Regular Meeting .............................................................. 13 
Monday, July 8, 2013 Regular Meeting ................................................................. 13 
Monday, July 22, 2013 Regular Meeting ............................................................... 13 

Monday, August 12, 2013 Regular Meeting .......................................................... 13 
Monday, August 26, 2013 Regular Meeting .......................................................... 13 

Monday, September 9, 2013 Regular Meeting ...................................................... 13 
Monday, September 23, 2013 Regular Meeting .................................................... 13 
Monday, October 7, 2013 Regular Meeting ........................................................... 13 
Monday, October 21, 2013 Regular Meeting ......................................................... 13 



Monday, November 11, 2013 Regular Meeting ..................................................... 13 
Monday, November 25, 2013 Regular Meeting ..................................................... 13 
Monday, December 2, 2013 Regular Meeting ....................................................... 13 

Monday, December 16, 2013 Regular Meeting ..................................................... 13 

SCHEDULED SPECIAL CITY COUNCIL MEETINGS: 13 

Monday, April 22, 2013 Regular Meeting .............................................................. 13 
Monday, April 29, 2013 Regular Meeting .............................................................. 13 





CITY COUNCIL AGENDA December 17, 2012 

 

- 1 - 

INVOCATION:  Pastor Randy Vinson from Bridge Community Church 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:  

A. CALL TO ORDER: 

B. ROLL CALL: 

a)  Mayor Dane Slater 
Jim Campbell 
Mayor Pro Tem Wade Fleming 
Dave Henderson 
Maureen McGinnis 
Doug Tietz 

 
b) Excuse Absent Council Members: 

 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2012-12-      
Moved by       
Seconded by       
 
RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby EXCUSES the absence of       at the Regular 
City Council Meeting of December 17, 2012, due to      . 
 
Yes:       
No:       
 

C. CERTIFICATES OF RECOGNITION AND SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS:  

C-1 City of Troy Employees’ Casual for a Cause Program for the Months of September 

and October 2012 Presented to Troy People Concerned 
 
C-2 Troy Garden Club and Telly’s Greenhouse for Beautification at the Troy Public 

Library and Troy Historical Village 
 
C-3 Troy Public Library 2013-2015 Strategic Plan/Presentation 
 

D. CARRYOVER ITEMS: 

D-1 No Carryover Items  
 

E. PUBLIC HEARINGS: 

E-1 No Public Hearings 
 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA December 17, 2012 

 

- 2 - 

F. PUBLIC COMMENT FOR ITEMS ON THE AGENDA: 

In accordance with the Rules of Procedure for the City Council, Article 17 – Members of 

the Public and Visitors: 
Any person not a member of the City Council may address the Council with recognition of the 
Chair, after clearly stating the nature of his/her inquiry or comment. City Council requests that if 
you do have a question or concern, to bring it to the attention of the appropriate department(s) 
whenever possible. If you feel that the matter has not been resolved satisfactorily, you are 
encouraged to bring it to the attention of the City Manager, and if still not resolved satisfactorily, to 
the Mayor and Council. 

 Petitioners shall be given a fifteen (15) minute presentation time that may be extended with 
the majority consent of City Council. 

 Any member of the public, not a petitioner of an item, shall be allowed to speak for up to 
three (3) minutes to address any Public Hearing item. 

 Any member of the public, not a petitioner of an item, shall be allowed to speak for up to 
three (3) minutes total to address Postponed, Regular Business, Consent Agenda or Study 
items or any other item on the Agenda as permitted under the Open Meetings Act during the 
Public Comment for Items On the Agenda portion of the Agenda. 

 Any member of the public, not a petitioner of an item, shall be allowed to speak for up to 
three (3) minutes to address any topic not on the Agenda as permitted under the Open 
Meetings Act during the Public Comment for Items Not on the Agenda portion of the 
Agenda. 

 All members of the public who wish to address the Council at a meeting shall be allowed to 
speak only if they have signed up to speak within thirty minutes before or within fifteen 
minutes after the meeting’s start time. Signing up to speak requires each speaker provide 
his or her name and residency status (Troy resident, non-resident, or Troy business owner). 
If the speaker is addressing an Item (or Items) that appear on the pre-printed agenda, then 
the speaker shall also identify each such agenda item number(s) to be addressed. 

 City Council may waive the requirements of this section by a majority vote of the City 
Council members. 

 Agenda items that are related to topics where there is significant public input anticipated 
should initiate the scheduling of a Special meeting for that specific purpose. 

 
The following has been approved by Troy City Council as a statement of the rules of decorum for 
City Council meetings. The Mayor will also provide a verbal notification of these rules prior to 
Public Comment: 
 

The audience should be aware that all comments are to be directed to the Council rather 
than to City Administration or the audience. Anyone who wishes to address the Council is 
required to sign up to speak within thirty minutes before or within fifteen minutes of the start 
of the meeting. There are two Public Comment portions of the Agenda. For Items On the 
Agenda, speakers can sign up to address Postponed, Regular Business, Consent Agenda, 
or Study items or any other item on the Agenda. Speakers can sign up to address all other 
topics under Items Not on the Agenda.  Also, there is a timer on the City Council table in 
front of the Mayor that turns yellow when there is one minute of speaker time remaining, and 
turns red when the speaker's time is up.    
 
In order to make the meeting more orderly and out of respect, please do not clap during the 
meeting, and please do not use expletives or make derogatory or disparaging comments 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA December 17, 2012 

 

- 3 - 

about any one person or group.  If you do so, then there may be immediate consequences, 
including having the microphone turned off, being asked to leave the meeting, and/or the 
deletion of speaker comments for any re-broadcast of the meeting.  Speakers should also be 
careful to avoid saying anything that would subject them to civil liability, such as slander and 
defamation.   
 
Please avoid these consequences and voluntarily assist us in maintaining the decorum 
befitting this great City. 
 

G. CITY COUNCIL/CITY ADMINISTRATION RESPONSE/REPLY TO PUBLIC 

COMMENT: 

H. POSTPONED ITEMS: 

H-1  No Postponed Items  
 

I. REGULAR BUSINESS: 

I-1 Board and Committee Appointments: a) Mayoral Appointments – Downtown 

Development Authority; b) City Council Appointments – None 
 
a) Mayoral Appointments – Downtown Development Authority 
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2012-12- 
Moved by  
Seconded by  
 
RESOLVED, That the Mayor of the City of Troy hereby APPOINTS the following nominated 
person(s) to serve on the Boards and Committees as indicated:   
 

Downtown Development Authority 

Appointed by Mayor 
13 Regular Members 

4 Year Term 
 

Nominations to the Downtown Development Authority: 

 
Term Expires:  9/30/2016 Gregory Carnago (In District) 

 Term currently held by: Gregory Carnago 
 
Term Expires:  9/30/2016 Laurence Keisling (At Large) 

 Term currently held by: Laurence Keisling 
 
Term Expires:  9/30/2016 Alan Kiriluk (In District) 

 Term currently held by: Alan Kiriluk 
 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA December 17, 2012 

 

- 4 - 

Term Expires:  9/30/2016 Daniel MacLeish (In District) 

 Term currently held by: Daniel MacLeish 
 
Term Expires:  9/30/2016 Arkan Jonna (In District) 

 Term currently held by: Harvey Weiss 
 
 

Yes:  
No:  
 
b) City Council Appointments - None 
 
I-2 Board and Committee Nominations: a) Mayoral Nominations – Planning 

Commission; b) City Council Nominations – Employee Retirement System Board 

of Trustees/Retiree Health Care Benefits Plan & Trust 
 
a) Mayoral Nominations: 

 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2012-12- 
Moved by 
Seconded by 
 
RESOLVED, That the Mayor of the City of Troy hereby FORWARDS the following nominated 
person(s) to serve on the Boards and Committees as indicated to the next Regular City 
Council Meeting for action:  
 

Planning Commission 
Appointed by Mayor 
9 Regular Members 

3 Year Term 
 

Current Members: 

Last 
Name 

First 
Name 

Appointment 
Date 

Appointment 
Expire Notes 1 Notes 3 

Edmunds Donald 4/4/2011 12/31/2013 EDC exp 4/30/3014  

Huang Eric 5/14/2012 7/31/2013 Student Rep. Requests 
Reappointment 

Hutson Michael 12/21/2009 12/31/2012  Requests 
Reappointment 

Kempen Edward 7/9/2012 12/31/2013 (Replaced Mark 
Maxwell-resigned)  

Krent Thomas 12/13/2012 12/13/2014   

Sanzica Philip 12/21/2009 12/31/2012 Alt. PC Rep on BZA Requests 
Reappointment 

Schepke Gordon 2/20/2012 12/31/2014   



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA December 17, 2012 

 

- 5 - 

Schultz Robert 2/20/2012 12/31/2014   
Strat Thomas 2/20/2012 12/31/2014   

Tagle John 12/21/2009 12/31/2012  Requests 
Reappointment 

 

  

Nominations to the Planning Commission: 

  

Term Expires:  12/31/2015  

 Term currently held by: Michael Hutson 
 
Term Expires:  12/31/2015  

 Term currently held by: Philip Sanzica 
 
Term Expires:  12/31/2015  

 Term currently held by: John Tagle 
 
Interested Applicants: 

Last Name First Name App Resume 
Date 

App Resume 
Expire Notes 2 

Binkowski Sarah 1/26/2012 1/26/2014 Traffic Comm. exp 01/31/2013 
Johansson Steven 1/23/2012 1/23/2014  

Kaltsounis Andrew 12/13/2012 12/13/2014 Liquor Advisory Comm. exp. 
1/31/2013 

Kaltsounis Orestis Rusty 1/20/2012 1/20/2014 P&R Bd exp 9/30/2015; ZBA 
(Alt.) exp 1/31/2015 

Kempen Edward 2/1/2012 2/1/2014 Replaced Mark Maxwell-
resigned) 

Lambert Dave 2/19/2011 2/16/2013 ZBA exp. 4/30/2014 
Lokken Stephen 1/23/2012 1/23/2014  
Ragan John 1/26/2012 1/26/2014  
Waters Roy 2/6/2012 2/6/2014 Full Disclosure mailed 2/6/2012 
Ziegenfelder Peter 12/14/2010 12/14/2012 Traffic Committee exp 1/31/2014 

 

 
Yes: 
No: 
 
b) City Council Nominations 

 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2012-12- 
Moved by 
Seconded by 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA December 17, 2012 

 

- 6 - 

RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby FORWARDS the following nominated person(s) 
to serve on the Boards and Committees as indicated to the next Regular City Council 
Meeting for action: 
 

Employee Retirement System Board of Trustees / Retiree Health Care Benefits 

Plan & Trust 
Appointed by Council 

7 Regular Members and 2 Ordinance Members 
3 Year Term 

 
Current Members: 

Last 
Name 

First 
Name 

Appointment 
Date 

Appointment 
Expire Notes 1 Notes 3 

Calice Mark 1/4/2010 12/31/2012 Council Appointed 
Citizen 

Requests 
Reappointment 

Darling Thomas   Chapter 10  

Gordon II Thomas 12/17/2010 12/31/2013 DB-Employee Rep. 
- Elected  

Henderson Dave 5/14/2012 4/15/2015   
Kischnick Brian   Chapter 10  

Need William 2/21/2011 12/31/2013 
Council Appointed 
Ex-Officio DB 
Retiree Rep. 

 

Pallotta Steven  12/31/2014 DC Employee Rep. 
- Elected  

Stansbury Milton 11/4/2011 12/31/2015 Employee elected Reelected 
12/10/2012 

 

 
Nominations to the Employee Retirement System Board of Trustees/Retiree Health 

Care Benefits Plan & Trust: 
 
Term Expires:  12/31/2015  

 Term currently held by: Mark Calice 
 
Interested Applicants: 

Last Name First Name App Resume 
Date 

App Resume 
Expire Notes 2 

Baughman Deborah 2/28/2011 2/28/2013 Personnel Board Term exp. 
4/30/2014 

Doyle Hugh Stephen 2/8/2012 2/8/2014 Historic Dist Comm exp 7/31/2013 

Kornacki Rosemary 11/15/2011 11/15/2013 Brownfield Redev Auth exp 
4/30/2014 

Ogg David 11/15/2011 11/15/2013 Liquor Adv exp1/31/2015; Traffic 
Com exp1/31/2015 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA December 17, 2012 

 

- 7 - 

Witt Francis 11/23/2011 11/23/2013 Personnel Board exp 4/30/2012 
 

 
Yes: 
No: 
 
I-3 No Closed Session Requested 
 
I-4 Appointment of City Council Member 
 
a) City Council Interviews of Candidates 
 

 Richard Beaubien 
 Bert Copple 
 Daniel Fair 
 Carmen Johnson 
 Kessie Kaltsounis 
 Edward Pennington 

 
b) Appointment of City Council Member 
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2012-12-      
Moved by       
Seconded by       
 
RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby APPOINTS _______________ for the vacant City 
Council Member position with the term expiring November 11, 2013. 
 
Yes:       
No:       
 
I-5 Oakland County Bid – Installment Purchase of Golf Cars 
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2012-12-      
Moved by       
Seconded by       
 
RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby APPROVES a contract to purchase (150) Model 
2013 Precedent 12 Electric IQ Club Golf Cars and two gas Turf I vehicles less (149) trade-ins 
under a lease-to-own agreement from Midwest Golf & Turf, Novi, MI, third party lending source, 
with pricing in accordance with the Oakland County bid at an estimated total cost of 
$538,260.00 under a 55-month lease term payable May-October 2013-2017 at an estimated 
$17,942/month with a $1/car purchase price at lease end.  
  
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That the agreement is CONTINGENT upon execution of all 
contract documents once in acceptable form. 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA December 17, 2012 

 

- 8 - 

 
Yes:       
No:       
 

J. CONSENT AGENDA: 

J-1a Approval of “J” Items NOT Removed for Discussion 
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2012-12-      
Moved by       
Seconded by       
 
RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby APPROVES all items on the Consent Agenda as 
presented with the exception of Item(s)  ______________      , which SHALL BE 

CONSIDERED after Consent Agenda (J) items, as printed. 
 
Yes:       
No:       
 
J-1b  Address of “J” Items Removed for Discussion by City Council  
 
J-2  Approval of City Council Minutes 
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2012-12-      
 

RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby APPROVES the following Minutes as submitted:  
a) Regular City Council Meeting – December 3, 2012 
 
J-3 No Proposed City of Troy Proclamations:  
 
J-4 Standard Purchasing Resolutions:  
 
a) Standard Purchasing Resolution 1: Award to Low Bidder – Bus Transportation 

Services - Recreation 
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2012-12-      
 
RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby AWARDS a contract to provide three (3) year 
requirements of complete bus transportation services for the City of Troy Recreation 
Department Summer and Winter Programs with an option to renew for two additional years to 
the low total bidder, First Student, of Naperville, IL, for an estimated annual cost of $21,800.00, 
at unit prices contained in the bid tabulation opened November 28, 2012, a copy of which shall 
be ATTACHED to the original Minutes of this meeting, with 2% annual rate increases allowed 
to cover expenses and the contract will expire December 31, 2015.  
 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA December 17, 2012 

 

- 9 - 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That the award is CONTINGENT upon contractor’s submission 
of properly executed bid and contract documents, including insurance certificates and all other 
specified requirements.  
 
J-5 Request for Acceptance of Warranty Deed, Quit Claim Deed and Permanent 

Easements for Tuscany Estates Site Condominium – Sidwell #88-20-24-226-109 & 

111 
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2012-12-      
 
RESOLVED, That City Council hereby ACCEPTS a warranty deed for right-of-way and seven 
permanent easements for rear yard drainage, public utilities, clear vision and non-access 
landscape, non-access greenbelt and landscape, sanitary sewer, storm sewer and surface 
drainage, and grading from Heatherwood Homes, Inc., owner of the properties having Sidwell 
#88-20-24-226-109 & 111; and 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That City Council hereby ACCEPTS a quit claim deed for right-
of-way and seven permanent easements for rear yard drainage, public utilities, clear vision and 
non-access landscape, non-access greenbelt and landscape, sanitary sewer, storm sewer and 
surface drainage, and grading from Mondrian Properties Tuscany Estates, LLC, equity interest 
holders; and 
 
BE IT FINALLY RESOLVED, That the City Clerk is hereby DIRECTED to record the warranty 
deed, quit claim deed and easements with the Oakland County Register of Deeds, a copy of 
which shall be ATTACHED to the original Minutes of this meeting. 
 
J-6 Request to Abandon an Existing Detention Basin and Accept a Warranty Deed and 

Quit Claim Deed for Tuscany Estates Site Condominiums – Sidwell #88-20-24-226-

110 
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2012-12-      
 
WHEREAS, The City of Troy has received a request from the developers of Tuscany Estates 
Site Condominiums to redesign and reconfigure an existing detention basin identified with 
Sidwell #88-20-24-226-110, that will serve both Beaver Creek Subdivision and the new site 
condominiums; and 
 
WHEREAS, The detention basin was previously granted to the City of Troy by Heatherwood 
Homes, Inc., as recorded in Liber 35251 Page 679;  
 
THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, That City Council AUTHORIZES the Mayor and City Clerk to 
EXECUTE a Quit Claim deed conveying the interest in the detention basin parcel having 
Sidwell #88-20-24-226-110 back to Heatherwood Homes, Inc. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That City Council ACCEPTS a Warranty Deed from 
Heatherwood Homes, Inc. for the new detention basin and a Quit Claim Deed from Mondrian 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA December 17, 2012 

 

- 10 - 

Properties Tuscany Estates, LLC, as the developer and land contract vendee in the properties 
to be developed as the new Tuscany Estates Site Condominiums proper; and 
 
BE IT FINALLY RESOLVED, That the City Clerk is hereby DIRECTED to record the documents 
with the Oakland County Register of Deeds, a copy of which shall be ATTACHED to the 
original Minutes of this meeting. 
 
J-7 Sole Source – Purchase Freeance Mobile Application (app) Software 
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2012-12-      
 
WHEREAS, In 2010 the City implemented Azteca Cityworks Asset Management and Customer 
Service Request software to better manage and update City infrastructure assets and process 
services requests from residents and businesses; and 
 
WHEREAS, To further streamline Cityworks processes, it would be beneficial for field staff to 
create and receive work orders and service requests while in the field; and 
 
WHEREAS, TDC Group, Inc. of Dayton, Ohio, has partnered with Azteca to develop a 
Cityworks specific Smartphone application for use in the field; and 
 
WHEREAS, The deployment of Smartphone technology in December 2011 to field staff has 
not only reduced hardware costs, but enhanced efficiencies by utilizing the features and 
applications (apps) on these devices, and now could be used to access work orders and 
service requests that reside in Cityworks while in the field; 
 
THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby APPROVES and 
AUTHORIZES the installation and purchase of Freeance Mobile Application software, Forms 
Pro and ongoing annual maintenance from the sole source provider of the proprietary software, 
TDC, Group, Inc. of Dayton, Ohio, as detailed in Attachment A, Costs; a copy of which shall be 
ATTACHED to the original Minutes of this meeting, with annual adjustments allowed for 
ongoing maintenance in accordance with the Consumer Price Index (CPI) for the Detroit / Ann 
Arbor Area. 
  
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby AUTHORIZES the purchase of 
additional user licenses estimated at $500.00 each, plus annual maintenance costs subject to 
change each year, in accordance with the CPI for the Detroit / Ann Arbor Area. 
 
BE IT FINALLY RESOLVED, The contract is CONTINGENT upon the contractor’s submission 
of properly executed contract documents including all insurance certificates.  
 
J-8 Scheduled Contract Reopener with Detroit Water and Sewerage Department (Year 

5) 
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2012-12-      
 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA December 17, 2012 

 

- 11 - 

WHEREAS, In 2008 the City of Troy and the Detroit Water and Sewerage Department (DWSD) 
entered into a 30 year contract to provide water to the City of Troy which included a contract 
reopener in the 5th year to adjust factors used to develop annual water rates and allow 
opportunity for minor clarifications of contract language; and 
 
WHEREAS, These adjustment factors include pressures, peak hour, max day and annual 
volumes in which the City of Troy has been able to control successfully through shifting peak 
hour usage into the exclusionary period of 11PM to 5 AM; and 
 
WHEREAS, The City of Troy continues to educate and invest in community capital improvement 
projects as required in this contract;   
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, That the attached amendment to the 30 year contract 
to provide wholesale water between the City of Troy and the Detroit Water and Sewerage 
Department is hereby APPROVED, as recommended by City Administration, a copy of which 
shall be ATTACHED to the original Minutes of this meeting. 
 

K. MEMORANDUMS AND FUTURE COUNCIL AGENDA ITEMS: 

K-1 Announcement of Public Hearings: None Submitted 
 
K-2 Memorandums (Items submitted to City Council that may require consideration at 

 some future point in time): None Submitted 
 

L. PUBLIC COMMENT FOR ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA: 

M. COUNCIL REFERRALS:  

Items Advanced to the City Manager by Individual City Council Members for 

Placement on the Agenda 

M-1  No Council Referrals 
 

N. COUNCIL COMMENTS: 

N-1   No Council Comments Advanced 
 

O. REPORTS: 

O-1 Minutes – Boards and Committees:  

a) Animal Control Appeal Board-Final-September 26, 2012 
b) Building Code Board of Appeals-Final-November 7, 2012 
c) Planning Commission Special/Study-Final-November 27, 2012 
 
O-2 Department Reports:  

a) Troy Public Library 2013-2015 Strategic Plan/Presentation 
 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA December 17, 2012 

 

- 12 - 

O-3  Letters of Appreciation: None Submitted 
 
O-4  Proposed Proclamations/Resolutions from Other Organizations: None Submitted 
 
O-5  Robert Davis v City of Troy et al 
 
O-6  Michigan Association of Home Builders et al v City of Troy 
 
O-7  Special Elections Lawsuits 
 

P. STUDY ITEMS: 

P-1  No Study Items 
 

Q. CLOSED SESSION:  

Q-1  No Closed Session Requested 
 

R. ADJOURNMENT: 

 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
 
 
Brian Kischnick, City Manager 
 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA December 17, 2012 

 

- 13 - 

 
FUTURE CITY COUNCIL PUBLIC HEARINGS: 

 
 

SCHEDULED REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETINGS: 
Monday, January 14, 2013............................................................................... Regular Meeting 
Monday, January 28, 2013............................................................................... Regular Meeting 
Monday, February 4, 2013 ............................................................................... Regular Meeting 
Monday, February 18, 2013 ............................................................................. Regular Meeting 
Monday, March 4, 2013 ................................................................................... Regular Meeting 
Monday, March 18, 2013 ................................................................................. Regular Meeting 
Monday, April 8, 2013 ...................................................................................... Regular Meeting 
Monday, April 15, 2013 .................................................................................... Regular Meeting 
Monday, May 13, 2013..................................................................................... Regular Meeting 
Monday, May 20, 2013..................................................................................... Regular Meeting 
Monday, June 3, 2013 ..................................................................................... Regular Meeting 
Monday, June 17, 2013 ................................................................................... Regular Meeting 
Monday, July 8, 2013 ....................................................................................... Regular Meeting 
Monday, July 22, 2013 ..................................................................................... Regular Meeting 
Monday, August 12, 2013 ................................................................................ Regular Meeting 
Monday, August 26, 2013 ................................................................................ Regular Meeting 
Monday, September 9, 2013 ............................................................................ Regular Meeting 
Monday, September 23, 2013 .......................................................................... Regular Meeting 
Monday, October 7, 2013 ................................................................................ Regular Meeting 
Monday, October 21, 2013 .............................................................................. Regular Meeting 
Monday, November 11, 2013 ........................................................................... Regular Meeting 
Monday, November 25, 2013 ........................................................................... Regular Meeting 
Monday, December 2, 2013 ............................................................................. Regular Meeting 
Monday, December 16, 2013 ........................................................................... Regular Meeting 

 

SCHEDULED SPECIAL CITY COUNCIL MEETINGS: 
Monday, April 22, 2013 .................................................................................... Regular Meeting 
Monday, April 29, 2013 .................................................................................... Regular Meeting 

 



Page 1 of 2 

 

 

 
December 13, 2012 
 
 
TO:   Brian Kischnick, City Manager 
 
FROM:  Mark F. Miller, Director of Economic & Community Development 
  Tom Darling, Director of Financial Services 
  Susan A. Leirstein, Purchasing Director 
  Carol Anderson, Recreation Director 
  
SUBJECT: Oakland County Bid—Installment Purchase of Golf Cars 
   
Background 

Club Car has long been the golf cart supplier meeting the needs of the City, at both Sylvan Glen Golf 
Course, and Sanctuary Lake Golf Course.  In addition, Club Car LLC is the global leader in golf carts and is 
recognized worldwide for its exceptional quality standards.  The Club Car vehicle has a lightweight 
aluminum frame which does not rust.  Other manufacturer golf carts such as EZGO and Yamaha utilize a 
heavier steel frame which is prone to rust and because of its greater weight can add to turf compaction.  
The Club Car vehicle also uses an independent front suspension which offers the most comfortable ride in 
the industry. 
 
The existing fleet of Club Car golf carts at Sylvan Glen GC was purchased in 2007, and Sanctuary Lake 
GC has been using the carts purchased when the course was opened in 2004.  Billy Casper Golf, the 
management firm for both golf courses and the City has determined all of the carts at both courses are past 
their useful life and in need of replacement. 
 
In February 2012, Oakland County issued a bid for Club Car Precedent 12 Electric IQ Golf Cars.  Pricing 
on the bid has been extended to the City of Troy. These vehicles included hinged windshields, heavy duty 
8 volt batteries, fully automatic power drive chargers, monsoon canopy top, power ribbed tires, Precedent 
wheel covers, sweater basket, number decals, and flexi drink cup holders. 
Billy Casper Golf, LLC staff has determined that logos, informational holders, and tow plates and bars (20) 
are necessary options. 
These options were not bid by Oakland County but were bid as part of a national cooperative purchasing 
agreement solicited by the City of Tucson. The cost for these items is identical to the cooperative 
purchasing agreement bid. The pricing for the carts is $4119.60 each. 
 
Sanctuary Lake has utilized a turf utility gas vehicle as a range picker. This vehicle was purchased in 2004 
and is past its useful life and needs replacement. To adequately serve golfers, Billy Casper Golf, LLC has 
determined that an additional gas vehicle is essential to be used as a concession/beverage cart. In the 
past, a golf cart has been used for this service. The pricing for two gas turf vehicles with a communication 
display module and filler kit is estimated at a cost of $6500 each. 
 
In 2009, Oakland County issued a bid for gasoline turf vehicles. The base cost of the vehicles was bid at 
$6380 each. If using the Oakland County bid price, and with the communication display module and filler 
kit, the cost would be $6637.75.  

CCIITTYY  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  AACCTTIIOONN  RREEPPOORRTT  
 

stewartc
Text Box
I-05



Page 2 of 2 

 

The trade-in of the existing fleet is included in the agreement. Seventy five (75) 2004 model cars will be 
traded at a value of $600/each and seventy four (74) 2008 models at $1200/each for a total trade-in value 
of $133,800. 
 
The purchase of the equipment is a lease-to-own agreement and proposes to lease the carts at 
$116.50/month/car. The lease-to-own payment for the turf vehicles is $233.33/month/cart.  Payments are 
to be made each month May through October, 2013—2017.  At lease end, the City is obligated to purchase 
the cars for $1/car. 
 

Similarity to National IPA/City of Tucson 
To ensure the city received excellent pricing on golf car accessories not included on the Oakland County 
bid, staff examined pricing of the National IPA cooperative contracting program. A bid by the City of Tucson 
for carts and accessories was extended nationwide. The cost of the accessories in the City’s agreement is 
the same as the National IPA bid. The cost of the base cart was higher than the Oakland County bid and 
therefore, the carts in this program were not considered. 
 

Recommendation 
City management recommends approval of a contract to purchase (150) Club Car Precedent 12 Electric IQ 
Golf Cars with accessories and two (2) gas Turf I vehicles less (149) trade-ins under a lease-to-own 
agreement from Midwest Golf & Turf third party lending source for an estimated cost of $538,260 under a 
55-month lease term payable May-October 2013-2017 at an estimated $17,942/month with a $1/car 
purchase price at lease end.   

 
Fund Availability 

Funds for this purchase are available in the Golf Course Capital Vehicle Funds. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
G:\Bid Award 12-13 New Format\Award Standard Purchasing Resolution 4 GolfCarts-Oakland12.12.doc 



                                                                                                                                       12/11/2012 

   
 

 
 

Precedent i2 Electric 
 

 48-volt power plant 

 Excel Drive System or the IQ System.  

 SportDrive™ - creates a sports-car-like driving experience 

 PowerShield™ - protective housing safeguards the electrical system 

 360° Bumper™ - a Club Car, Inc. exclusive 

 Club Car’s Ergo Seat - is larger, taller, and more erect for support  

 MonsoonTop™ - is the industry’s first canopy with built-in drain spouts 

 Body color is molded into the body panels  

 IQDM hand-held diagnostic tool is a fast hassle-free way to keep your entire fleet operating at peak 

 The industry’s tightest clearance circle means superior maneuverability 

 Spacious bagwell designed to keep bags from slipping 

 

 

 

 

 

   
  



Options and Accessories

Value Packages Heavy-Duty 
Bumper

Trailer 
Hitch

Hour 
Meter*

Differential 
Guard

Radio/
Beverage 
Holder

Cargo Box**
Extra- 

Traction 
Rear Tires

8.5-Inch 
Premium 

Tread Front 
Tires

Carryall 1 Electric 3 3 3 3 3 Standard 3 Standard

Carryall 1 Gasoline 3 3 Standard 3 3 Standard 3 Standard

*Fuel Gauge/Hour Meter is standard on all gas vehicles listed.
**Priced separately from base vehicle.

	 Turn	Signals	 Locking	Glove	Box	 Heavy-Duty	Bumper/	 Wheel	Covers	 Fold-Down	
	 	 	 West	Coast	Mirror	 	 Windshield	
	 	 	

	 Battery	Capacity	 Canopy	Top	 Fuel	Gauge	 Custom	Van	Box	 Stake-Side	Kit	
	 Indicator	 White	 and	Hour	Meter

	 Certified	ROPS		 Trailer	Hitch	 Pintle	Hitch	 Cab	Heater	 Safety	Strobe	Light	
	 Cab	Enclosure

UTILITY VEHICLE

	 Toolbox

CCN 18033019 Rev 08/06



9.1	ft3	(0.3	m3)		
cargo	box	carries	
300	lb	(136.1	kg)

Self-adjusting	rack	&	
pinion	steering

ArmorFlex®	front	
body	for	fade-
resistant	color

Club	Car’s	exclusive	
IQ	System	electric	

or	11.5	hp	gas	engine

Smooth,	independent	
front	and	semi-independent	

rear	suspension

4-ply,	premium		
tread	tires

Rugged,	rustproof		
aluminum	frame,		

chassis	and		
cargo	box

Standard Color:  Dark	Gray

Optional Colors:		Beige	Gray,	Green,	White,	
Classic	Blue,	Red,	Black	and	Burgundy

From airports to colleges to  

zoos, the Carryall 1 is the perfect 

utility vehicle for light-duty  

jobs.  The Carryall 1 is powered  

by your choice of a 351 cc,  

11.5 hp gas engine or Club Car’s  

IQ System™ electric motor.  

With the standard IQ System, the  

Carryall 1 electric model features  

programmable speed control,  

consistent hill climbing and the  

overall performance that makes it 

feel more like a gas model.  And  

Club Car’s exclusive aluminum 

frame is up to three times stronger 

than comparable steel frames. 

Carryall 1 Electric 
with exclusive IQ System

Carryall 1 Gasoline

P
O

W
ER

 S
U

P
P

LY

Engine N/A Kawasaki 4-cycle, OHV, 351 cc, single cylinder, 
air-cooled, pressure-lubricated, spin-on oil filter 

Drive Motor 48-volt Shunt/Sepex N/A

Horsepower 3.2 @ 2400 rpm (continuous)  
10.0 @1125 RPM (intermittent) 11.5** 

Governor N/A Automatic ground speed sensing, internally 
geared-in unitized transaxle 

Governed RPM N/A 3050±30 

Ignition N/A Electronic w/electronic RPM limiter

Drive Unit 12.3:1 direct-drive axle, double-reduction 
helical gear 

Unitized transaxle, helical gears: 
11.8:1 forward, 17.1:1 reverse 

Electrical System 48-volt 12-volt, 500 cca 105 min. reserve 

Batteries Six 8-volt 117 min. @ 56 amp N/A

Charger Automatic 48-volt DC, 17 amp, UL and CUL listed N/A

Controller 300 amp Solid State N/A

ST
EE

R
IN

G
/ 

SU
SP

EN
SI

O
N

Steering Self-adjusting rack & pinion Self-adjusting rack & pinion

Front Suspension Independent leaf spring w/dual hydraulic shocks Independent leaf spring w/dual hydraulic shocks 

Rear Suspension Leaf springs w/dual hydraulic shocks Leaf springs w/dual hydraulic shocks 

Brakes Self-adjusting rear-wheel mechanical drum Self-adjusting rear-wheel mechanical drum 

Park Brake Foot-operated, multi-lock Foot-operated, multi-lock

Stabilizer Bar No Yes

FR
A

M
E/

C
H

A
SS

IS

Frame/Chassis Aluminum I-Beam Aluminum I-Beam

Front Body ArmorFlex® ArmorFlex® 

Rear Body All aluminum All aluminum

Body Finish Matching paint over molded-in color Matching paint over molded-in color

Light Package Optional Optional 

Trailer Hitch Optional Optional

Front Tires 18 x 8.50-8, 4-ply rated, Premium tread 18 x 8.50-8, 4-ply rated, Premium tread 

Rear Tires 18 x 8.50-8, 4-ply rated, Premium tread 18 x 8.50-8, 4-ply rated, Premium tread 

Instrumentation Battery warning light Electronic fuel gauge/hour meter, 
low-oil warning light 

D
IM

EN
SI

O
N

S

Cargo Box Size 37.6" x 45.1" x 9.3" (9.1 ft3)  
95.6 cm x 114.6 cm x 23.5 cm 

37.6" x 45.1" x 9.3" (9.1 ft3)  
95.6 cm x 114.6 cm x 23.5 cm 

Flat Bed Size 35.8" x 44.3" (90.8 cm x 112.4 cm) 35.8" x 44.3" (90.8 cm x 112.4 cm)

Bed Height 27.5" (69.9 cm) 27.5" (69.9 cm) 

Bed Capacity 300 lb. (136.1 kg) 300 lb. (136.1 kg) 

Total Vehicle Capacity 800 lb. (363.2 kg) 800 lb. (363.2 kg) 

Overall Length 103.5" (262.9 cm) 103.5" (262.9 cm) 

Overall Width 48.0" (121.9 cm) 48.0" (121.9 cm)

Overall Height 48.0" (121.9 cm) 48.0" (121.9 cm)

Wheelbase 65.5" (166.4 cm) 65.5" (166.4 cm) 

Ground Clearance 
Under Differential 4.5" (11.4 cm) 4.5" (11.4 cm) 

Fuel Tank Capacity N/A 7.0 gallons (26.5 Liters) 

Tread 34.5"/38.5" (87.6 cm/97.8 cm) 34.5"/38.5" (87.6 cm/97.8 cm) 

Dry Weight Less Batteries 530 lb. (240.6 kg) 658 lb. (298.7 kg) 

Speed Range 8-19 mph (12.8-30.6 kph) 12-15 mph (19.3-24.1 kph) 

Outside Clearance Circle 17.5 ft. (5.3 m) dia. 17.5 ft. (5.3 m) dia. 

Turning Radius 8.4 ft. (2.6 m) 8.4 ft. (2.6 m)

Intersecting Aisle Radius 72.0” (182.9 cm) 72.0” (182.9 cm) 

Vehicle Warranty 2-year limited* 2-year limited 

**4-year, limited battery warranty for electric vehicles 
**Exceeds SAE J1940 Performance Standards 

•  Maximum speed of 
19 mph (30.6 kph) 
(Electric vehicles only)

•  Side fuel fill

•  800 lb (363.2 kg) total 
vehicle capacity

•  48-volt IQ System electric 
motor or 351 cc, 11.5 hp 
gas, pedal-start engine

•  Maximum hp @ 3,600 
rpm exceeds SAE J1940 
Performance Standards

•  Reconfigured dash

•  Redesigned hip restraint 
for maximum styling  
and comfort

Additional Features

Specifications
Features



                                                                                                                                       12/11/2012 

 

Skip Payment Lease / Purchase 
 

To: City of Troy      Date: 12/11/2012 

   

Midwest Golf & Turf’s third party lending source proposes to lease to City of Troy 150 new 2013 

Precedent Electric powered golf cars equipped as stated on the quotation page.  The lease rates are 

quoted herein and are subject to our third party lending source’s normal credit approval.  

 

Skip Payments 
(May – October 2013 - 2017) 

 

Vehicles Quantity Term Per Car Payment Per Month 

2013 Precedent Electric 150 55 $116.50* 

    

2013 Turf I Gasoline 2 55 $233.33 

 

*The rates quoted include the trade-in of the City of Troy’s present fleet of golf cars and the trade-in 

values have been applied to lower the monthly payments.  All trade-ins must be free of all liens and 

encumbrances, and in fleet running condition.  Cars used for purposes other than golf car rental, 

damaged due to misuse, abuse or vandalism, and cars with missing equipment (electric cars must have a 

working charger) will be adjusted in value accordingly. 

 

This is a conditional sales contract. You will be obligated to purchase the equipment described in the 

lease at the end of the lease term, for $1 per car.  

 

 

Accepted By:  

 

City of Troy      Midwest Golf & Turf 

 

By:       By:       

 

Title:       Title:       

 

Date:        Date:         
  



                                                                                                                                       12/11/2012 

 

 
 

                                                                                                                          Replacement Parts and Service 
 

Factory authorized replacement parts, service and warranty work is handled through Club Car's factory authorized 

Dealer, .  It is Club Car’s objective that City of Troy's fleet will receive professional, timely and systematic service. 

              

Club Car offers technical training seminars for City of Troy's employees involved with golf car operations.   These 

seminars are held at Club Car's manufacturing facility in Augusta, Georgia, and are conducted by professional 

educators. City of Troy's employees will learn preventive maintenance and repair procedures to enhance City of 

Troy's fleet operations.  They will also enjoy sharing ideas and experiences with golf club and resort personnel 

from all over the world.  

 

 

Factory Authorized Dealer 

Michigan Tournament Fleet 

Steve Schickel 

248-624-5155 

2111 Haggerty Rd 

Commerce Twp. 48390 

 
 

Factory Authorized Distributor 

Midwest Golf and Turf 

Kent Heiden - President 

800-555-8189 

25125 Trans-X 

Novi, MI 48376 

 
 
 



                                                                                                                                       12/11/2012 

 
EXCLUSIONS: 
Excluded from any CLUB CAR warranty is damage to a golf car or component resulting from a cause other than a defect including poor maintenance, neglect, 
abuse, accident & collision, maintenance adjustments, unreasonable or unintended strain or use, improper installation of accessories, installation of parts or 
accessories that are not original equipment, nonapproved alteration, and acts of god. Also excluded from any CLUB CAR warranty are all fuses, filters, decals 
(except safety decals), lubricants, routine wear items such as the charger plug and receptacle, brake shoes, belts, brushes, bushings, drive buttons, cosmetic 
deterioration, and items which deteriorate, fade or fail due to exposure or ordinary wear and tear. 
Specific to the deep cycle battery, the provisions of this limited warranty shall not apply to failure due to: 
1)      Abuse such as overcharging, undercharging, improper fluid levels, loose wiring, or rusted or corroded hardware; 
2)      Lack of proper maintenance as outlined in the vehicle owner’s manual; 
3)      Damages caused by improper installation of the battery; 
4)      Neglect, breakage, freezing, fire, explosion, wreckage, the addition of any chemical, or the operation of the battery in an uncharged condition (below half 
 charge 1.200 specific gravity); the installation of the batteries in reverse or recharging in reverse, breakage of containers, covers, or terminal post, or 
 batteries used in applications for which they were not designed. 
5)      A battery damaged by a defective charger. 
Transportation expenses for warranty services are also excluded from this warranty. 
VOIDING OF WARRANTY: 
THIS AND ANY OTHER WARRANTY SHALL BE VOID IF THE GOLF CAR IS ABUSED OR USED IN AN UNINTENDED MANNER OR SHOWS INDICATIONS 
THAT IT HAS BEEN ALTERED IN ANY WAY, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, MODIFICATION OF THE SPEED GOVERNOR, BRAKING SYSTEM, 
STEERING, TRANSAXLE, OR OTHER OPERATING SYSTEMS OF THE CAR TO CAUSE IT TO PERFORM OUTSIDE CLUB CAR SPECIFICATIONS. THE 
WARRANTY IS LIKEWISE VOID IF THE CAR INVOLVED SHOWS INDICATIONS THAT REASONABLE OR NECESSARY MAINTENANCE AS OUTLINED IN 
THE OWNER’S MANUAL AND MAINTENANCE AND SERVICE MANUAL WAS NOT PERFORMED AT THE TIME AND IN THE MANNER SPECIFIED IN 
SUCH MANUALS. 
SOLE REMEDY: 
CLUB CAR’s liability under this limited warranty, or in any action whether based upon warranty, contract, negligence, strict product liability or otherwise, shall be 
the repair or replacement, at CLUB CAR’s option, of the golf car or component thereof that CLUB CAR deems to be defective. Replacement shall mean 
furnishing, during the applicable limited warranty period, a new golf car or factory-reconditioned vehicle or component thereof that is identical or reasonably 
equivalent to the warranted product or component at no cost to the purchaser. Repair shall mean remedying a defect in the golf car or component thereof at no 
cost to the purchaser during the applicable limited warranty period. If CLUB CAR elects to repair the golf car, it may provide factory-reconditioned parts or 
components. All parts and components replaced under warranty shall become the property of CLUB CAR. 
DISCLAIMER: 
THIS LIMITED WARRANTY IS EXCLUSIVE. CLUB CAR MAKES NO OTHER WARRANTY OF ANY KIND, EXPRESSED OR IMPLIED. ANY IMPLIED 
WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE WHICH EXCEED THE OBLIGATIONS OR TIME LIMITS STATED IN 
THIS WARRANTY ARE HEREBY DISCLAIMED BY CLUB CAR AND EXCLUDED FROM THIS WARRANTY. THE PURCHASER AND CLUB CAR 
EXPRESSLY AGREE THAT THE SOLE REMEDY OF THE REPLACEMENT OR REPAIR OF THE DEFECTIVE GOLF CAR OR COMPONENT THEREOF IS 
THE SOLE REMEDY OF THE PURCHASER. CLUB CAR MAKES NO OTHER REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY OF ANY KIND, AND NO 
REPRESENTATIVE, EMPLOYEE, DISTRIBUTOR OR DEALER OF CLUB CAR HAS THE AUTHORITY TO MAKE OR IMPLY ANY REPRESENTATION, 
PROMISE OR AGREEMENT, WHICH IN ANY WAY VARIES THE TERMS OF THIS WARRANTY. 
NO CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES: 
IN NO EVENT SHALL CLUB CAR BE LIABLE FOR ANY INCIDENTAL OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, LOSS 
RELATED TO PROPERTY OTHER THAN THE GOLF CAR, LOSS OF USE, LOSS OF TIME, INCONVENIENCE, OR ANY OTHER ECONOMIC LOSS. 
Some states allow neither limitation on the duration of an implied warranty nor exclusions or limitation of incidental or consequential damages. Therefore, the 
above limitations or exclusions may not apply to you. 
This warranty gives you specific legal rights, and you may also have other rights, which vary from state to state. 
In the event that another pre-printed warranty document and/or certificate offered by or through Club Car at the time of sale of this vehicle (each an “Additional 
Warranty Document”) is deemed to conflict with the limitations or exclusions contained herein, the limitations and exclusions contained herein shall continue to 
apply with respect to both this limited warranty statement and, to the maximum extent permitted by law, to each Additional Warranty Document. 
INFORMATION: 
For further information contact WARRANTY SERVICES, CLUB CAR, INC., P.O. Box 204658, Augusta, Georgia 30917-4658, U.S.A., 706-863-3000. 
WARRANTY TRANSFER: 
The original owner shall have the right to transfer any remaining warranty coverage to one subsequent purchaser only. In order for the original owner to 
transfer any remaining warranty coverage to a subsequent purchaser, the vehicle must be re-registered by an Authorized Club Car Distributor or Dealer with the 
Warranty Department at Club Car, Inc.. Such transfer must take place within the first three years of the original in service date of the vehicle. *The Limited 
Lifetime section of the warranty coverage applies to the original purchaser or lessee only, and the subsequent purchaser will only have a four-year coverage 
period based on the original in service date. No transfers of any remaining warranty coverage shall be permitted by any subsequent purchasers. 
WARNING: 
Any modification or alteration of any golf car beyond factory specifications, including those that affect the weight distribution, stability, or speed of the golf car, can cause 
serious personal injury or death. 
The only warranty is as provided by the manufacturer. Midwest Golf & Turf disclaims all warranties, specifically including any implied warranties such as 
warranties of fitness for intended use or merchantability.
 



CITY COUNCIL MINUTES-Draft December 3, 2012 

 

- 1 - 

Pastor Fred Betcher from Troy Assembly of God performed the Invocation.  The Pledge of 
Allegiance to the Flag was given. 

A. CALL TO ORDER: 

A Regular Meeting of the Troy City Council was held on Monday, December 3, 2012, at City 
Hall, 500 W. Big Beaver Rd.  Mayor Slater called the meeting to order at 7:32 PM. 

B. ROLL CALL: 

Mayor Dane Slater 
Jim Campbell 
Wade Fleming 
Dave Henderson 
Maureen McGinnis 
Doug Tietz 

C. CERTIFICATES OF RECOGNITION AND SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS:  

C-1 Proclamation for Arbor Day Celebration Presented to Kurt Bovensiep, 

Superintendent of Parks, Streets & Drains 
 
C-2 City of Troy Fleet Recognized as 2012 Elite Fleet 
 
C-3 City of Troy Fleet Recognized for Meeting Blue Seal of Excellence Recognition 

Program 
 
C-4 June 30, 2012 Audit Presentation 

D. CARRYOVER ITEMS: 

D-1 No Carryover Items  

E. PUBLIC HEARINGS: 

E-1 No Public Hearings 

F. PUBLIC COMMENT FOR ITEMS ON THE AGENDA: 

Brake, Dan N-01 Spoke about the process of filling the position of Mayor. 
Wengrow, Irv P-01 Spoke regarding submitting an application for the City Council 

appointment. 

G. CITY COUNCIL/CITY ADMINISTRATION RESPONSE/REPLY TO PUBLIC 

COMMENT: 

 

stewartc
Text Box
J-02a



CITY COUNCIL MINUTES-Draft December 3, 2012 

 

- 2 - 

H. POSTPONED ITEMS: 

H-1  No Postponed Items  

I. REGULAR BUSINESS: 

I-1 Board and Committee Appointments: a) Mayoral Appointments – Downtown 

Development Authority; b) City Council Appointments – None 
 
a) Mayoral Appointments – Downtown Development Authority 
 
City Council took NO ACTION on this Item. 
 
b) City Council Appointments - None 
 
I-2 Board and Committee Nominations: a) Mayoral Nominations – None; b) City 

Council Nominations – None 
 
a) Mayoral Nominations – None 

 

b) City Council Nominations - None 
 
I-3 No Closed Session Requested 

J. CONSENT AGENDA: 

J-1a Approval of “J” Items NOT Removed for Discussion 
 
Resolution #2012-12-214 
Moved by Campbell  
Seconded by McGinnis  
 
RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby APPROVES all items on the Consent Agenda as 
presented. 
 
Yes: All-6 
No: None 
 
MOTION CARRIED 
 
J-1b  Address of “J” Items Removed for Discussion by City Council  
 
J-2  Approval of City Council Minutes 
 
Resolution #2012-12-214-J-2 
 

RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby APPROVES the following Minutes as submitted:  



CITY COUNCIL MINUTES-Draft December 3, 2012 

 

- 3 - 

a) Special City Council Meeting – November 21, 2012 
b) Regular City Council Meeting – November 26, 2012 
 
J-3 No Proposed City of Troy Proclamations:  
 
J-4 Standard Purchasing Resolutions:  
 
a) Standard Purchasing Resolution 2: Award to Low Bidder Meeting Specifications – 

Liquid Calcium Chloride 
 
Resolution #2012-12-214-J-4a 
 
RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby AWARDS a contract to provide one (1) year 
requirements of liquid calcium chloride with an option to renew for one (1) additional year to the 
lowest bidder meeting specifications, Great Lakes Chloride Inc, of Shelbyville, MI, for both 
proposals A) and B) – at unit prices contained in the bid tabulation opened November 21, 2012 
a copy of which shall be ATTACHED to the original Minutes of this meeting expiring November 
30, 2013. 

K. MEMORANDUMS AND FUTURE COUNCIL AGENDA ITEMS: 

K-1 Announcement of Public Hearings: None Submitted 
 
K-2 Memorandums (Items submitted to City Council that may require consideration at 

 some future point in time): None Submitted 
 
The Meeting RECESSED at 8:37 PM. 
 
The Meeting RECONVENED at 8:43 PM. 

L. PUBLIC COMMENT FOR ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA: 

Walters, Allen Spoke regarding traffic issues on Boyd Street. 
Brake, Dan Spoke about a Freedom of Information Act Request and about the 

process of filling the position of Mayor. 
Wengrow, Irv Spoke in support of City Administration’s due diligence. 
Dabish, Andrew Spoke about the process of filling the position of Mayor. 
Yagley, Barbara Spoke about the process of filling the position of Mayor. 
Clark, Glenn Spoke about the process of filling the position of Mayor. 
Savage, James Spoke about the political climate and about the process of filling the 

position of Mayor. 
Cherasaro, Nicholas Spoke about the process of filling the position of Mayor. 
Schepke, Gordon Spoke about the political climate and about the process of filling the 

position of Mayor. 
Kajma, Linda Spoke in support of and to thank Administration for Item C-4 June 

30, 2012 Audit Presentation. 
Werpetinski, James Spoke in support of City Administration and about the process of 

filling the position of Mayor. 



CITY COUNCIL MINUTES-Draft December 3, 2012 

 

- 4 - 

M. COUNCIL REFERRALS:  

Items Advanced to the City Manager by Individual City Council Members for 

Placement on the Agenda 

M-1  Council Member Fleming Referral to Request Closed Session 
 
Vote on Resolution to Suspend Rules of Procedure for the City Council, Rule #6A - 

Agenda 
 
Resolution #2012-12-215 
Moved by Fleming 
Seconded by Henderson  
 
RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby SUSPENDS Rules of procedure for the City 
Council, Rule #6A Agenda to take action on an item that does not appear on the Agenda. 
 
Yes: Fleming, Henderson, McGinnis, Tietz, Slater, 
No: Campbell  
 
MOTION CARRIED 

I-3 Closed Session to Discuss Robert Davis and Citizens United Against Corrupt 

Government v Michigan Secretary of State, et al and Secretary of State Ruth 

Johnson v Aileen Bittner, Clerk, City of Troy 

 
Resolution#2012-12-216 
Moved by Fleming  
Seconded by Henderson  
 
BE IT RESOLVED, That Troy City Council SHALL MEET in Closed Session, as permitted by 
MCL 15.268 (e) Pending Litigation – Robert Davis and Citizens United Against Corrupt 
Government v Michigan Secretary of State, et al and Secretary of State Ruth Johnson v Aileen 
Bittner, Clerk, City of Troy. 
 
Yes: Fleming, Henderson, McGinnis, Tietz, Slater 
No: Campbell  
 
MOTION CARRIED 

N. COUNCIL COMMENTS: 

N-1   No Council Comments Advanced 
 
Council Member Tietz commented on communication between City Council and City 
Administration. 
 



CITY COUNCIL MINUTES-Draft December 3, 2012 

 

- 5 - 

Mayor Slater announced that the Christmas Tree Lighting Ceremony will be held on 
Wednesday, December 5, 2012 from 7:00 PM – 8:30 PM at Troy City Hall, 500 W. Big Beaver 
Rd., which is a free event sponsored by Genisys Credit Union.   

O. REPORTS: 

O-1 Minutes – Boards and Committees:  

a) Zoning Board of Appeals-Final-October 16, 2012 
b) Planning Commission-Draft-November 13, 2012 
c) Planning Commission-Final-November 13, 2012 

Noted and Filed 
 

O-2 Department Reports:  

a) DuPont’s Imprelis Damage to ROW Trees 
b) Michigan Commission on Law Enforcement Standards – Subject Matter Expert 

Committee 
c) 2012 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) 

Noted and Filed 
 

O-3  Letters of Appreciation: None Submitted 
Noted and Filed 

 
O-4  Proposed Proclamations/Resolutions from Other Organizations: None Submitted 

Noted and Filed 
 

O-5  Citizens United Against Corrupt Government v. Troy City Council 
Noted and Filed 

 
O-6  Notice of Hearing for the Customers of Consumers Energy Company Case No.    

U-17082 
Noted and Filed 

 
The Meeting RECESSED at 9:37 PM. 
 
The Meeting RECONVENED at 9:47 PM. 

P. STUDY ITEMS: 

P-1  City Council Appointment 
 
The Meeting RECESSED at 10:11 PM. 
 
The Meeting RECONVENED at 10:14 PM. 
 



CITY COUNCIL MINUTES-Draft December 3, 2012 

 

- 6 - 

Q. CLOSED SESSION:  

Q-1  No Closed Session Requested 

R. ADJOURNMENT: 

 
The Meeting ADJOURNED at 11:30 PM. 
 
 
 

Mayor Dane Slater 
 
 
 
M. Aileen Bittner, CMC 
City Clerk 

 



 
December 10, 2012 
 
To:   Brian M. Kischnick, City Manager     
  
From:  Mark F. Miller, Director of Economic & Community Development 
  Susan A. Leirstein, Purchasing Director 

Carol K. Anderson, Acting Recreation Director 
 
Subject: Standard Purchasing Resolution 1: Award To Low Bidder– Bus Transportation Services 
 
Background 

On November 28, 2012, bids were opened to provide three (3) year requirements of complete bus 
transportation services for the City of Troy Recreation Department Summer and Winter Programs 
with an option to renew for two (2) additional years.  Thirty-eight (38) vendors were notified via the 
MITN website – www.mitn.info – with three (3) bidders responding. First Student, of Naperville, IL 
was the low total bidder. 
 
For years, the City has utilized the services of the Troy School District for buses for the five-week 
downhill ski/snowboarding program. Last year the school district privatized those services and 
secured a contract with First Student.  The bus depot is located within the City of Troy on Hart 
Drive. The same facility would be used by both the City and the school district.   
 
The formal bid identified as ITB-COT12-23, for complete bus transportation services for the 
downhill ski program, safety town and day camps, senior and adaptive trips was competitively 
solicited as required by City Charter and Code. The award is contingent upon the recommended 
bidder’s submission of proper contracts and bid documents, including insurance certificates and 
all other specified requirements.  

 
Recommendation 

City management recommends awarding a contract to provide three (3) year requirements of 
complete bus transportation services for the City of Troy Recreation Department Summer and 
Winter Programs with an option to renew for two (2) additional years to the low total bidder, First 
Student of Naperville, IL, for an estimated annual cost of $21,800.00, at unit prices contained in the 
bid tabulation with a contract expiration of December 31, 2015.  

 
Fund Availability 

Funds are available in the various Recreation operating accounts and paid entirely through user 
fees.  A 2% annual rate increase is requested to cover ongoing expenses. 
 
 
G:\Bid Award 12/13 New Format\ Award Standard Purchasing Resolution 1 BusTransportationITB-COT12.23.doc  

 
 

CCIITTYY  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  AACCTTIIOONN  RREEPPOORRTT  
 

stewartc
Text Box
J-04a



CITY OF TROY ITB-COT 12-23
Opening Date -- 11/28/12 BID TABULATION Page 1 of 2
Date Reviewed - 12/10/12 BUS TRANSPORTATION SERVICES

VENDOR NAME: * First Group America Trinity
First Student Transportation Group

 
Ck Number 9299203489 000526290
Ck Amount 1,500.00$                   1,500.00$                      

PROPOSAL A:  Downhill Ski Program

Item Description # of Buses
Pick up and 
Return time

Cost (Hourly rates all 
inclusive           

Cost (Hourly rates all 
inclusive           

1 Friday pick up at Troy High
2 4:15 pm - 

10:45 pm 50.00$                         84.00$                            

2 Friday pick up at Athens High
2 4:15 pm - 

10:45 pm 50.00$                         84.00$                            

3
Saturday pick up at Community 
Center

2
7:45 am - 
4:30 pm 50.00$                         84.00$                            

4
Saturday pick up at Community 
Center

3
8:30 am - 
4:00 pm  $                        50.00  $                            84.00 

Estimated Grand Total - Proposal A  $                 16,500.00  $                     27,720.00 

PROPOSAL B:  Senior Trips, Safety Town, Day Camps and Adaptive Trips

Item Description

Estimated # 
of trips (per 

year)

Average 
Duration 
Each Trip

Cost (Hourly rates all 
inclusive           

Cost (FLAT rates all 
inclusive           

1
Senior Trips with average of 25 
participants per trip

6
6 hours/trip

 $                        50.00  $                          353.00 

2
Safety Town with average of 46 
participants per trip

8
1 hour/trip

 $                        50.00  $                          488.00 

3
Day Camps with average of 42 
participants per trip

10
3 hours/trip

 $                        50.00  $                          552.00 

4
Adaptive Trips with average of 30 
participants per trip

8
4 hours/trip

 $                        50.00  $                          476.00 

Estimated Grand Total - Proposal B  $                   5,300.00  $                     15,350.00 

Estimated Grand Total -All Proposals  $                 21,800.00  $                     43,070.00 

Forms Attached (Y or N)  Yes  Yes 
 Yes  Yes 
 Yes  Yes 
 Yes  Yes 
 Yes  Yes 

INSURANCE:                    Can Meet X X
Cannot Meet

PAYMENT TERMS: Net 30 Net 30

DELIVERY
EXCEPTIONS: Listed in bid - 2% Blank

annual rate increase

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT:                    Signed Y or N Yes Yes

CANCELLATION POLICY: 24 hrs prior - no cost 48 hour cancellation
Within 24 hrs - $50.00 policy. Inside of 48 hrs,
On site cancel-$100.00 fee of $100.00

ATTESTED: *Denotes Low Total Bidder
Barb Rupas
Susan K. Riesterer Susan Leirstein CPPO, CPPB
Susan Leirstein Purchasing Director
G:ITB-COT 12-23 Bus Transportation Service.XLS

As Specified

Bus Transportation Services for the City of Troy Recreation Dept Summer and Winter Programs

Legal Status of Bidder
Non-Collusion Affidavit
Indemnification Clause
Certification Form
Vendor Questionnaire



CITY OF TROY ITB-COT 12-23
Opening Date -- 11/28/12 BID TABULATION Page 2 of 2
Date Reviewed - 12/10/12 BUS TRANSPORTATION SERVICES

VENDOR NAME: Great Lakes 
Transportation Holding LLC

 dba Metro Cars
Ck Number 9165806313
Ck Amount 1,500.00$                  

PROPOSAL A:  Downhill Ski Program

Item Description # of Buses
Pick up and 
Return time

Cost (Hourly rates all 
inclusive           

1 Friday pick up at Troy High
2 4:15 pm - 

10:45 pm 95.00$                        

2 Friday pick up at Athens High
2 4:15 pm - 

10:45 pm 95.00$                        

3
Saturday pick up at Community 
Center

2
7:45 am - 
4:30 pm 95.00$                        

4
Saturday pick up at Community 
Center

3
8:30 am - 
4:00 pm  $                        95.00 

Estimated Grand Total - Proposal A  $                 31,350.00 

PROPOSAL B:  Senior Trips, Safety Town, Day Camps and Adaptive Trips

Item Description

Estimated # 
of trips (per 

year)

Average 
Duration 
Each Trip

Cost (Hourly rates all 
inclusive           

1
Senior Trips with average of 25 
participants per trip

6
6 hours/trip  $                        50.00  (3 hour minimum) 

2
Safety Town with average of 46 
participants per trip

8
1 hour/trip  $                        95.00  (5 hour minimum) 

3
Day Camps with average of 42 
participants per trip

10
3 hours/trip  $                        95.00  (5 hour minimum) 

4
Adaptive Trips with average of 30 
participants per trip

8
4 hours/trip  $                        50.00  (3 hour minimum) 

Estimated Grand Total - Proposal B  $                 11,950.00 

Estimated Grand Total -All Proposals  $                 43,300.00 

Forms Attached (Y or N)  Yes 
 Yes 
 Yes 
 Yes 
 Yes 

INSURANCE:                    Can Meet X
Cannot Meet

PAYMENT TERMS: Net 30

DELIVERY
EXCEPTIONS: Listed in bid

(minimum charges)

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT:                    Signed Y or N Yes

CANCELLATION POLICY: 24 hours notice is
required.

G:ITB-COT 12-23 Bus Transportation Service.XLS

As Specified

Bus Transportation Services for the City of Troy Recreation Dept Summer and Winter Programs

Legal Status of Bidder
Non-Collusion Affidavit
Indemnification Clause
Certification Form
Vendor Questionnaire



 

 

1 
 

CCIITTYY  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  AAGGEENNDDAA  IITTEEMM  
 

 
Date:             December 5, 2012              
 
To:   Brian Kischnik, City Manager     
  
From:  Mark F. Miller, Director of Economic and Community Development 
  Steven J. Vandette, City Engineer 
  Larysa Figol, Sr. Right-of-Way Representative 
 
Subject: Request for Acceptance of a Warranty Deed, Quit Claim Deed and Permanent 

Easements for Tuscany Estates Site Condominium – Sidwell #88-20-24-226-109 & 111 
 
 
Background 
 
The Engineering Department has received several conveyances of real estate interest for the 
proposed Tuscany Estates Site Condominium project located in Section 24 on the west side of 
Dequindre, north of Winter. 
 
The first set of conveyances is from Heatherwood Homes, Inc., the fee simple owner of the properties 
having Sidwell #88-20-24-226-109 and 111. Included in the documents is a warranty deed for the 
proposed right-of-way, Cabernet Drive and Sienna Drive. Additionally there are seven permanent 
easements for rear yard drainage, public utilities, clear vision and non-access landscape, non-access 
greenbelt and landscape, sanitary sewer, storm sewer and surface drainage, and grading. 
 
The second set of conveyances is from Mondrian Properties Tuscany Estates, LLC, the property 
developer who entered into a land contract with the fee simple owner. The quit claim deed and seven 
easements convey the Land Contract Vendee’s equity interest in the property. 
 
The consideration amount on each document is $1.00. The format and content of the warranty deed, 
quit claim deed, and permanent easements is consistent with documents previously accepted by City 
Council. 
 
 
Recommendation 
 
City Management recommends that City Council accept the attached warranty deed, quit claim deed 
and permanent easements consistent with our policy of accepting deeds and easements for 
development and improvement purposes. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
G:\MEMOS TO MAYOR AND CC\Tuscany Estates 12-5-12.doc 

stewartc
Text Box
J-05



M
A

R
YW

O
O

D

CHANTERELL

H
E

R
IT

A
G

E

AVALON

NIAGARA

D
O

V
E

R

EU
C

L
ID

FAIRFIELD

CECIL PA
S

A
D

E
N

A

THAMES

COLUMBIA

ARROWHEAD

FORGE

GENICK

W
O

L V
E

R
IN

E
TRAVERSE

WINTER

C
L

E
V

E
L

A
N

D

GATESFO
RD

C
IR

CRIMSON

RAINBOW

ASHBURY

BELLOWS

KETTLE

R
O

W
L

A
N

D

C
A

C
T

U
S

H
IS

T
O

R
IC

M
O

R
N

IN
G

D
A

L
E

A
U

B
U

R
N

SENORA

SPRINGTIME

D
O

M
IN

I Q
U

E
DELOY

HINGE

C
E

D
A

R
 C

R
E

S
T

S
P

A
R

TA

C
O

LW
E

L
L

B
R

IG
H

T
W

O
O

D

PARASOL

PORTOBELLO

JA
C

K
S

O
N

MAJESTIC

BORDEN

ALB
A

N
Y

BIRCHDALE

NORTH LAKE

LAK

E
W

O
O

D

M
O

R
E

H

EAD

TRAILWOOD

ACADEMY

A
LL

EGHENY

ORPINGTON

C
O

NTINE N

TA
L

F
O

R
S

Y
T

H

A
N

V
IL

VA
S

S
A

R
D

O
W

N
E

Y

EAG
LE

C
O

L
O

N
IA

L

G
R

E
E

N
S

B
O

R
O

C
L

A
Y

T
O

N

T
R

U
F

FL
E

ACORN

GATE

O
T

T
E

R

T
IM

B
E

R
C

R
E

S
T

W
A

Y
FA

R
E

R

RAM
BLE

W
O

O
D

CEDAR KNOLL

FA
IR

FA
X

F
E

R
N

L
E

I G
H

LOCKSLEY

ROUNDTREE

WATTLES

BIG BEAVER

JO
H

N
 R

D
E

Q
U

IN
D

R
E

LOCATION MAP L

Tuscany Estates

Section 24, T2N, 
R11E, City of Troy, 
Oakland County, MI



































































































 

 

1 
 

CCIITTYY  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  AAGGEENNDDAA  IITTEEMM  
 

 
Date:             December 4, 2012              
 
To:   Brian Kischnik, City Manager     
  
From:  Mark F. Miller, Director of Economic and Community Development 
  Steven J. Vandette, City Engineer 
  Larysa Figol, Sr. Right-of-Way Representative 
 
Subject: Request to Abandon an Existing Detention Basin and Accept a Warranty Deed and Quit Claim 

Deed for Tuscany Estates Site Condominiums – Sidwell #88-20-24-226-110 
 
 
Background 
 
In 2005 the Troy City Council accepted a Warranty Deed for a detention basin from Heatherwood Homes, Inc, 
as part of the Beaver Creek Subdivision development located in Section 24. The warranty deed was recorded 
with Oakland County Register of Deeds in Liber 35251 Page 679. The detention basin is identified with the 
Sidwell # 88-20-24-226-010. 
 
The City of Troy recently approved plans for a proposed site Condominiums to be developed adjacent to the 
Beaver Creek Subdivision. The plans reconfigure the current detention pond area necessitating a new legal 
description.  
 
To ensure that the correct legal description for detention purposes is recorded and vested with the City of Troy, 
city staff recommends that the current detention basin property identified with the Sidwell #88-20-24-226-110 
be abandoned and the real estate interest be conveyed back to Heatherwood Homes, Inc., the fee simple 
owner of the property on which the new Tuscany Estates Site Condominiums will be developed. In turn, 
Heatherwood Homes, Inc. has provided the City of Troy with a warranty deed for the new and redesigned 
detention basin that will serve both the Beaver Creek Subdivision and the new Tuscany Estates Site 
Condominiums. 
 
Additionally, Mondrian Properties Tuscany Estates, LLC, the site Condominiums developer, entered into a land 
contract with Heatherwood Homes, Inc. to purchase the 2 parcels identified with Sidwell #88-20-24-226-109 & 
111. As the land contract vendee, Mondrian Properties Tuscany Estates, LLC has provided the City of Troy 
with a quit claim deed conveying any equity interest in the proposed detention area site that it may hold.  
 
Recommendation 
 
City Management recommends that City Council convey its fee interest ownership in the current parcel 
identified with Sidwell #88-20-24-226-110 by means of a quit claim deed and in its place accept a new 
warranty deed for the redesigned detention basin from Heatherwood Homes, Inc., and a quit claim deed from 
Mondrian Properties Tuscany Estates, LLC, the land contract holder and developer of the site Condominiums. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
G:\MEMOS TO MAYOR AND CC\Tuscany Estates Detention 12-4-12.doc 

stewartc
Text Box
J-06



M
A

R
YW

O
O

D

CHANTERELL

H
E

R
IT

A
G

E

AVALON

NIAGARA

D
O

V
E

R

EU
C

L
ID

FAIRFIELD

CECIL PA
S

A
D

E
N

A

THAMES

COLUMBIA

ARROWHEAD

FORGE

GENICK

W
O

L V
E

R
IN

E
TRAVERSE

WINTER

C
L

E
V

E
L

A
N

D

GATESFO
RD

C
IR

CRIMSON

RAINBOW

ASHBURY

BELLOWS

KETTLE

R
O

W
L

A
N

D

C
A

C
T

U
S

H
IS

T
O

R
IC

M
O

R
N

IN
G

D
A

L
E

A
U

B
U

R
N

SENORA

SPRINGTIME

D
O

M
IN

I Q
U

E
DELOY

HINGE

C
E

D
A

R
 C

R
E

S
T

S
P

A
R

TA

C
O

LW
E

L
L

B
R

IG
H

T
W

O
O

D

PARASOL

PORTOBELLO

JA
C

K
S

O
N

MAJESTIC

BORDEN

ALB
A

N
Y

BIRCHDALE

NORTH LAKE

LAK

E
W

O
O

D

M
O

R
E

H

EAD

TRAILWOOD

ACADEMY

A
LL

EGHENY

ORPINGTON

C
O

NTINE N

TA
L

F
O

R
S

Y
T

H

A
N

V
IL

VA
S

S
A

R
D

O
W

N
E

Y

EAG
LE

C
O

L
O

N
IA

L

G
R

E
E

N
S

B
O

R
O

C
L

A
Y

T
O

N

T
R

U
F

FL
E

ACORN

GATE

O
T

T
E

R

T
IM

B
E

R
C

R
E

S
T

W
A

Y
FA

R
E

R

RAM
BLE

W
O

O
D

CEDAR KNOLL

FA
IR

FA
X

F
E

R
N

L
E

I G
H

LOCKSLEY

ROUNDTREE

WATTLES

BIG BEAVER

JO
H

N
 R

D
E

Q
U

IN
D

R
E

LOCATION MAP L

Tuscany Estates

Section 24, T2N, 
R11E, City of Troy, 
Oakland County, MI





















Page 1 of 3 

 
 
 
December 11, 2012 
 
TO:   Brian M. Kischnick, City Manager 
 
FROM:  Thomas Darling, Director of Financial Services 

Susan A. Leirstein, Purchasing Director 
  Gertrude Paraskevin, IT Director 

Timothy L. Richnak, Public Works Director 
 
SUBJECT: Sole Source – Purchase Freeance Mobile Application (app) Software  
 
Background 
 
The City implemented Azteca Cityworks Asset Management and Customer Service Request software in 2010.  
This system integrates with the City’s ESRI Geographical Information System (GIS) providing tools to better 
manage and update City infrastructure assets such as water, sewer and sanitary utilities, fire hydrants, streets, 
sidewalks, street signs, pavement, parks facilities, trees, publicly owned parking lots, and Engineering 
benchmarks and control points.  The Customer Service Request module is utilized by Public Works and 
Engineering to manage issues related to residents and businesses.  It is also used by the Fire department to 
track equipment maintenance and staffing requests.  
 
The City has been very happy with Cityworks and the flexibility inherent in the software which has allowed 
customizations to help manage many assets and processes.  However, the City is always looking for ways to 
further streamline processes, and one way to accomplish that is to enable field staff to create and receive work 
orders and service requests in the field. This has been a goal for quite some time but the available technology 
of client software on laptops has been cost prohibitive to deploy in the scale required.  However, since Council 
approved the move to Smartphone technology in December 2011, a less expensive alternative is now 
available.  Some field workers have already been issued Smartphones and have gained efficiencies utilizing 
the features of the devices as well as some no/low cost applications (apps).  Additional Smartphones would 
cost approximately $150 each versus the cost of a ruggedized laptop at $2,300 each.  The City could leverage 
these devices to access work orders and service requests that reside in Cityworks while in the field.   
 
TDC Group, Inc of Dayton Ohio has partnered with Azteca to develop a Cityworks specific Smartphone app. 
They offer a product, Freeance Mobile for Cityworks, for the Android and Apple iOS platforms that would cost 
$21,000 initially for 20 licenses including implementation, plus 25% annual maintenance.  Detailed pricing can 
be found in Attachment A.  This product would allow Smartphone access to Cityworks work orders, service 
requests and inspections in the field.  In addition to the Freeance Mobile for Cityworks product, TDC is offering 
the City, as a special promotion, their Freeance Mobile Forms Pro product at no additional cost including 
maintenance, which is a $15,000 value.  The Forms Pro product could be used to interface to other systems in 
use by the City outside of Cityworks, for example BS&A Software and GIS data to further provide access to 
critical systems to workers while in the field. 
 

CCIITTYY  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  AACCTTIIOONN  RREEPPOORRTT  
 

stewartc
Text Box
J-07



Page 2 of 3 

December 11, 2012 
 
To:  Brian Kischnick, City Manager 
Re:  Sole Source – Purchase Freeance Mobile Application (app) Software 
 
 
The functionality the Freeance product offers such as the ability to create, update and complete work orders 
and service requests in the field, will assist the City in its continuous improvement efforts and address ICMA 
recommendations to: “Continue utilization of City Works GIS infrastructure 
management system.  Explore utilization of hand-held devices for field work.”  Although we have been able to 
streamline various workflows, there are still many paper based forms and processes in use.  Some of the 
areas that would be addressed include streamlining weed mowing, street lighting maintenance, catch basin 
cleaning, tree maintenance, park management, and building maintenance operations, which was merged into 
Public Works as part of the City reorganization and ICMA recommendation.  
 
Freeance Mobile would provide the necessary tool to allow the City to implement a more efficient process, 
faster access to information and improved customer service.  It would also reduce clerical time devoted to this 
process, and therefore free staff time to address other pressing tasks.  Tasks that otherwise would be 
overlooked or sit for longer periods of time as a result of staff reductions in the past few years.  Estimated 
clerical labor savings would be at least 2 hours per week which translates to 104 hours per year at a cost 
savings of approximately $4,576 per year.   
 
By providing direct access to Cityworks in the field there would be no need to handle paper forms or have 
additional clerical staff involved in printing forms and transcribing results. Purchase of the Freeance product 
would allow for automated notifications of newly created work orders and service requests to our field staff and 
give them immediate access to the information pertinent to that work activity.  In addition they would be able to 
update information and even create new service requests or work orders as they see issues while in the field, 
providing an instant stream of feedback to their supervisors and clerical staff who need that information to 
address inquiries from the public.   
 
Recommendation 
 
City management is requesting authorization to purchase Freeance Mobile for Cityworks from TDC Group, Inc 
of Dayton Ohio as outlined in Attachment A for an estimated total cost of $21,000 with a yearly software 
maintenance fee of approximately $3,750 that could change annually based on the Consumer Price Index 
(CPI) for the then current year when compared with the previous year.  In addition, City management is 
requesting the authorization to purchase additional licenses in the future at a cost of approximately $500 each, 
plus 25% annual maintenance costs also subject to increases in the CPI, should they be necessary in the 
City’s continuous improvement efforts.   
 
The recommendation will be contingent upon TDC Group, Inc submitting proper contract documents and 
insurance certificates. 
 
Fund Availability 
 
Funds are budgeted and available in the Water Fund and Streets Department in the General Fund. 



Page 3 of 3 

 
 

ATTACHMENT A 
 

Costs 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(Note: Additional licenses purchased beyond the initial 20 would cost $500  
each plus 25% maintenance or approximately $125 per year.) 

 
 

Software Module  Initial Cost 
Annual 

Maintenance 

Freeance Mobile for Cityworks (20 users)   $           15,000    $            3,750 

Freeance Mobile Pro Forms (20 users)                          0                         0 

        

Installation and Training                  6,000      

        

Total   $         $21,000    $           3,750 



 

 

1 
 

CCIITTYY  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  AAGGEENNDDAA  IITTEEMM  
 

 
Date:            December 17, 2012                 
 
To:   Brian Kischnick, City Manager     
  
From:  Tom Darling, Director of Financial Services  

Timothy Richnak, Public Works Director  
  Rick Shepler, Water and Sewer Superintendent 
 
Subject: Scheduled Contract Reopener with Detroit Water and Sewerage Department (Year 5) 
 
 
Background 
 

• The 2008 wholesale water contract between DWSD and the City of Troy is a 30 year contract 
with reopeners scheduled at the end of the 2nd and 5th year and every 5 years there after 
through the life of the contract. This is the 5th year reopener. 

• The primary purpose for the reopeners is to make adjustment to the peak hour, max day, and 
annual usage factors as they are affected by economic conditions and technological 
advancements. These items play an important role into the rates developed annually by DWSD 
and to minimize volatility and create equity among wholesale customers. 

• These reopeners also give opportunity to have minor clarifications of contract language. 
• Troy’s adoption of an ordinance that limits outdoor automated underground irrigation systems to 

between 11P.M. to 5 A.M. has successfully shifted our peak hour in each of the first five years of 
this contract (see attached graph). 

• The City of Troy continues to invest in community education and capital improvement programs 
as part of our commitment to this contract. 

• The proposed amendment #2 to the water contract between DWSD and the City of Troy is 
attached for City Council review and consideration. 

               
 
Recommendation 
 
City Management recommends City Council approval of changes in this amendment #2 to the 2008 
water contract between DWSD and the City of Troy. 
 
City Attorney’s Review as to Form and Legality 
  
Approved as to Form and Legality:   _________________________ 

Lori Grigg Bluhm, City Attorney 
 
 
TR/S: Richnak Agenda Items/ Agenda 12.17.12 - Scheduled Contract Reopener with Detroit Water and Sewerage 

stewartc
Text Box
J-08































































ANIMAL CONTROL APPEAL BOARD - FINAL  SEPTEMBER 26, 2012 

1 
 

Vice Chair Petrulis called the Animal Control Appeal Board meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. on 
September 26, 2012 in the Lower Level Conference Room of the Troy City Hall. 
 
1. ROLL CALL 

 
Present: 
Patrick Carolan 
Al Petrulis 
Steve Toth 
 
Also Present: 
Paul Evans, Zoning and Compliance Specialist 
Susan Lancaster, Assistant City Attorney 
 
Absent: 
Jayne Saeger 
V. James Viola 
 
 

2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA  – No changes 
 
 
3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES – February 22, 2012 

 
Moved by Carolan 
Seconded by Toth 
 
RESOLVED, to approve the February 22, 2012 meeting minutes. 
 
Yes: All 
 
MOTION PASSED 

 
 
4. HEARING OF CASE 
 

WAIVER REQUEST, SHERISE ASSAD, 906 MINNESOTA – In order to keep 10 
chickens, hens only, a waiver from the requirement that the property be at least .75 of 
an acre in size.  The property is approximately .72 acres in size. 

The applicant summarized her request addressing site and coop location, layout, 
fencing, cleaning and sanitation, coop size, visibility from area properties, and run size.  
She indicated the hens are locked in the coop from dusk until 9 am.  There are no 
roosters.  The coop and chickens have been on the property for approximately a year.  
She provided the Board updated approval petitions signed by area residents. 
 
In response to a Board member question, Mr. Evans read the Animal Ordinance review 
and approval criteria for properties of at least .75 acres. 

stewartc
Text Box
O-01a





BUILDING CODE BOARD OF APPEALS – FINAL NOVEMBER 7, 2012 
  
 
 

1 
 

Ms. Brooks called the Regular meeting of the Building Code Board of Appeals to order at 
3:00 p.m. on November 7, 2012 in the Lower Level Conference Room of the Troy City Hall. 
 
1. ROLL CALL 

 
Members Present: 
Gary Abitheira 
Teresa Brooks 
Michael Carolan 
Mike Culpepper 
 
Members Absent: 
Theodore Dziurman, Chair 
 
Support Staff Present: 
Mitch Grusnick, Building Official/Code Inspector 
Kathy L. Czarnecki, Recording Secretary 
 
Also Present: 
Attached and made a part hereof is the signature sheet of those present and signed in 
at this meeting. 
 
Mr. Grusnick advised applicants a majority of three (3) votes is required for approval 
and an applicant could request postponement to be heard in front of a full Board. 
 
 

2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
Moved by: Culpepper 
Seconded by: Carolan 
 
RESOLVED, To approve the minutes of the October 3, 2012 Regular meeting as 
submitted. 
 
Yeas: All present (4) 
Absent: Dziurman 
 
MOTION CARRIED 

 
 
3. HEARING OF CASES 

 
A. VARIANCE REQUEST, RANDY ORAM FOR INTERNATIONAL OUTDOOR INC., 

500 WEST LONG LAKE – A variance for relief of Chapter 85, Section 85.02.05 (c) 
(5) (e) to place a 70 foot tall, 1608 square foot ground sign. 
 
Ms. Brooks announced a written request has been received from the applicant to 
table the request to the next monthly meeting. 

stewartc
Text Box
O-01b



BUILDING CODE BOARD OF APPEALS – FINAL NOVEMBER 7, 2012 
  
 
 

2 
 

Ms. Brooks opened the floor for public comment. 
 
There was no one present who wished to speak. 
 
Ms. Brooks closed the floor for public comment. 
 
Moved by: Carolan 
Seconded by: Abitheira 
 
RESOLVED, To table the request to the December 5, 2012 Regular meeting. 
 
Yeas: All present (4) 
Absent: Dziurman 
 
MOTION CARRIED 

 
 

B. VARIANCE REQUEST, MAURICE BANKS AND MIKE FRAZIER, 1929 HAZEL 
NUT LANE – A variance for relief of Chapter 83 to place a 4 foot high non-obscuring 
fence in the front setback along Sutherland Drive where the fence height is limited to 
30 inches. 
 
Mr. Grusnick gave a brief description of the request.  He indicated the department 
received no comments in response to the public notice. 
 
The applicant and property owner, Mike Frazier, was present.  Mr. Frazier said in 
addition to the request to place a four (4) foot high fence along Sutherland Drive, he 
is also asking to extend a six (6) foot high privacy fence along the rear property line.  
He said their house backs up to a wooded area owned by a party store on John R.  
Mr. Frazier said the fencing would provide protection for their five children and two 
dogs, and the placement of the fencing would utilize as much yard as possible for a 
play area.  Mr. Frazier said the four (4) foot high fence would be a decorative 
aluminum black fence and the privacy fence would be wood with shadow boxing. 
 
Mr. Grusnick confirmed the request for a privacy fence is shown on the site plan 
submitted.  Mr. Grusnick said the property behind the home would be developed in 
the future and the four (4) foot high fence might meet Zoning Ordinance 
requirements depending on the layout of the future development to the north, but 
the six (6) foot high privacy fence would require a variance in either situation. 
 
Ms. Brooks opened the floor for public comment. 
 
There was no one present who wished to speak. 
 
Ms. Brooks closed the floor for public comment. 



BUILDING CODE BOARD OF APPEALS – FINAL NOVEMBER 7, 2012 
  
 
 

3 
 

There was discussion on: 
 Distance of proposed fence from sidewalk/property line. 
 Developer/builder agreement to install fence along rear property line. 
 Developer/builder regulations; future homeowners’ association bylaws. 
 Utility easements within fence line area. 
 Future development to the north; lot and sidewalk layout. 

 
Moved by: Culpepper 
Seconded by: Abitheira 
 
RESOLVED, That the variance request for Maurice Banks and Mike Frazier, 1929 
Hazel Nut Lane, for relief of Chapter 83 to place a 4 foot high non-obscuring fence in 
the front setback along Sutherland Drive where the fence height is limited to 30 
inches, be granted with the condition that the fence is two (2) feet off the sidewalk, 
for the following reasons: 
 
1. The variance would not be contrary to the public interest or general purpose and 

intent of Chapter 83; and 
2. The variance does not adversely affect properties in the immediate vicinity for the 

proposed fence; and 
3. The petitioner has a hardship or practical difficulty resulting from the unusual 

characteristics of the property that precludes reasonable use of the property. 
 
FURTHER RESOLVED, that a six (6) foot high obscuring privacy fence, as 
requested, to terminate two (2) feet off the sidewalk along Sutherland Drive, be 
granted. 
 
Yeas: Abitheira, Carolan, Culpepper 
Nay: Brooks 
Absent: Dziurman 
 
MOTION CARRIED 

 
 
C. VARIANCE REQUEST, ROBERT J. BONGIORNO FOR B-B SIGN & LIGHTING, 

INC., 1401 E. FOURTEEN MILE – A variance to place a 127 square foot, 13 foot 
4 inch tall ground sign, set back 7 feet 6 inches from the front property line.  The 
sign code limits ground signs set back less than 20 feet to a 10 foot maximum 
height and a maximum size of 50 square feet. 
 
Mr. Grusnick gave a brief description of the request.  He indicated the department 
received no comments in response to the public notice and there are no concerns 
from a traffic visibility standpoint. 
 
The applicant, Robert Bongiorno of B-B Sign & Lighting, was present.  Also 
present were Al David and Jerry Sitarski of Emergency Restoration. 



BUILDING CODE BOARD OF APPEALS – FINAL NOVEMBER 7, 2012 
  
 
 

4 
 

Mr. Bongiorno addressed the concern that a sign placed in accordance with the 
Zoning Ordinance would be blocked by the neighboring business located to the 
west (Ray Electric) and not be visible by traffic traveling eastbound on 14 Mile.  
Mr. Bongiorno displayed photographs visually identifying the visibility concern.  
Mr. Bongiorno said the owners would like to install an LED message board that 
would enhance their building and attract the public and customer eye.  He 
addressed the design configuration and LED message of the proposed sign.  He 
confirmed the proposed sign would not obscure any existing signage in the area. 
 
Mr. David addressed the intent of its LED messages, stating they would relate to 
company specials, services, greetings, community and public announcements.  
He confirmed they are aware of the minimum sixty (60) second message cycle 
change. 
 
Ms. Brooks opened the floor for public comment. 
 
There was no one present who wished to speak. 
 
Ms. Brooks closed the floor for public comment. 
 
Moved by: Carolan 
Seconded by: Culpepper 
 
RESOLVED, To approve the variance request. 
 
Yeas: All present (4) 
Absent: Dziurman 
 
MOTION CARRIED 

 
 
D. VARIANCE REQUEST, JOHN GAVIN FOR CUSTOM SIGN CENTER, INC., 1905 

E. MAPLE ROAD – A variance for relief of the Sign Code to place a second ground 
sign (Menu Board) on the property measuring 41 square feet in size.  Section 
85.02.05 (C) (4) (b) limits the size of a second ground sign to 36 square feet. 
 
Mr. Grusnick gave a brief description of the request.  He indicated the department 
received no comments in response to the public notice. 
 
Patrick Bell, representative of the property owner Tim Horton’s, was present.  Mr. 
Bell addressed the size configuration of the restaurant menu board.  He stated the 
menu board sign exceeds the Zoning Ordinance requirements by approximately five 
(5) square feet, of which four and one quarter (4.25) square feet is within the base of 
the sign that contains the menu and speaker system; the remainder square feet is 
outside of the frame. 



BUILDING CODE BOARD OF APPEALS – FINAL NOVEMBER 7, 2012 
  
 
 

5 
 

Ms. Brooks addressed the outstanding concern of the County Health Department 
with respect to the dumpster location.   
 
Mr. Bell said he was not aware of any concern identified by the County Health 
Department.  Mr. Bell said the sign variance request is for the size of the sign, not 
the location, and promised that any and all outstanding concerns of the Health 
Department would immediately be addressed. 
 
Ms. Brooks opened the floor for public comment. 
 
There was no one present who wished to speak. 
 
Ms. Brooks closed the floor for public comment. 
 
Moved by: Carolan 
Seconded by: Abitheira 
 
RESOLVED, To approve the variance request. 
 
Yeas: All present (4) 
Absent: Dziurman 
 
MOTION CARRIED 

 
 
E. VARIANCE REQUEST, AFRAH ALBANNA FOR AUTOMOTIVE CASTLE, 1251 

ROCHESTER – A variance for relief of the Sign Code to place a third ground sign 
measuring 40 square feet in size on the property.  Section 85.02.05 (C) limits the 
maximum number of ground signs on this parcel to two signs. 
 
Mr. Grusnick gave a brief description of the request.  He indicated the department 
received no comments in response to the public notice. 
 
Chris Tweny of Rainbow Hi-Tech was present to represent the property owner.  Mr. 
Tweny said the property owner, Afrah (Fred) Albanna of Automotive Castle, would 
like to install an LED message board sign.  He addressed visibility concerns with 
existing signage and noted the applicant would remove his name from existing 
signage shared by multi-building tenants. 
 
Ms. Brooks opened the floor for public comment. 
 
Kim Snell of 1227 Rochester Road was present.  Ms. Snell spoke on behalf of the 
mini storage facility, one of the multi-building tenants who share the existing signage 
with the applicant.  She said the applicant’s name is on the two existing signs at no 
charge, and the signs are visible from the north and south.  Ms. Snell expressed 
opposition to the applicant’s request for a third sign.  She indicated the mini storage 
facility does not have frontage exposure and would lose business without a sign.  



BUILDING CODE BOARD OF APPEALS – FINAL NOVEMBER 7, 2012 
  
 
 

6 
 

Ms. Snell said the applicant is difficult to work with as a neighbor, and his business is 
a disgrace to the City. 
 
Mr. Tweny said the applicant would be willing to share the usage of the proposed 
LED sign. 
 
Matthew Horn of The Horn Corporation, 1263 Rochester, was present.  Mr. Horn is 
one of the multi-building tenants sharing the existing signage with the applicant.  He 
said after coming to an agreement with the applicant, he applied and paid for the 
existing signage.  Mr. Horn indicated he is not necessarily opposed to the applicant’s 
request for a third sign because that would free up and give him personal use of the 
existing signage.  Mr. Horn said the applicant’s property is a constant mess with 
yellow leg signs, auto parts, tire bins, flags, lawn lights, etc.  Mr. Horn said he would 
welcome professional signage if it meant the applicant would stop constantly 
cluttering the property. 
 
Mr. Carolan said he would not support the request because it appears a hardship 
would be created for the other building tenants.   
 
Mr. Grusnick reported violation notices have been issued to the applicant.  Mr. 
Grusnick said the applicant indicated a third sign would address signage concerns 
on site. 
 
Mr. Tweny asked that the building tenants put their objections in writing and 
indicated that conceivably there could be a resolution to the signage concerns. 
 
Ms. Brooks closed the floor for public comment. 
 
Discussion continued: 
 Role/responsibility of the Board. 
 Multi-building tenant signage. 
 Sunoco gas pipeline on site. 

 
Moved by: Carolan 
Seconded by:  
 
RESOLVED, To deny the variance request because it would adversely affect the 
existing neighbors and the applicant has not shown a hardship. 
 
MOTION FAILED for lack of support. 
 
Mr. Tweny requested to postpone the request until there is a full Board present. 



BUILDING CODE BOARD OF APPEALS – FINAL NOVEMBER 7, 2012 
  
 
 

7 
 

Moved by: Abitheira 
Seconded by: Culpepper 
 
RESOLVED, To postpone the request so it can be heard at a meeting in which a full 
board is present. 
 
Discussion on the motion on the floor. 
 
Mr. Carolan said he would support the motion to postpone because it would allow 
the applicant time to resolve concerns addressed by the neighbors. 
 
Vote on the motion on the floor. 
 
Yeas: All present (4) 
Absent: Dziurman 
 
MOTION CARRIED 

 
 
4. COMMUNICATIONS 

 
None. 
 
 

5. PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
None. 

 
 
6. MISCELLANEOUS BUSINESS 

 
The newly sworn City Manager will attend the December Regular meeting. 
 
Mr. Culpepper was thanked for his participation and wished a fond farewell.  

 
 
7. ADJOURNMENT 

 
 
The Regular meeting of the Board of Building Appeals adjourned at 3:59 p.m. 







PLANNING COMMISSION SPECIAL/STUDY MEETING – FINAL NOVEMBER 27, 2012 
  
 
 

1 
 

Chair Tagle called the Special/Study meeting of the Troy City Planning Commission to order 
at 7:00 p.m. on November 27, 2012 in the Council Board Room of the Troy City Hall. 
 
1. ROLL CALL 

 
Present: 
Donald Edmunds 
Michael W. Hutson 
Edward Kempen 
Tom Krent 
Philip Sanzica 
Gordon Schepke 
Robert Schultz 
Thomas Strat (arrived at 7:22 p.m.) 
John J. Tagle 
 

Also Present: 
R. Brent Savidant, Planning Director 
Lori Grigg Bluhm, City Attorney 
Susan Lancaster, Assistant City Attorney 
Ben Carlisle, Carlisle/Wortman Associates, Inc. 
Eric Huang, Student Representative 
 

2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
Resolution # PC-2012-11-075 
Moved by: Edmunds 
Seconded by: Schultz 
 

RESOLVED, To approve the agenda as printed. 
 

Yes: All present (8) 
Absent: Strat (arrived 7:22 p.m.) 
 

MOTION CARRIED 
 
3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 
Resolution # PC-2012-11-076 
Moved by: Sanzica 
Seconded by: Schepke 
 

RESOLVED, To approve the minutes of the November 13, 2012 Regular meeting as 
printed. 
 

Yes: All present (8) 
Absent: Strat (arrived 7:22 p.m.) 
 

MOTION CARRIED 

stewartc
Text Box
O-01c



PLANNING COMMISSION SPECIAL/STUDY MEETING – FINAL NOVEMBER 27, 2012 
  
 
 

2 
 

4. PUBLIC COMMENT – Items not on the Agenda 
 
There was no one present who wished to speak. 

 
 
5. ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS (ZBA) REPORT 

 
Mr. Savidant presented ZBA report.   

 
 
6. DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY (DDA) REPORT 

 
There was not a DDA meeting in November. 

 
 
7. PLANNING AND ZONING REPORT 

 
Mr. Savidant presented Planning and Zoning report.   

 
 

OTHER BUSINESS 
 
8. PLANNING COMMISSION ETHICS 

 
Ms. Lori Bluhm, City Attorney, made a presentation on Planning Commission ethics. 
 
There was general discussion on this item 
 
 

9. PUBLIC COMMENT – Items on Current Agenda 
 
There was no one present who wished to speak. 

 
 
10. PLANNING COMMISSION COMMENTS 

 
There were general Planning Commission comments. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



PLANNING COMMISSION SPECIAL/STUDY MEETING – FINAL NOVEMBER 27, 2012 
  
 
 

3 
 

The Special/Study meeting of the Planning Commission adjourned at 8:20 p.m. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
 
       
John Tagle, Chair 
 
 
 
 
       
R. Brent Savidant, Planning Director 
 
G:\Planning Commission Minutes\2012 PC Minutes\Final\2012 11 27 Special Study Meeting_Final.doc 
 
 



 

 

1 
 

CCIITTYY  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  AAGGEENNDDAA  IITTEEMM  
 

 
Date:            December 11, 2012                  
 
To:   Brian Kischnick, City Manager      
  
From:  Mark F. Miller, Director of Economic & Community Development 
  Cynthia A. Stewart, Community Affairs Director 
  Cathleen A. Russ, Library Director  
 
Subject: Troy Public Library 2013-2015 Strategic Plan/Presentation  
 
 
On May 7, 2012, the City Council awarded a contract with sole proprietor Erin Gong, for the 
preparation of a strategic plan for the Troy Public Library from 2013-2015. The contract includes the 
scope of services that are included within the Strategic Plan:  to determine what the community wants 
from its Library, and how the Library can best provide these services over the next three years.  
 
Since June 2012, Ms. Gong facilitated the Strategic Planning process with a committee that included 
City and Library staff, as well as residents and members of the business community. Some of the 
public input methods included a community survey and focus groups, as part of the scope of services.  
 
While public tax dollars remains the primary funding source for all public libraries, including the Troy 
Public Library, of ongoing concern to all involved in the process was maintaining a sustainable level 
of service, as well as future funding for the Troy Public Library. Strategies to address those concerns 
are explored in depth in Goal 3, and specifically in Objective 3.7.  
 
Partnerships, fundraising, and other revenues will be aggressively pursued, to maximize the 
community’s investment in its Library, and to also supplement the level of Library service.  However, 
in January 2014, it is recommended that City Management, Library Administration, and City Council 
analyze and determine the desired levels and types of services as identified by the community, which 
will then equate to the cost of Library services. This analysis will create a funding model for the 
Library for 2016 and beyond. 
 
All of this information has been synthesized into the Strategic Plan report. As part of the scope of 
services, Ms. Gong will present the plan to City Council on Monday, December 17, 2012.  
  
The Troy Public Library 2013-2015 Strategic Plan will be posted on the Library and the City’s 
websites, and at the Troy Public Library.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
CR/cr\AGENDAITEMS\12.17.12—TPLStrategic Plan2012 

stewartc
Text Box
C-03 / O-02a



 

 

 

Troy Public Library 

Strategic Plan 

2013-2015 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

  

Introduction 1 

Vision, Mission, Values 2 

Background Research 5 

Key Findings 6 

  

Strategic Goals, Objectives, and Activities 9 

Goal #1: Excel at User Experience 9 

Goal #2: Increase Awareness of Library Value and Vibrancy 17 

Goal #3: Build a Robust Infrastructure for Community Support and Partnership 22 

  

Strategic Outcomes 29 

Implementation 30 

  

Appendix Material 31 

Appendix 1: Current Funding Model and Options 31 

Appendix 2: October 2012 Survey Report 33 

Appendix 3: November 2012 Focus Group Report 51 

Appendix 4: Comparison of Troy Public Library to Peer Libraries 55 

Appendix 5: State of the Library Report 57 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



1 

 

INTRODUCTION 

In 2012, the Troy Public Library conducted strategic planning to determine a three-year plan for 

the future of the Library. The Library convened a strategic planning Task Force made up of 

Library staff members, staff from the City of Troy, and community and business stakeholders. It 

also engaged a strategic planning facilitator to guide the process and lead in data-gathering (i.e. 

surveys, focus groups). 

 

The Task Force determined that the scope of the strategic plan would be three-fold.  

1. Redefine the Library – articulate what the Troy Public Library is for its community. 

2. Build communication – identify communication gaps and how to better communicate 

the redefined Library to stakeholders. 

3. Explore business models – think creatively about how the redefined Library will be 

supported financially. 

 

The strategic planning process was carried out in three phases. 

 

Phase 1: “State of the Library”. This phase provided the Library with necessary 

background information from internal and external sources for the strategic planning 

process. The Task Force met to determine the scope of the strategic plan. The facilitator 

created a “State of the Library” report that included a community profile, assessment of 

the Library’s environment, and peer comparisons to other libraries. 

 

Phase 2: Visioning.  During this phase, the Task Force met again to determine the 

Vision, Mission, and Values of the Library, and to determine outcomes they felt were 

important for the Library to meet in order to achieve that vision and mission. The 

facilitator conducted a community-wide survey of Library users and non-users to 

understand people’s perceptions, attitudes, and use of the Library 

 

Phase 3: Planning & Measurement. In this phase, the Task Force determined the 

“meat” of the strategic plan: the goals, objectives, and activities that would lead to key 

outcomes identified in Phase 2. This process was informed by the community survey as 

well as a series of focus groups that further explored Library opinions and 

communication. Additionally, a Finance Subcommittee met to determine viable funding 

strategies for the Library to explore. These pieces came together to form the final 

strategic plan, outlined in this document. 

 

 



2 

 

VISION, MISSION, VALUES 

VISION:  

TROY PUBLIC LIBRARY IS A PLACE WHERE PEOPLE ARE PARTNERS IN 

CREATING A VIBRANT AND PROSPEROUS COMMUNITY. 

 

THIS VISION REQUIRES: 

Acceptance, of people and of new ways of doing things 

Engagement, in thoughtful decisions and purposeful action 

Lifetime learning, available to everyone, at any stage of life 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



3 

 

MISSION:  

THE MISSION OF THE TROY PUBLIC LIBRARY IS TO BE THE COMMUNITY’S 

COLLECTION OF KNOWLEDGE AND ENTERTAINMENT, A PERSONAL RESOURCE 

FOR LIFELONG LEARNING, AND A VIBRANT SPACE FOR ALL. 

 

WHAT THE MISSION MEANS IN PRACTICE 

1. Community’s collection of knowledge and entertainment 

• The collection refers to books, music, movies at the Library, both digital and 

physical. 

• The collection includes materials for information and knowledge as well as 

fun and entertainment. 

• The collection must be built and maintained keeping community needs in 

mind. 

• The collection must be responsive to changing community needs (both in 

content and format). 

2. Personal resource for lifelong learning 

• The Library provides resources not just through materials in the collection 

but also through librarians and Library staff – personal assistants for people’s 

information needs. 

• The Library can be the starting place for any question, on any topic, at any 

age. 

• The Library provides classes and services to help people learn, as well as 

some programs geared towards educational or recreational outcomes. 

3. A vibrant space for all 

• The Library celebrates diversity and is capable of serving diverse populations. 

• The Library is a welcoming place that has spaces suited for all ages. 

• The Library is a hub for community events and programs – a gathering place. 

• The physical space is an active, dynamic place where things happen. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



4 

 

VALUES:  

 

WE COMMIT TO DOING THINGS WELL.  

 

WE OFFER HIGH QUALITY PRODUCTS AND SERVICES. WHEN WE SEE A BETTER WAY, 

WE USE IT. 

 

WE COMMIT TO BEING ADVENTUROUS. 

 

INNOVATE TO LEARN. BE CREATIVE. RISK-TAKING IS ENCOURAGED. 

 

WE COMMIT TO BUILDING RELATIONSHIPS. 

 

WE ARE RESPONSIVE AND RELEVANT BECAUSE WE HAVE RELATIONSHIPS WITH THE 

PEOPLE WHO MAKE UP OUR COMMUNITY. 

WE COMMIT TO SURPASSING EXPECTATIONS IN SERVICE. 

 

WE SEE EVERY INTERACTION WITH OUR PATRONS AS AN OPPORTUNITY TO MAKE 

THEIR LIVES BETTER. 

 

WE COMMIT TO LEARNING THROUGH A LIFETIME. 

 

WE SEEK CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT FOR OUR STAFF, VOLUNTEERS, PATRONS AND 

COMMUNITY. 

 

 

 



5 

 

BACKGROUND RESEARCH 

The strategic planning process began with a “State of the Library” report. This report brought 

together several information sources, including interviews with Library staff, usage statistics, 

the City of Troy Master Plan (2008) and City of Troy Community Survey (2011), and external 

reports on library trends and best practices. The report laid the groundwork for the whole 

strategic planning process, with background on the current state of the Library, the community, 

nationwide library trends, and current best practices from other libraries.  

 

To inform the strategic planning process, independent Strategic Planning Facilitator Erin Gong 

conducted two community assessments. 

 

1. Community Survey. Conducted in October 2012, this online survey explored Library use, 

knowledge, and perceptions within the community. The primary sampling method was 

through an email sent to the City’s distribution list for Community Affairs (approximately 

10,000). This method was supplemented with a press release to Troy news outlets (print 

and online) with a link to take the survey online. 907 people responded to the survey. 

 

2. Focus Groups. People who took the survey were also invited to participate in a focus 

group at the Library. We held four focus groups in November 2012, with a total of 39 

participants. Because no non-users opted in to participating in the focus group, there 

were three focus groups of frequent Library users (visit every 2-3 weeks or more) and 

one focus group of less frequent Library users (visit once a month or less). Focus group 

discussions focused on rating different aspects of the Library, discussing how people 

stay informed about the Library, and describing a vision of the future of the Library. 

 

Key findings from the two community assessments as well as the “State of the Library” report 

are highlighted in the next section and full reports are part of the appendix.



6 

 

KEY FINDINGS 

KEY FINDING 1: STRONG SUPPORT FOR LIBRARY, FROM A BROAD CROSS-SECTION OF THE 

TROY COMMUNITY 

 

• 77% of survey respondents feel it is “extremely important” for Troy to have a public 

library. 89% feel it is either “extremely important” or “very important”. 

• 78% of survey respondents feel the Library millage is a “good use of tax dollars”. Only 

7% feel it is not a good use of tax dollars. 

• Income is not strongly correlated with Library use.  For each of four income brackets 

identified in the survey ($0-50K, $50-100K, $100-200K, and $200K+), between 60% and 

69% of people in each bracket use the Library at least once a month. 

• People from many races/ethnicities use the Library. Anecdotally, we see Library users 

from many different backgrounds. However, Troy Public Library does not only serve 

minority populations. Of those in the survey who identified as white non-Hispanics, 65% 

come to the Library at least once a month. Only 12% had never been to the Library. 

KEY FINDING 2: LIBRARY OFFERINGS ARE GREAT, BUT COMMUNICATION IS KEY 

• Many people don’t know about the Library’s services, particularly services that are not 

considered “traditional” Library offerings. For example, 39% did not know the Library 

offered assistance on how to use e-readers, and 26% did not know that you could 

download e-books from the Library. Said one respondent, “I never knew many of the 

things I learned about in this survey. I will check them out”. 

• This communication gap exists for frequent users as well as infrequent users. On 

average, about 30% of people who didn’t know about a given program or service in the 

survey were people who use the Library at least 2-3 times each month. 

• 53% of respondents say the Library “rarely or never” keeps them up-to-date on new 

movies. 39% say the same about new books and 27% say the same about new services. 

• Focus group participants were consistently enthusiastic about the Library’s materials, 

resources, and services. Equally consistent was the desire for more communication from 

the Library about their offerings. From a focus group participant: “You need to 

communicate what you have. There’s a communication gap”. 

• The Library’s best opportunity for increasing use from current users and non-users alike 

is to let people know what they can get from the Library, particularly beyond the 

“traditional library” mindset. 



7 

 

KEY FINDING 3: NEED FOR PARTNERSHIPS IN COMMUNITY 

• The Library has recently had success in partnering with a few local businesses, for 

programs and fundraising. There is clearly room to grow this partnership model; 

however, in staff interviews (part of the “State of the Library” report) staff say they have 

barely enough (and sometimes not enough) time to meet day-to-day operational needs 

of the Library, making it extremely difficult to reach beyond the Library walls. Said one 

staff member, “At this point, we don’t have enough hours and enough personnel to get 

back up to our former level of programming.” 

• Partnerships that support education and lifelong learning would resonate with people’s 

perceptions of the value of the Library: 95% of survey respondents strongly agree or 

agree that “a public library supports and enhances education in the community”. 

• Focus group participants were very interested in the idea of the Library being a place to 

connect community members with community experts, on a wide range of topics. One 

focus group participant said: “There could be some extremely talented people in the 

community who could volunteer to come teach a class for the public.” Partnerships 

could enable this kind of robust offering.  

KEY FINDING 4: TECHNOLOGY – MOVE FORWARD WITH 21ST CENTURY 

• When survey respondents were asked what prevents them from using the Library, 

common open-ended responses were that they could get everything online, or the 

internet or e-readers make the Library unnecessary. 

• This shift in technology is an opportunity for libraries to adapt services to a new model. 

The Library’s initial advances in technology have been well-received. Of those survey 

respondents who had heard of the Library’s e-book downloads, 28% have used the 

service “a few times” or “often.” 22% of respondents who had heard of the Library 

providing assistance with e-readers had taken advantage of that service. 

• Focus group participants stressed the need for the Library to transition Library services 

to a 21st century technology model. They talked repeatedly of the benefits of the 

Library’s e-book and digital music downloads, as well as technology assistance services: 

“I use a lot of techno stuff. People are going to e-readers like the Kindle. We [need to] 

integrate it into the Library.” 

• When asked about new services the Library could offer, respondents said the following: 

o 49% believed borrowing e-readers from the Library would “really” or 

“moderately” improve the Library. 

o 45% believed using debit/credit cards to pay Library fines online would “really” 

or “moderately” improve the Library. 

o 45% believed receiving books and DVDs through the mail would “really” or 

“moderately” improve the Library. 

o 36% believed using debit/credit cards to pay Library fines at the Library would 

“really” or “moderately” improve the Library. 



8 

 

KEY FINDING 5: RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAFF MAKE THE DIFFERENCE 

• Focus group participants consistently cited staff interactions as critical to a good Library 

experience. Staff interactions were overwhelmingly positive, and made the difference 

between a good and great Library: “It’s critical for staff to interact with people who walk 

in the door.” 

• 87% of survey respondents who had been to the Library before said Library staff are 

welcoming “always” or “most of the time”. 94% said the same of staff being 

knowledgeable. 

• Perceptions of Library staff are critical to Library support. In the survey, people who 

strongly support the Library have higher opinions of Library staff. 

• As with Key Finding 3 (Partnerships), staff needs time to build these crucial relationships 

with users and non-users alike, to improve their Library experience and connect them to 

the excellent resources available. 

KEY FINDING 6: NEED TO DETERMINE A STRONG BUSINESS MODEL FOR THE LIBRARY, 

WITHIN AN ENVIRONMENT OF TRUST 

• Currently, the Troy Public Library is funded through a millage of .7 mills for five years. 

When the millage expires, the Library needs a strong business model to continue. 

• Nationwide, libraries are experiencing funding challenges similar to the Troy Public 

Library. Troy Public Library can be a leader in the field, in proactively seeking input from 

the community about Library levels of service and then determining a viable business 

model to support that service. The business model can look at ways to complement 

public tax dollars with support through donations, grants, and partnerships. 

• The near-closing of the Library in 2011, and the surrounding political climate, continues 

to cast a shadow of uncertainty. In the community survey, 89% of people feel the 

Library is extremely or very important, but only 65% think the Library will continue and 

even grow. People believe the Library is important but are uncertain about its future. 

• Library staff members are very enthusiastic about their jobs and their role in serving the 

Troy community through the Library. However, they are worried about job security and 

discouraged by the fact that only six out of 72 staff at the Library is full-time. Without a 

strong commitment to staff from City leadership, the staff is hesitant to make a strong 

commitment themselves. Many must seek other part-time work, and talented, 

energetic staff members who are given the choice of full-time work at another Library 

take that opportunity.  

• As the Library pursues new strategies for funding, it needs an environment that uplifts 

and encourages, rather than an environment of uncertainty and doubt. 



9 

 

STRATEGIC PLAN GOALS, OBJECTIVES, & 

ACTIVITIES 

GOAL 1: EXCEL AT USER EXPERIENCE 

OBJECTIVE 1.1 (PRIORITY) 

IMPROVE THE “FIRST IMPRESSION” AT THE MAIN ENTRANCE OF THE LIBRARY, 

SO PEOPLE FEEL WELCOMED, KNOW WHERE TO GO, AND LEARN WHAT THE 

LIBRARY HAS FOR THEM. 

ACTIVITIES:  

 JANUARY – JUNE 2013 (QUICK WIN): INFORMATION DESK 

• Experiment with operating a daily, staffed information “desk” (not necessarily 

physical) which provides users a focal point for general Library questions and an 

orientation to physical space, services, and programs. 

• Gather informal feedback from users and staff about the desk. Make sure to talk to 

new or infrequent users – not just the regulars. 

• Make specific recommendations for a long-term information “desk”. 

JULY – DECEMBER 2013: ENTRANCE AREA RENOVATIONS 

• Find and retain a consultant specializing in way-finding (see also Objective 1.2) to 

assess users’ experience entering the Library and recommend options for small-scale 

renovations to the circulation desk areas, used book drop offs, etc.  

• Price out renovation options and decide which, if any, are feasible. 

JANUARY – JUNE 2014: INFORMATION DISPLAYS 

• Explore options for how to display a changing list of Library events and programs, 

new services, new books or movies, in the main entrance space of the Library. 

• Pilot test some options, and gather informal feedback from users. 

• Make specific recommendations for a long-term front entrance information display. 

JULY 2014 – AUGUST 2015: IMPROVEMENT PLAN 

• Based on above options (information desk, renovations, display) create an overall 

“first impression” improvement plan for the Library that meets three criteria: feeling 

welcomed, knowing where to go, and informed on what the Library has (programs, 

services, resources). 

• Implement improvement plan and evaluate/refine. 



10 

 

MEASUREMENT:  

• Feedback from users and staff about information “desk” and information display. 

• User attitudes about feeling welcoming and being assisted as needed. 

• User knowledge of Library happenings. 

• Attitudes from new or infrequent users about getting quickly oriented to the 

physical Library. 

OBJECTIVE 1.2 (PRIORITY) 

MAKE IT EASIER FOR USERS TO NAVIGATE THE LIBRARY – FINDING MATERIALS 

AND FINDING PLACES (COMPUTER AREA, YOUTH AREA, RESTROOMS, ETC.) – 

THROUGH EFFECTIVE SIGNAGE, LOW-COST REORGANIZATION, AND 

INCREASED STAFF INTERACTION. 

ACTIVITIES:  

JULY – DECEMBER 2013: ENTRANCE AREA RENOVATIONS AND STAFF INTERACTIONS 

• Continue to use and continually improve the new roving reference model to 

increase staff interaction with users at the Library. 

• Find and retain a consultant specializing in way-finding (see also Objective 1.1) to 

assess users’ Library navigation and staff interactions (in regards to way-finding). 

Develop recommendations on specific, low-cost improvements in signage, 

reorganization, and staff positioning and accessibility. 

• As part of this process, consider how to “translate” the current Dewey system into a 

more intuitive system for users. This could simply mean more intuitive signage, or a 

new organizational system (e.g. bookstore model). 

 

JANUARY 2014 – JUNE 2015: IMPROVEMENT PLAN 

• Prioritize consultant recommendations and form an implementation plan. 

• Implement recommendations according to plan. 

MEASUREMENT:  

• Staff observations of how many users look lost or confused. 

• Positive comments from users about way-finding in Library. 

• Increased interactions between staff and patrons. 

 



11 

 

OBJECTIVE 1.3 (PRIORITY) 

PROVIDE NEW LIBRARY CARDHOLDERS WITH A WELCOME PACKAGE AND 

ONE-ON-ONE TOUR OF THE LIBRARY AND INTRODUCTION TO ITS RESOURCES. 

ACTIVITIES: 

JANUARY – JUNE 2013 (QUICK WIN): WELCOME PACKAGE 

• Create a first version of the Library Welcome Package. Could include: 

o Tips on using the Library. 

o Tips about when the Library is busy or quiet. 

o Online services and features. 

o Specific librarians to talk to about different topics. 

o International language speaking librarians. 

o Rewards redemption (e.g. free feature DVD rental) in order to track use. 

o Coupons to other area businesses, possibly with a “kick-back” donation to 

Library for each redemption. 

o Coordinate with Friends of the Troy Public Library to introduce people to the 

Book Shop and Friends Shop. 

• Distribute the Welcome Package. 

o Train staff members on the Welcome Package, so they can answer questions 

as needed. 

o Determine how to distribute Welcome Package (e.g. handed out along with 

new Library cards, or, librarian sits down for brief conversation with users 

about the Welcome Package and the Library). 

o Start distributing Welcome Package to new users. 

 

JULY – DECEMBER 2013: VOLUNTEER LIBRARY TOURS 

• Develop a new user Library tour. 

• Train a group of volunteers to give the tour. 

• Schedule volunteers so they can be at the Library when new users receive their 

Library cards, and can give the tours on-demand. 

 

JANUARY – JULY 2014: WELCOME PACKAGE 

• Re-work the Library Welcome Package to better reflect the Library’s brand 

(Objective 2.1). 

• Finalize the promotional materials from the package into “fit and finished” products. 



12 

 

MEASUREMENT:  

• # of rewards redeemed from Welcome Package. 

• # of tours given. 

• Increased knowledge of how to use the Library and Library offerings (services, 

programs, and resources) for new cardholders. 

 

OBJECTIVE 1.4:  

SHIFT THE LIBRARY’S FOCUS ON COLLECTION DEVELOPMENT TO A FOCUS ON 

COLLECTION PROMOTION 

ACTIVITIES: 

JANUARY – MARCH 2013 (QUICK WINS!): IDENTIFY THE KEY ISSUES 

• For one month, have staff track how much time they spend on collection 

development, as a baseline measurement. 

• Gather feedback from staff on what is most time-consuming about collection 

development, what might make the process more efficient, and what circulation 

data or reports would help them in collection management (weeding, budget 

allocations to different topics or formats, etc). 
 

APRIL 2013 – SEPTEMBER 2013: ASSESS COLLECTION DEVELOPMENT AND PROMOTION NEEDS 

• Analyze circulation stats to identify areas in the collection that should be promoted 

more (consider low-circulation materials that could be interesting to more people or 

a specific audience as well as high- circulation materials that could be made more 

accessible). 

• Assess current displays and promotions of collection, both physical and web-based. 

• Gather feedback from staff about how the collection can be promoted more. 

Coordinate with Marketing staff (Objective 2.1) and the work under Objective 1.1 

(“first impression” experience) about promotion options. 
 



13 

 

OCTOBER 2013 – DECEMBER 2013: DEVELOP RECOMMENDATIONS BASED ON ASSESSMENT 

• Develop recommendations for collection promotion. Consider the following: 

o Technology tools for the Library to acquire to track circulation (e.g. Polaris, 

collectionHQ). 

o Technology tools for the Library to acquire or use more efficiently to reduce 

staff time required for collection development. 

o Appropriate balance of staff time on collection development and collection 

promotion. 

o Areas of the collection to promote (topics as well as formats – DVDs, 

audiobooks, etc). 

o Specific ways to promote the collection, both at the Library and also online – 

through the website, Facebook page, etc. How can patrons promote the 

collection to each other to alleviate staff time? 
 

JANUARY 2014 – DECEMBER 2014: DEVELOP AND FOLLOW AN IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 

• Develop an implementation plan for a new collection promotion strategy. Consider 

the following: 

o When will technology tools be acquired? Who will use them? How will 

people be trained? 

o If new data about circulation is being tracked, who will analyze and report 

out on the data? To whom will they report? What essential questions is the 

data meant to answer? 

o How will staff reallocate their time for collection promotion? How will they 

report out on this change? 

o What strategies will staff use to actively promote the collection? Who will be 

responsible for carrying them out? How will you track the effectiveness of 

these strategies? 

• Follow implementation plan, and review progress on a semi-annual or annual basis. 

MEASUREMENT:  

• Circulation stats of materials being actively promoted. 

• Change in proportion of # staff hours spent on collection development and 

collection promotion. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



14 

 

OBJECTIVE 1.5 

INSTALL A DRIVE-UP DROP-BOX AT THE LIBRARY. 

ACTIVITIES: 

SEPTEMBER – DECEMBER 2013: IDENTIFY FUNDING MECHANISM FOR DROP-BOX 

• Explore funding options for drop-box and determine the most feasible to pursue. 
 

JANUARY – JULY 2014 – FUNDING, PLANNING 

• Secure funding for drop-box. 

• Obtain plans and estimates for all construction work. 

• Make logistical plan for servicing the drop-box. 
 

AUGUST – NOVEMBER 2014 –INSTALL 

• Install drop-box. 

• Implement logistical plan and change as needed. 

MEASUREMENT:  

• # of items returned in drop-box compared to inside return. 

• Patron feedback about drop-box. 

OBJECTIVE 1.6:  

IMPLEMENT A TWO-WAY CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT PLAN FOR STAFF 

THAT INCLUDES 1) ANNUAL AND MONTHLY TRAINING AND 2) REGULAR 

ATTENTION TO STAFF MORALE, SCHEDULES, AND WORKLOAD. 

ACTIVITIES: 

JANUARY – JUNE 2013 (QUICK WIN): INFORMAL ASSESSMENT OF STAFF NEEDS 

• Hold regular conversations with staff to discuss staff morale, schedules, and 

workload. Identify key areas that need to be addressed. 

 



15 

 

JULY 2013 – DECEMBER 2013 AGENDA AND ACTION ITEMS 

• Set a year-long agenda of what to address in training, with some flexibility for things 

that “crop up”. Coordinate with other strategic plan objectives that may require 

training. 

• Address staff needs that come up in assessment with appropriate action from 

Director or Department Heads. 

• Work with Department Heads to develop staff schedules that allow for adequate off-

desk time for staff to accomplish their day-to-day work responsibilities that are not 

related to customer service. 

JANUARY 2014 AND ONGOING: FEEDBACK AND IMPROVEMENT; TRAINING 

• Retain a consultant to conduct a pay survey of the Library compared with other 

libraries. Include an assessment of proportion of full- and part-time employees, and 

implications for employee retention. 

• Continue to gather feedback from staff about how well their schedules meet their 

needs for providing customer service and accomplishing their work, as well as other 

aspects of staff morale and workload. 

• For annual in-service training: 

o Determine a time, place, and format for annual in-service. 

o Promote in-service to staff and build excitement. 

o Develop a customer service standard for the Library as the basis of training. 

o Bring in a customer service trainer to provide customer service training. 

• Values training: 

o Address values (from Strategic Plan) one by one during different mini-

trainings.  

o Before the mini-training, provide staff a way to give their anonymous 

feedback on each value (How does Library support? How doesn’t it 

support?). 

o Change Library policies and procedures to address most compelling needs 

that come up in feedback.  

o Provide mini-training to help employees more fully embrace the Values. 

• Cultural awareness training: 

o Set a cultural awareness standard to be the basis of training. 

o Assess cultural awareness needs among staff. 

o Conduct training in-house or bring in a cultural awareness trainer (possibly 

same as customer service trainer). 

o Integrate customer service, cultural awareness, and values standards into 

hiring and staff review process. 

o Provide cross-training to staff on different departmental jobs, as needed. 

 

 



16 

 

MEASUREMENT:  

• # of staff attending in-service. 

• Staff feedback from in-service. 

• # of mini-trainings held. 

• Staff feedback from Values surveys. 

• Attitudes of staff about appropriate balance of schedule and workload. Overall staff 

morale. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



17 

 

GOAL 2: INCREASE AWARENESS OF LIBRARY VALUE AND VIBRANCY 

OBJECTIVE 2.1 (PRIORITY) 

DEVELOP A NEW BRAND FOR THE LIBRARY AND ADHERE TO BRAND 

DEVELOPMENT BEST PRACTICES.  

ACTIVITIES:  

 JANUARY – JUNE 2014: DEVELOP BRAND 

• Once Marketing and Development Coordinator begins (see Objective 3.1), 

determine what the Library’s brand message should be. 

• Develop a logo and tag line, color schemes, fonts, etc. as part of the brand. 

• Consider variations on the brand for different audiences (e.g. youth, teen, adult). 

• Determine a set of brand development best practices for the Library to follow. 

MEASUREMENT:  

• # of best practices consistently followed. 

• # people in Troy who can identify the Library’s tag line and logo. 

OBJECTIVE 2.2 (PRIORITY) 

DEVELOP A COMPREHENSIVE PROMOTIONAL PLAN FOR LIBRARY SERVICES, 

RESOURCES, AND PROGRAMS, WITH PARTICULAR FOCUS ON THE LIBRARY’S 

DIGITAL SERVICES THAT BRING THE LIBRARY TO PEOPLE. 

ACTIVITIES:  

 SEPTEMBER – DECEMBER 2013 (QUICK WIN): ESTABLISH THE BASELINE 

• Identify and informally assess the Library’s current promotional approaches, 

including promotional activities started within this strategic plan. 

• Present this assessment to the new Marketing and Development Coordinator (see 

Objective 3.1) to bring him/her up-to-speed on current Library promotional 

activities. 

 



18 

 

JANUARY – JUNE 2014: DEVELOP AUDIENCE-SPECIFIC PROMOTIONAL PLAN 

• Identify key audiences to target for potential growth, including current and non-

users. Start from the audience assessments done in this strategic planning process. 

• Identify needs of those audiences that are within the Library’s mission to meet. 

Focus particularly on the Library’s digital services such as e-books and online 

databases that could be promoted as ways the Library comes to people. 

• Match current the Library services, resources, and programs to the needs. 

• Identify the best marketing channels to reach audiences. 

• Develop a promotional plan to market to those audiences. Build off of work done in 

other promotional and partnership-related objectives within this plan. 

 

JULY 2014 AND ONGOING: IMPLEMENT AND EVALUATE PROMOTIONAL PLAN 

• Implement and evaluate overall promotional plan. 

• Coordinate promotional plan with work done under Goal 1 of this strategic plan 

(excel at user experience). 

• Consider the following areas for promotion: 

o Entertainment resources. 

o Technology assistance and resources, particularly things that bring the 

Library to people, rather than requiring that people come to the Library. 

o Teen space. 

o User-specific resources such as ESL (talk time, databases), homeschoolers, 

special needs. 

o Specific cultural or ethnic communities who derive value from the Library. 

• Create a process/channel for staff to get their programs promoted. Ensure that all 

programs are promoted consistently and with the brand/message determined in 

Objective 2.1. 

• Develop mechanisms for continuous feedback loops from users. 

MEASUREMENT:  

• # of audiences identified. 

• # of marketing channels used to reach audiences. 

• # of people attending programs, circulation stats, usage stats. 

• # of staff-run programs promoted through appropriate channels. 

• Increased community awareness of Library services, resources, and programs. 

• Increased use of the Library. 

 



19 

 

OBJECTIVE 2.3 (PRIORITY):  

DEVELOP ACTIVE COMMUNICATION CHANNELS THROUGH EMAIL AND SOCIAL 

MEDIA. 

ACTIVITIES: 

JANUARY – JUNE 2013 (QUICK WIN): START TRACKING E-NEWSLETTER USE THROUGH 

EMAIL MARKETING MANAGEMENT SYSTEM 

• Set up an email marketing management system (e.g. Constant Contact, iContact, 

MailChimp). Use a system that allows you to: 

o Design your email templates, insert the Library logo, etc. with the system. 

o Create multiple emailing lists. 

o Track “opens” and “clicks” for emails. 

o Transfer current e-newsletter email database to the email marketing 

management system and use the management system to send out the e-

newsletter and track response rates. 

• Begin sending the Library e-newsletter through this system and track opens and 

click-through rates. 

 

JULY – DECEMBER 2013: EXPERIMENT WITH ONE CUSTOMIZED EMAIL UPDATE 

• Determine one kind of email update for users to sign up for (e.g. “Events”, “Library 

Tips & Tricks”, “New Releases in Adult Fiction”, “Books of the Month for 

Preschoolers”). 

• Advertise the email update through the current e-news. 

• Begin sending emails through this customized list. 

• Track sign-ups and responses to determine success of customized list. 

 

JULY 2014 AND ONGOING: AGGRESSIVE EMAIL AND SOCIAL MEDIA COMMUNICATION 

• Based on promotional plan, develop a plan for email and social media 

communication with Library audiences. 

• Consider ways to foster multi-directional communication (Library to users, users to 

Library, users to users). 

MEASUREMENT:  

• # of recipients on e-newsletter and customized email. 

• % increase in # of recipients over time. 

• % open emails, % click on emails. 

• # of people communicated to through social media channels. 

 



20 

 

OBJECTIVE 2.4:  

WORK WITH SENIOR CENTER AND SENIOR HOUSING MANAGERS TO INFORM 

SENIORS OF LIBRARY SERVICES. 

ACTIVITIES:  

 JANUARY – JUNE 2013 (QUICK WIN): MAKE CONTACTS 

• Contact Troy senior centers, assisted living and other senior housing managers to 

ask if they are interested in informing seniors of Library services. 

• Create database for record keeping. 

 

JULY 2013 AND ONGOING: INFORM AND STAY CONNECTED 

• Schedule group tours for seniors through centers and housing managers. 

• Develop Library tour and Welcome Packages specifically for seniors (coordinate with 

Objective 1.3). 

• Conduct tours and provide Welcome Packages for seniors. Include a “next steps” or 

“who to talk to next” guide so seniors have a clear idea of what to do next to use 

their Library. 

MEASUREMENT:  

• # of seniors who tour the Library. 

• # of Welcome Packages distributed. 

• # of new Library cards from seniors who tour the Library. 

OBJECTIVE 2.5:  

INFORM PARENTS OF K-12 STUDENTS ABOUT LEARNING EXPRESS LIBRARY 

AND BRAINFUSE, AS WELL AS OTHER LIBRARY RESOURCES TO SUPPORT KIDS’ 

LEARNING  

ACTIVITIES: 

 JANUARY – MARCH 2013 (QUICK WIN): MAKE CONTACTS 

• Contact Troy schools to ask if they are interested in a regular column from the Troy 

Public Library in their monthly parent newsletter.  

• Coordinate with local school media librarians to find ways to support the school 

curriculum and enhance the school’s Library services. 

• Create a spreadsheet of schools, contacts at the school, and the school’s 

interest/involvement for record-keeping. 



21 

 

APRIL 2013 AND ONGOING: INFORM AND STAY CONNECTED 

• Find out preferred format and deadlines from all participating schools, and 

determine a format/schedule for monthly column based on that. 

• Determine a clear focus and format for the column. For example, a “Rad Resources” 

column that primarily features different aspects of the Library’s educational 

databases, but can also highlight other resources offered by the Library that are of 

interest to parents. 

• Write a monthly column for newsletters. 

• Routinely gather feedback from informal conversations with Library parents, Troy 

Public Library librarians, and school librarians/teachers about what resources are of 

most interest. Write about those resources. 

MEASUREMENT:  

• Increase in usage stats of educational databases after promoting through 

newsletters. 

• # of schools with column in newsletter. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



22 

 

GOAL 3: DEVELOP A ROBUST INFRASTRUCTURE FOR COMMUNITY SUPPORT AND 

PARTNERSHIP 

OBJECTIVE 3.1 (PRIORITY) 

FORM A DEVELOPMENT TEAM AT THE LIBRARY TO AGGRESSIVELY PURSUE 

INNOVATIVE PARTNERSHIPS AND SUPPORT OPPORTUNITIES WITH 

COMMUNITY MEMBERS, ORGANIZATIONS, AND BUSINESSES. 

ACTIVITIES: 

 JANUARY 2013 – DECEMBER 2013: FORM DEVELOPMENT TEAM 

• Make three critical hires to form a new Development Team for the Library: 

o Full-time Marketing and Development Coordinator to identify and pursue 

outside sources of funding to supplement Library millage, and to promote 

and market the Library. 

o Part-time assistant to the Library Director to help with development activities 

and day-to-day Library operations so the director is free to pursue 

community and business partnerships aggressively. 

o Part-time volunteer coordinator to manage a robust volunteer program that 

focuses on bringing in community experts who can serve as highly skilled 

volunteers and free staff time for Library operations. 

• The Development Team is designed to aggressively explore and pursue partnership 

opportunities that can support a more sustainable and robust Library. 

• Identify key stakeholders for the Library to engage in meaningful, win-win support 

opportunities. For example, schools, stay-at-home parents seeking to keep resumes 

active, businesses, expert volunteers, strong Library users and supporters who can 

volunteer to help accomplish Library initiatives 

• Based on those identifications, pursue other objectives under this Goal. 

MEASUREMENT: 

• Appropriate staff hired within time frame. 



23 

 

OBJECTIVE 3.2 (PRIORITY) 

EXPAND AND STRENGTHEN PARTNERSHIPS WITH TROY AND REGIONAL 

BUSINESSES. 

ACTIVITIES: 

 JANUARY 2014 – JUNE 2014: SET THE PLAN 

• Develop a database of current and prospective business partnerships to track 

relationships and activities with different businesses. 

• Work with City of Troy Community Affairs and Troy Chamber of Commerce to 

identify potential business partnerships. 

• Develop a pitch that the Library can give to businesses on win-win partnership 

opportunities. 

• What kinds of partnerships have worked well in the past? 

• How have partnerships benefited businesses? The Library? 

• What are some additional ideas for events, cross-promotions, services, etc.? 

 

JULY 2014, AND ONGOING: BUILD CONTACTS AND PARTNERSHIPS 

• Identify 8-10 businesses to contact for partnerships. Identify the best method to 

contact each (e.g. third-party introduction, existing relationship). 

• Contact businesses to see if they would like to partner with the Library. 

• Cultivate partnerships through appropriate events, cross-promotions, shared 

services, etc. 

• Follow up afterward with informal assessments of how things went, and projected 

next steps. 

• Return to businesses on a regular basis for repeat events (e.g. turning an event into 

something that happens annually). 

• Over time, develop a clear process for business partnership development, so it 

becomes easy for both the Library and businesses to engage in mutually beneficial 

partnerships. 

• Create a Library “menu” of resources geared towards businesses to highlight what 

the Library has to offer businesses in Troy. 



24 

 

MEASUREMENT: 

• # of business partnerships. 

• # of businesses contacted. 

• # of events, commitments (posted fliers, for example) made between the Library 

and businesses. 

• Amount of revenue generated or donation/sponsorship through Friends of the Troy 

Public Library due to business partnerships. 

OBJECTIVE 3.3 (PRIORITY) 

WORK WITH THE FRIENDS OF THE TROY PUBLIC LIBRARY TO INCREASE 

MEMBERSHIP, REACH FUNDRAISING GOALS, AND PLAN SPECIFIC PROGRAMS 

ACTIVITIES: 

 JANUARY – JUNE 2013 (QUICK WINS!): SET A DATE 

• Set a date in coordination with Friends of the Troy Public Library and Troy Chamber 

of Commerce for a business open house at the Library. 

• Support the Friends of the Troy Public Library traveling bags (promotional materials 

at programs). 

• Use Friends of the Troy Public Library brand standards when promoting them 

through programs. 

 

JULY 2013 AND ONGOING: MEMBERSHIP, BUSINESS OPEN HOUSE AND 

COORDINATION 

• Coordinate with Friends of the Troy Public Library on the annual date for Friends 

membership drive. 

• Publicize Friends membership drive at the Library. 

o Consider target markets for membership (e.g. frequent Library users, young 

singles, empty-nesters, families with young children). 

o Create marketing campaigns designed for target market. 

o Coordinate the campaign with the Library’s promotional plan. 

• Assist in the coordination of a business open house at the Library, in partnership 

with Friends of the Troy Public Library and Troy Chamber of Commerce. 

• Coordinate an annual program plan between the Friends of the Troy Public Library 

and Library staff in order to share resources and maximize programming to meet 

community needs. 



25 

 

MEASUREMENT: 

• # of people attending business open house. 

• # of new and renewing Friends members. 

OBJECTIVE 3.4 (PRIORITY): 

DEVELOP A ROBUST VOLUNTEER PROGRAM TO ENGAGE HIGHLY SKILLED 

VOLUNTEERS, LEVERAGING THE EXPERTISE OF THE TROY COMMUNITY. 

ACTIVITIES: 

 JUNE – DECEMBER 2013: INITIAL OUTREACH AND PROJECTS 

• Once volunteer coordinator has been hired, identify 2-3 high priority projects for the 

Library that expert volunteers could assist in. 

• Seek out expert volunteers. 

• Develop and use a process to assess volunteer capacity to align with project needs. 

• Execute projects using expert volunteers. 

• Assess feasibility and next steps. 

 

JANUARY 2014 AND ONGOING: VOLUNTEER PROGRAM DEVELOPMENT 

• Continue to develop the volunteer program. 

• Consider channels to reach volunteers, and engaging a wide scope of volunteers. 

• Develop public recognition opportunities and appreciation events for volunteers. 

• Begin to manage the volunteer activities across the Library departments. 

• Communicate volunteer successes with public and City Council. 

MEASUREMENT: 

• # of expert volunteers engaged. 

• # of volunteer hours. 

• Estimated $ equivalence of volunteer time, particularly with expert volunteers. 

 



26 

 

OBJECTIVE 3.5: 

COLLABORATE REGULARLY WITH CITY OF TROY DEPARTMENTS TO SHARE 

SERVICES AND ENHANCE PROGRAMS. 

ACTIVITIES: 

 JANUARY – JUNE 2013 (QUICK WIN): INITIAL MEETINGS 

• Hold 1-2 informal (e.g. over lunch) meetings with counterparts in other City 

departments to explore departmental needs – in community programming and also 

in internal information use (e.g. a City department may benefit from using Library 

databases they currently don’t know about or don’t know how to use). 

• Identify “low-hanging fruit” collaborations – small-scale activities that would be 

mutually-beneficial to each department – and act on them. For example, including 

Library information in the new resident packets coordinated by Community Affairs 

Department. 

 

 JANUARY – JUNE 2014: TRANSITION TO DEVELOPMENT 

• Transition relationships with City of Troy departments to Marketing and 

Development Coordinator (Objective 3.1). 

• Continue to identify collaborative opportunities. These could include: 

o Opportunities to enhance efficiencies (share internal services, reduce 

duplication of effort). 

o Cross-promotion, referrals. 

o Cross-programming or complementary programming. 

• Collaborate and informally evaluate with counterparts and determine how to 

continue collaboration. 

• Depending on interest and level of success, possibly create a regular (month, 

quarterly) meeting time with City departments to talk about collaborative 

opportunities. This could be an informal lunch meeting, where people share 

perspectives, exciting happenings in their department, or pressing needs they are 

trying to address. Or this could be a formal meeting with agendas set ahead of time 

– an interdepartmental task force of sorts. 

• Attend meetings between City and developers to get word out about the Library. 

• Share collaborative outcomes with City Council and the public. 

MEASUREMENT: 

• # of collaborative ventures completed each year. 

• # of departments in conversation with Library. 

• Specific joint outcomes with other departments. 



27 

 

OBJECTIVE 3.6: 

EXPERIMENT WITH CREATING A MODULAR PLATFORM FOR TAKING LIBRARY 

PROGRAMS AND SERVICES “ON THE ROAD” 

ACTIVITIES: 

 JULY – DECEMBER 2013 (QUICK WIN): POSSIBLE GRANT FUNDING 

• Look into options for grant funding to support this or a similar project. 

• Contact potential funders and talk about the idea. 

• Assess what pilot testing or partnerships need to be done in advance of applying for 

funding. 

 

JANUARY 2014 – AUGUST 2014: APPLY FOR GRANT FUNDING 

• Put together staff team to do grant application, and to be the project team upon 

grant award. 

• Determine audience for the platform (e.g. elementary students, seniors, or 

preschools). Consider the following: 

o The Library needs a relationship with organizations or businesses that serve 

the audience, so the Library can set up a pilot test of the platform. 

o The audience should have a clear use for current Library services. 

o What content would be most useful or needed with the audience and event. 

Do they need to learn how to use the Library? Do they want to supplement a 

special program (birds of prey, anime, creative writing)? 

• Get commitment from organizations that serve those audiences, to be participants 

in the project. 

• Develop an overall project design and write grant applications. Seek outside grant-

writing expertise if needed. 

 

JANUARY 2015 – DECEMBER 2015: IMPLEMENT THE PROJECT 

• Implement the project as outlined in the grant narrative. 

• Pilot test the platform. Evaluate what worked well, what didn’t, and what you would 

want to add or change for the next time. 

• Repeat the process with different audiences or events. In refining the platform, work 

towards a “framework” that can stay the same every time, in which specific content 

is switched.  



28 

 

MEASUREMENT: 

• Amount of grant funding applying for and received. 

• # of platform presentations done. 

• # of people served by platforms. 

• Informal feedback on how useful people find platforms. 

OBJECTIVE 3.7 

WORK WITH CITY MANAGEMENT AND CITY COUNCIL TO SECURE STABLE 

FUNDING FOR THE LIBRARY 

ACTIVITIES: 

 JANUARY 2014 – JUNE 2014: ANALYZE AND DETERMINE LEVELS OF SERVICE FOR THE 

LIBRARY 

• Retain an audience development  consultant to assess community needs and wants 

in terms of Library service. 

o Include levels of service (e.g. # days open a week, hours, etc). 

o Include types of service (ereaders, ebooks, website features, collection 

development, etc). 

• Conduct assessment with a robust and representative sample of the community. 

• Make recommendations for levels and types of services based on assessment. 

• Discuss recommendations with City Management and City Council to determine 

desired levels and types of service for the Library in the future. 

 JULY 2014 – DECEMBER 2014: DEVELOP BUSINESS MODEL 

• With City Council and City Management, determine options for funding different 

aspects of the budget (e.g. what can be supported through grants, donations, 

business partnerships, and what can be supported through a millage). 

• City Council and City Management determine millage rate to support levels and 

types of service identified above. 

 JANUARY 2015 – DECEMBER 2015: SUPPORT AND PROMOTE MODEL 

• City Council and City Management support and promote the Library millage 

referendum. 

• The Library staff continues to seek out other funding options such as grants, 

donations, and partnerships, as outlined in Appendix 1: Current Funding Model and 

Options. 

MEASUREMENT: 

• Data on desired levels and types of services. 

• Budget numbers to support level of service. 



29 

 

STRATEGIC OUTCOMES 

The strategic goals, objectives, and activities are designed to achieve the following outcomes 

for Troy residents, businesses, Library users, and Library staff. 

Goal #1: Excel at User Experience 

Troy residents 

 

• Believe the Library is a cornerstone for education in the community. 

• Believe the Library is a great resource for entertainment.  

• Are confident the Library will be open in the future. 

• Know what resources, services, and programs the Library offers. 

• Feel Library resources can help them in their everyday lives. 

Business 

partners 

• Know the depth and breadth of resources, services, and knowledge 

the Library can offer. 

Troy residents 

and business 

partners 

• See the Library as an active destination for the Troy community. 

Staff 

 

• Believe promotion, PR, and marketing is essential. 

• Actively promote the Library. 
 

Goal #2: Increase Awareness of Library Value and Vibrancy 

Users 

 

• Can easily use online and digital services, even for the first time. 

• Know about upcoming Library events and programs. 

• Know about new Library materials and services. 

• Know how to “use” the Library (e.g. find materials, get librarian help). 

• Feel comfortable approaching staff for help. 

Staff 

 

• Provide consistent and excellent customer service. 

• Have cultural awareness. 

• Are easily approachable. 
 

Goal #3: Build a Robust Infrastructure for Community Support and Partnership 

Users 

 

• Know about Friends of the Troy Public Library. 

• Support Friends of the Troy Public Library through donations and shopping. 

Business 

partners 

• Know how to team up with the Library. 

• Offer great skills and services to Troy through Library partnerships. 

Staff 

 

• Know how to reach out to businesses. 

• Develop relationships with potential new business partners. 

City Council, 

City 

Management, 

and Library 

management 

• Have a shared understanding of the levels and types of service the 

Library should provide to the community. 

• Have a shared understanding of how the Library can feasibly be 

funded. 



30 

 

IMPLEMENTATION 

The Director of the Troy Public Library will be responsible for implementing the 2013-2015 

Strategic Plan, with the help of Library staff and support of the City of Troy. Additionally, the 

strategic planning Task Force that was convened for the purposes of creating this plan will meet 

on a semi-annual basis to review progress on the plan, offer suggestions and assistance, and 

recommend course corrections or changes when needed. 

 

The Troy Public Library millage expires in 2016, and many aspects of this strategic plan 

(particularly Goal #3) are meant to address how the Library can be funded in the future. 

Together, the Library, residents, City Management, and City Council need to determine desired 

levels and types of service for the Library to provide. Additionally, the Library needs to explore 

new funding options through its Development Team created within this strategic plan. Based on 

that, we can extrapolate the necessary millage rate to support the desired level of service, with 

support from other funding options.  

 

The Strategic Plan is designed with a series of “Quick Win” activities that can be achieved 

quickly once the plan is underway. We hope this enables the Library to immediately implement 

portions of the plan while working towards long-term objectives that are broader in scope or 

more difficult to achieve immediately. 

 

The Strategic Plan will be communicated with the community through the City of Troy website; 

Troy Public Library website and Facebook page; quarterly newsletter, Troy Today; and made 

available in paper copies at the Library. We will also communicate out to local media outlets 

about the plan. Additionally, as events, programs, services, etc. are accomplished as part of the 

objectives within the strategic plan, they can be highlighted as working towards the Library’s 

strategic plan, so community members see how the strategic plan is implemented throughout 

2013-2015. 

 



31 

 

APPENDIX MATERIAL 

APPENDIX 1: CURRENT FUNDING MODEL AND OPTIONS 

HOW IS TROY PUBLIC LIBRARY CURRENTLY FUNDED?  

TAX DOLLARS 

• The primary mechanism for public library funding is public tax dollars, per the 

Constitution of the State of Michigan. The Troy Public Library is currently funded by 

a dedicated millage of 0.7 mills through June 30, 2016. 

OTHER SOURCES OF FUNDING FROM THE STATE OF MICHIGAN 

• State Aid (about $25,000 per year. This is used to pay for the Library’s membership 

in the Suburban Library Cooperative, which provides access to MelCat, interlibrary 

loans, delivery of materials, etc). 

• Penal Fines (about $100,000 per year). 

• Personal Property Tax (approximately 10% of the Library’s budget, or $310,000). 

OTHER SOURCES OF REVENUE 

• Fines. 

• Rental items (books, DVDs). 

• Fees (exam proctoring, faxing, printing, copies). 

• Selling Library cards to non-residents ($200/year). 

• Café vending machines. 

• Donations. 

• Art gallery exhibits and display case fees. 

RAISING MONEY THROUGH THE LIBRARY 

WAYS THE LIBRARY CAN RAISE MONEY 

• Planned Gifts. 

• Grants (available grants are used to fund special projects, NOT operating expenses). 

WAYS THE LIBRARY CANNOT RAISE MONEY  

• Solicitation of corporate sponsorships. 

• Solicitation of donations for naming rights. 

• Gifts and donations in exchange for cross promotions. 

• Silent auctions, exchanging goods for money. 



32 

 

ALTERNATIVE STRUCTURES FOR THE LIBRARY 

PUBLIC-PRIVATE PARTNERSHIPS OR MERGING WITH ANOTHER ORGANIZATION 

• Small-scale partnerships between other organizations and the Library could expand 

Library offerings and provide some revenue streams, or at the very least cross-

promotion. 

• Large-scale partnerships have the potential to create a new entity that would be 

governed by representatives from both communities (e.g. City of Troy and the 

partnering organization).  Caution should be used in large-scale partnerships 

because they have the potential to dilute the “public” aspect of the Library. 

PUBLIC, BUT NOT CITY-AFFILIATED, LIBRARY 

• The Library would be governed by a Board of Directors rather than the City of Troy, 

and would be funded, at least in a major degree, through a millage.  

• Offers more flexibility and possible efficiencies in technology, HR, and building; loses 

close integration with City operations.  

• Opens doors to fundraising and sponsorships that are not legal for the Library in its 

current structure. 

THE FRIENDS OF THE TROY PUBLIC LIBRARY 

• The Friends of the Troy Public Library are a non-profit, 501©3 organization.  

• The Friends of the Troy Public Library is an independent organization, with its own 

Board of Directors. 

• The Friends of the Troy Public Library is a volunteer-run, volunteer-led organization.  

• The Troy Public Library Director does not have jurisdiction over the Friends of the Troy 

Public Library. 

POTENTIAL OPTIONS TO EXPLORE AS PART OF THE LIBRARY’S BUSINESS MODEL 

• The Library can pursue aggressive partnerships and sponsorships with Troy businesses. 

The Library would need to include the Friends of the Troy Public Library as the entity 

accepting donations to use towards the Library. 

• The Library can use expert volunteerism by expanding the current volunteer program so 

experts can be sought after and vetted to perform high-level projects with the Library 

(e.g. examining possibilities for improved wayfinding, teaching classes, doing lecture and 

discussion groups). 

• The Library can increase coordination with the Friends, to increase membership, 

support, and shopping at the Friends bookshop in the Library. 

• The Library can seek for grant funds to fund special projects. 
 



33 

 

 

APPENDIX 2: COMMUNITY SURVEY REPORT 

METHODOLOGY 

In October 2012, the Troy Public Library conducted a community-wide, online survey about 

Library use, knowledge, and perceptions, in order to inform the strategic plan. Our primary 

sampling method was through an email sent to the City’s distribution list for Community Affairs. 

The list has approximately 10,000 emails on it. The distribution list represents a broad cross-

section of people who live and work in Troy. People who signed up to be on this list were 

interested in receiving information and communication from the City generally, and are not 

specifically aligned with the Library.  

A press release was delivered to Troy news outlets (print and online) briefly describing the 

survey, with a link to take the survey online. This method was meant to reach additional Troy 

residents who may not directly connect themselves to the City via opting into a distribution list. 

Only 2.5% of responses came from this sample. 

RESPONDENTS 

• 97.5% of responses came from the primary sampling method of the community affairs 

and communications distribution list.  

• 86% of respondents live in Troy. 9% of respondents work in Troy but do not live in Troy. 

• Respondents represented a good cross-section of Library users, by frequency of use. 

• Respondents represented a broad spectrum of income levels. 

• White (not Hispanic) race/ethnicity is overrepresented in this survey. Asian is 

underrepresented and Black or African-American is slightly underrepresented. This can 

be determined by comparing the race/ethnicity percentages on the survey with data 

from the 2010 Census for Troy. 

 

 

 

 

 

 



34 

 

Graph 1: Frequency of Visits (Library and website) 

 

Table 1: Income 

Income (family) # % 

$0-$49,999 108 17% 

$50,000-$99,999 248 38% 

$100,000-$199,999 247 38% 

$200,000+ 45 7% 

Table 2: Race/ethnicity 

Race/ethnicity # % 2010 Census 

White - Not Hispanic or Latino 646 87% 73.0% 

Asian 50 7% 19.0% 

White - Hispanic or Latino 23 3% 2.0% 

Other 11 1% 

 American Indian or Alaskan Native 8 1% 0.2% 

Black or African-American 8 1% 4.0% 

Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander 0 0% 0.0% 



35 

 

FINDINGS 

ATTITUDES ABOUT THE LIBRARY 

Attitude about Library’s future (graph 4) is incongruent with attitudes toward value of Library 

(graph 2). That is, 89% of people feel the Library is extremely or very important, but only 65% 

think the Library will continue and even grow. It seems that people believe the Library is 

important but are somewhat uncertain about its future. 

Graph 2: Importance of Library 

 

Graph 3: Millage 

 



36 

 

Graph 4: Future of Library 

 

From open-ended response, three main attitudes towards the Library emerged: 

1. Users – use often, Library is a mainstay; support and want to help. 

2. Supporters – Library is important to the community; many used to use but under 

different life circumstances (e.g. when kids young, when retired). 

3. Unnecessary – Library is not a needed public good, often because of technology changes 

and greater availability of books and resources digitally. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



37 

 

KNOWLEDGE GAP 

SERVICES AND PROGRAMS PEOPLE DON’T KNOW ABOUT 

People don’t know about many Library services (shown in blue, compared to programs shown 

in red), particularly in new technology. The Library’s technology services are its best kept secret. 

Graph 5: Services and programs people don’t know about 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



38 

 

FOR PEOPLE WHO DIDN’T KNOW ABOUT IT, WHAT % ARE FREQUENT USERS? 

On average, about 30% of people who don’t know about a given program or service are people 

who use the Library at least 2-3x/month. 

Graph 6: Of those who “don’t know” what percent are frequent users 

 

 

COMMUNICATION 

From open-ended comments on how people found out about or stay up-to-date on the Library: 

• Respondents’ general attitude is that they don’t hear enough about the Library – they 

need more communication. 

• Many recommended email lists for various announcements (new books, movies, 

programs, and events). 



39 

 

Table 3: How people become users 

 

How people become users 

Born using libraries 

Seek it out for a specific reason and have good experience 

Hear from others 

Table 4: How people hear about the Library 

How hear about Library 

Friends and neighbors 

Local papers 

Check online 

Troy Today 

City emails (Library emails?) 

Notices at the Library (hit and miss) 

Facebook mentioned a few times 

USAGE TRENDS 

WHAT PEOPLE COME TO THE LIBRARY FOR 

Table 5: Why people come to the Library (ordered by most to least important for driving visits).  

 

 

 

 

 

When come to the Library, there to … Never Rarely Sometimes Often 

Pick up or drop off materials 3% 5% 21% 71% 

Let my children use the library 46% 7% 15% 32% 

Learn something new 20% 1% 36% 23% 

Study, work, or read on my own 36% 20% 24% 19% 

Get help on something 29% 29% 33% 8% 

Attend a program 33% 30% 28% 9% 

Socialize, interact with others 52% 24% 17% 6% 



40 

 

Additional reasons to visit (from “other” option) 

• Volunteer. 

• Using computers or internet. 

• Shop for used books or donate books. 

• Genealogy, databases. 

• Attend meetings. 

KNOW FRIENDS OF THE TROY PUBLIC LIBRARY 

Table 6: Awareness of the Friends of the Troy Public Library 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Do you know what Friends of the 

Troy Public Library is? % 

Yes 71% 

No 16% 

Not sure 12% 



41 

 

USE OF PROGRAMS, SERVICES 

Graph 7: Use of programs and services 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



42 

 

HOW IS THE LIBRARY DOING? 

KEEPING PATRONS UP-TO-DATE 

Graph 8: Staying up-to-date 

 

STAFF 

Graph 9: Opinions of staff 

 



43 

 

REASONS NOT TO COME 

Table 7: Factors that prevent from using Library 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Table 8: Additional factors, from “other” section 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What prevents you from using the Library? % 

I have to wait to get the books and movies I want. 10% 

The Library's location is out of the way. 8% 

The Library doesn't have book and movies I'm 

interested in. 
7% 

It is inconvenient. 6% 

The system is too complicated. I want to have books 

and movies just "one click" away. 
2% 

Poor customer service from Library staff. 2% 

Factor 
# times 

mentioned 

Not applicable, use all the time, nothing prevents 89 

Alternatives to Library 55 

Get everything online 28 

Buy or rent own books, ebooks, movies, etc 18 

Use ereader now, so don’t use Library 7 

Use another library 2 

Too busy 36 

Don’t have a need for Library 33 

Hours problematic 32 

Other 67 

e.g.: too lazy, Library disorganized, parking an 

issue, life circumstances prevent 



44 

 

Graph 10: Alternatives to the Library 

 

POTENTIAL SERVICES 

POTENTIAL SERVICES TO IMPROVE THE LIBRARY 

Graph 11: Potential services 

 



45 

 

SERVICES REQUESTED IN “OTHER” SECTION 

Very common 

Drive up drop-off box. 

Rework hours. 

- Open on Friday – find different day to close. 

- Hope to expand hours. 

 

Somewhat common 

Lower overdue fines. 

Concerns with mailing model and credit/debit cost – would this be good value for cost? 

 

COMMUNICATING VALUE 

REACTIONS TO DIFFERENT VALUE STATEMENTS 

In an experimental design, in addition to being asked about each of these statements at the end 

of the survey, respondents were asked (at random) one of these 4 statements halfway through 

the survey. Immediately following they were asked how important the Library is. We were 

looking to see if different messages had “priming” effects – did the Library seem more 

important when they were primed to think about education, versus prosperity, versus space, 

etc. 

In a variety of statistical tests, the effects of messaging were consistent, but small, and correlate 

with the simple “agree-disagree” graph on the right. 

Most effective value statements, in order: 

1. Education 

2. Cost-effective OR Space 

3. Prosperous 

 

 

 

 



46 

 

Graph 12: Attitudes about library value statements 

 

AUDIENCE SEGMENTS 

DIFFERENCES BETWEEN USERS AND NON-USERS 

Income is surprisingly flat. Most incomes are well-represented at the Library. The only 

exception is the highest bracket ($200,000+) which drops in attendance at “once a week or 

more”. Keep in mind the sample size at this bracket is small (45 people total). 

Graph 13: Income and frequency 

 



47 

 

Again, race/ethnicity well-represented at the Library. It does seem that non-white races tend to 

have more representation at “once a week or more” than “never or 1-2x/hr”. This is shown 

more clearly in the condensed chart below. 

Graph 14: Race/ethnicity and frequency 

 

Graph 15: Race/ethnicity and frequency, condensed 

 

Note: We anticipated running a cross-section with citizenship, voter registration, and voting 

behavior questions. However, few respondents answers these questions in anything but the 

positive, so there is not enough data to work with.



48 

 

SPECIAL REPORT: NON-USERS 

 

This page outlines data from the survey specific to non-users: those who reported never 

coming to the Library. 

• 8% of survey respondents (74; removed people who don’t live in Troy). 

• Never come to Library. 

• With a handful of exceptions, never come to website. 

• Of those who know about Library services, resources, or programs, almost none have 

used them. 

• 23% report that one thing that prevents them from using the Library is that it is 

inconvenient. 

• Slightly higher income (more people in $100-200K range than $50-100K: 48% and 25% 

respectively, vs 38% and 38%). 

• Almost exclusively white (61 out of 63 reporting race, indicated “white not Hispanic”). 

 

Communication: 

• 54% never heard of many Library services and resources. 

• 36% never heard of Library’s programs . 

 

Support: 

• 54% think things like debit/credit cards at the Library, receiving materials through the 

mail, or borrowing e-readers would “Really improve the Library”. 

• 70% think these things would either “really improve the Library” or “moderately 

improve the Library”. 

• 22% believe the Library is extremely important to Troy. 

• 29% believe the Library is not important to Troy. 

• 33% believe the Library millage is a good use of tax dollars. 

• 36% believe it is not a good use of tax dollars. 

 

• 24% agree or strongly agree (same breakdown for each) that … 

o The Library doesn’t offer anything they can’t just get themselves. 

o When they want a book, they buy it. 

o They don’t need the Library for research, because they get what they need 

online. 

• 76% agree or strongly agree that a public library is  

o An open community space for people to enjoy. 

o Supports and enhances education for the community. 

o Attracts businesses and homeowners, making Troy more prosperous. 

o Cost-effective way for people to get education and entertainment materials. 



49 

 

SPECIAL REPORT: FOUR AUDIENCE SEGMENTS 

 

Library Lovers  

Users/Supporters, 427 

Criteria: Use once/mo +, Library is extremely important and millage good use of tax dollars. 

Income: Similar to Advocates: middle to high ranges. 

Race/ethnicity: More diverse (85% white, 6% Asian) 

Use: Use everything more often than other groups (with exception of coming for children). 

More likely than Barebones users to have: reserved books, get help from librarians, do 

research, go to children’s programs, and go to book groups. 

Communication: Most updated of Library materials, programs, and services than any other 

group. Follow overall trends of being more updated on programs, events, services; less on 

books; even less on movies. More likely to know about assistance with e-readers than other 

groups. 

Opinions: High opinions of staff. 

Other potential services: Top-rated service is borrowing e-readers. One of least enthusiastic 

groups about mailing materials. 

 

Barebones Users  

Users/Non-Supporters, 96 

Criteria: Use once/mo +, Library is very, somewhat, or not important OR millage okay or not 

good use of tax dollars. 

Income: Split. Of all groups, has the highest proportion in “high” income (13% make $200K+) 

but also has highest proportion in low-middle income (45% make $50-$100K). 

Race/ethnicity: Highest proportion of Asian (18%, compared to 7% average for groups). 

Use: Second highest reason to come is to bring their children to the Library, but not necessarily 

for programs (programs rank in 5th of 7 reasons). 

Communication: More updated on movies than any other group. Slightly less informed on 

Library offerings than Library Lovers. 

Opinions: Moderate to low opinions of staff. 

Prevent from coming: Wait time for materials. See going online as alternative to using Library. 

Other potential services: Top-rated service is mailing materials. 

 



50 

 

Advocates  

Non-user supporters, 123 

Criteria: Use 2x/year or less, Library is extremely important and millage good use of tax dollars. 

Use: 21% (26) never visited Library; but 14% accessed the website 1/month or more. 

Income: Similar to Library Lovers: middle to high ranges. 

Race/Ethnicity: Similar to Critics. 92-93% white non-hispanic. 

Use: More people from this group come to the Library to get help than any other group. 

Communication: Similar pattern to Library Lovers, but lower % updated overall. Like Critics, 

don’t know about e-books, digital music, or programs on using computers; but do know 

“classic” Library offerings like books, public computers, research, and children’s programs. 

Opinions: Highest opinions of staff. 

Prevent from coming: Location and “other”. See buying materials themselves and going online 

as alternatives to using Library. 

Other potential services: Most positive towards everything; top-rated service is mailing 

materials. 

 

Critics  

Non-Users/Non-Supporters, 139 

Criteria: Use 2x/year or less, Library is very, somewhat, or not important OR millage okay or not 

good use of tax dollars. 

Use: 45% (62) never visited Library; but 9% accessed the website 1/month or more. 

Income: Slightly higher overall. 

Race/Ethnicity: Similar to Advocates. 92-93% white non-Hispanic. 

Use: Same as Barbones Users – 2nd highest reason to come is to bring their children to the 

Library. 

Communication: Similar pattern to Library Lovers, but very low % updated overall.  Like 

Advocates, don’t know about e-books, digital music, or programs on using computers; but do 

know “classic” Library offerings like books, public computers, research, and children’s 

programs. 

Opinions: Lowest opinions of staff. 

Prevent from coming: Inconvenient. See many alternatives to the Library (buy themselves, go 

online). 

Other potential services: Top-rated service is mailing materials. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



51 

 

APPENDIX 3: FOCUS GROUP REPORT 

METHODOLOGY 

We held four separate focus groups, with different participants, in November 2012 to discuss 

their opinions about the Library. Discussions focused on rating different aspects of the Library, 

discussing how people stay informed about the Library, and describing a vision of the future of 

the Library. Specifically, participants were taken through the following exercises: 

1. Rate whether you agree or disagree with the following statements about the Library. 

Then discuss as a group whether it was an easy decision to agree or disagree, or if it was 

hard to decide, and why. 

• The Library is easy for people to use. 

• The Library is a welcoming place for everyone. 

• It’s easy to find things at the Library. 

• The Library website is really useful. 

• I usually know what programs and events are going on at the Library. 

• I usually know when new books or DVDs hit the shelves. 

• I usually know about the Library’s newest technology service. 

2. Given a list of Library materials, programs/events, and resources/services, identify 

which are the “highlight” of the Library. 

3. What would you like to see the Library start doing? Stop doing? Continue doing? 

4. How do you find out about what’s going on at the Library? 

Check the appropriate column for each. Often Sometimes Rarely or Never 

Talking to Library staff    

Fliers or posters at the Library    

Library e-newsletters    

Facebook    

Library website    

Reading about the Library in the news    

Word of mouth (friends, family, coworkers)    

 

 

 

 



52 

 

PARTICIPANTS 

Respondents from the community survey (Appendix 2) were asked if they would like to 

participate in a focus group at the Library. 168 people indicated interest. We emailed those 

people to sign up for one of four different time slots.  We ended up with 45 people signed up 

for four different focus groups. 

We had a total of 39 participants show up for the focus groups. Because no non-users opted in 

to participating in the focus group, we had three focus groups of frequent Library users (come 

every 2-3 weeks or more) and one focus group of less frequent Library users (come once a 

month or less). Each focus group had between 8 and 12 people in it. 

FINDINGS 

ATTITUDES ABOUT THE LIBRARY 

• The Library is easy for people to use. Yes, but only if you’ve used it before and know 

what you’re doing. New people may have a hard time using the Library. Staff is very 

helpful and often offers assistance. If someone doesn’t know what to do but is able 

to talk to a staff member, they will likely have a very good experience. 

• The Library is a welcoming place for everyone. Yes. 

• It’s easy to find things at the Library. Yes, if you have experience. It’s not intuitive. 

Librarians and staff are very helpful. 

• The Library website is really useful. Yes, for using the catalog to find books, and to 

renew books. Other than that, the website is confusing – it’s unclear where to access 

things and the electronic resources are not highlighted well. Also, several people 

cited problems with using MelCat. It is not well-integrated on the Library’s website. 

• I usually know what programs and events are going on at the Library. If they know 

they’re interested in a type of program, they can figure out when and where it is. 

But overall feeling that communication about programs and events is passive – the 

Library is not actively reaching out to them to let them know what’s happening. 

• I usually know when new books or DVDs hit the shelves. No. Again, it’s something 

they have to look up. Many do not know that they can use a search filter to find new 

books and DVDs in the catalog – this is not intuitive. 

• I usually know about the Library’s newest technology service. Yes and No. Feel it is 

easier to keep up on new technology services than on other things, but again they 

feel they seek out the information rather than the Library giving it to them. 

 

 

 



53 

 

LIBRARY HIGHLIGHTS 

In general, the following items were mentioned frequently by focus group participants: 

• Books. 

• Ebooks. 

• Movies and audiobooks. 

• Children’s program. 

• Online research and resources (e.g. databases). But people generally didn’t know much 

about these. They sounded interesting and useful to them. 

START, STOP, CONTINUE 

Start 

• More communication. 

• Getting more info to users about online databases and resources. 

• Expert talks and forums from community members; more chances to interact. 

• Drop box. 

 

Stop 

• Being closed on Fridays. 

 

Continue 

• Ebooks and technology services – grow this! 

• Great programs. 

• Great collection. 

HOW THEY FIND OUT ABOUT WHAT’S GOING ON 

The TOP of the table are the MOST COMMON ways to hear about the Library. 

How often (1 is high) do 

you hear about the Library 

Through what channel 

1.5 Library website 

1.86 Reading about it in the news 

1.94 Enewsletter 

2.03 Fliers or posters at the Library 

2.05 Talking to librarians 

2.25 Word of mouth (friends, family) 

2.71 Facebook 

 

 



54 

 

SUMMARY 

 

Overall, we learned from the focus groups that communication from the Library is critical. 

People enjoy what the Library has to offer, but they only know the “tip of the iceberg” in terms 

of the services and resources available to them. People typically learn about the Library by 

actively seeking out information. There is great opportunity for the Library to build a robust 

communication network with users and non-users alike, to increase awareness and use of the 

Library. 

 

Additionally, the focus groups told us that people are excited about integrating technology into 

the Library. They want to see a Library that embraces e-books and mobile websites and digital 

downloads. To focus group participants, the Library has a strong role to play in the community, 

for years to come. 

 



55 

 

APPENDIX 4: COMPARISON OF TROY PUBLIC LIBRARY TO PEER LIBRARIES 

 

Statistical Comparison of Area Libraries (2011-2012) 

Library 

Population 

Served 

Annual 

Budget 

Circulation 

Statistics 

Annual 

Visits 

# of hrs 

open/ 

week 

# of Days open 
 

Day(s) closed 

Staff 

     FT           PT         Sub 

Director Salary 

Birmingham 

31,481 

$3,176,112 721,380 325,976 67 7 

 

     14            31            14 $86,800 

Bloomfield 

Twp 

41,070 

$5,419,132 894,241 433,033 68.5 7    *19          *32 $115,000 

Brighton 

*39,594 (YR 

2000) 

$1,605,265 526,805 286,412 51 Win: 6 (Thur) 

Sum: 5 (Thur/Sun) 

    *7          *18 $65,650 

Canton 

90,173 

$4,969,210 1,951,445 594,492 72 7     16            61              

18 

$92,000 

Clawson 

11,825 

$476,250 85,530 74,938 40 5  

Win: Fri/Sun Sum: 

Sat/Sun 

      1            12 $64,595 

Madison 

Heights 

29,694 

$530,065 114,789 109,074 56 6 

Sunday 

      3           10                4 $89,388 

Novi 

55,264 

$2,683,487 759,021 371,274 62 Win 

58 Sum 

Win: 7 

Sum: 6 (Sunday) 

     18           52 $73,300-$102,600 

Plymouth 

36,656 

$3,476,000 1,032,560 398,000 67 7      14           56             

5/6 

$105,500 

Rochester 

Hills 

*100,269 (YR 

2000) 

$4,227,000 1,861,311 1,500-

2,000 per 

day 

71 7    *20           *37 $130,915 



56 

 

Library 

Population 

Served 

Annual 

Budget 

Circulation 

Statistics 

Annual 

Visits 

# of hrs 

open/ 

week 

# of Days open 
 

Day(s) closed 

Staff 

     FT           PT         Sub 

Director Salary 

Royal Oak 

57,236 

$2,335,440 300,674 381,849 60 6 

(Sunday) 

     10        27/28 $77,000 

Southfield 

82,532 

$7,926,061 650,000 625,000 67 Win 

63 Sum 

Win: 7 

Sum: 6 (Sunday) 

     28          89 $90,000 

Sterling 

Heights 

129,699 

$2,565,210 614,905 484,259 57.5 6 

(Sunday) 

     16          29                2 $115,175 

Troy 

81,000 

$3,008,495 1,300,000  55 6 

(Friday) 

      6           62                4 $94,860 

Warren 

134,056 

Exp: 

$3,325,443 

Rev: 

$5,800,658 

478,255 326,386 Main 

(WCV): 

Win: 58 

Sum: 54 

Branches 

Avg: 46.3 

Win: 7 

Sum: 6 (Sunday) 

 

Branches: 6 

(Sunday) 

    *11        *22      $91,911 

Westland 

*87,000(YR 

2000) 

$1,797,593 479,386 *221,543 69 7    *8           *24 $78,000 

West 

Bloomfield 

(incl 

Westacres) 

89,656 

$4,860,773 2,785,702 2,500 per 

day 

65 7    *20         *31 n/a 

Royal Oak 

57,236 

$2,335,440 300,674 381,849 60 6 

(Sunday) 

     10        27/28 $77,000 

Southfield 

82,532 

$7,926,061 650,000 625,000 67 Win 

63 Sum 

Win: 7 

Sum: 6 (Sunday) 

     28          89 $90,000 



57 

 

APPENDIX 5: STATE OF THE LIBRARY REPORT 

In consideration of space and formatting, in the Microsoft Word version of this Strategic Plan, the State 

of the Library report is included as a separate PDF. In the printed version of this Strategic Plan, the 

State of the Library report begins on the following page. 



 

Inside the 

Library 

The 

Community 

Broader 

Perspectives 
Case Studies 

Troy Public Library 

State of the Library Report 

Prepared by Erin Gong, July 2012 



Background 

This “State of the Library” report is part of the Troy Public Library’s 2012 strategic planning process. The 

findings of this report will be used as the groundwork for a “Visioning” session with the Strategic Planning Task 

Force, to determine the library’s mission, vision, and values. The report is organized into 4 sections: 

1. Inside the Library. An-depth look into the current state of the library. 

2. The Community. An overview of Troy as a city, community, and place to live and work.  

3. Broader Perspectives. Nationwide trends in libraries, and frameworks for the future of libraries. 

4. Case Studies. A collection of best practices and ideas from other libraries facing challenges similar to 

the Troy Public Library. 

This report was compiled using several information sources: 

• Interviews with Library Staff, 2012. I conducted interviews with 10 library staff (full and part time, in 

varying departments) during June-July 2012. The “Inside the Library” section of this report is informed 

by the patterns that emerged from the interviews, and supported by quotes and some quantitative 

information. 

• Usage statistics, 2008-2012. The “Inside the Library” section is informed by usage statistics from TPL for 

several years of operation, as well as data collected annually from the Michigan Public Library Annual 

Report/State Aid Application (publicly accessible). This data set includes most Michigan public libraries. 

• Library Space Needs Assessment, 2008. This is a report on a space needs assessment and facility study 

conducted for TPL in 2007-2008. The study included a facility assessment and sizing forecast as well as 

community input through interviews. The study informs “Inside the Library” and “The Community”. 

• City of Troy Master Plan, 2008. The Master Plan was prepared through the Planning Commission of the 

City of Troy, to guide city goals, policies, and decision-making. This plan informs “The Community”. 

• Rise and renewal: SEMCOG’s 2040 Forecast, Semscope, Spring 2012. Quarterly publication of SEMCOG, 

Southeast Michigan Council of Governments. This report informs “The Community”. 

• City of Troy Community Survey, 2011. This is a report of research conducted by Ed Sarpolus, Target-

Insyght. It is based on a survey of 400 registered voters city-wide, and it was commissioned by the Troy 

City Council to ascertain acceptable level of service in core city services and determine what services 

citizens are willing to pay for. This report informs “Inside the Library” and “The Community”. 

• Ersi Tapestry Segmentation. This is an online tool for market segmentation analysis. The tool provides 

segment analysis of communities based on zipcode and census information. This report informs “The 

Community”. 

• Various reports on library trends and best practices, cited within this document. These inform “Broader 

Perspectives” and “Case Studies”. 

Note: At a later point in the Strategic Planning process, we will be asking library users and non-users about 

their perceptions and attitudes regarding the library. The initial “State of the Library” report is informed 

through existing reports and recent interviews with library staff. This will help us focus in on the most relevant 

metrics to collect from users and non-users, to make that an efficient, effective, and representative data 

gathering process. 

  



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Key Points: 
• Sustain 2008 usage with 2012 resources. How to do more with less?  

• Traditional tax-based revenue model called into question by economic 

and political forces. What’s our sustainable funding model? 

• Along with public libraries everywhere, TPL faces a shifting landscape 

and must re-define itself. What are we? Where are we going? 

• Staff feels uncomfortable in a time of change. Heavy reliance on part-

time staff hurts retention. Will I have a job in the future? Is this a dead-

end for my career? 

 

33% budget cut in June 2010, from $3.6 million to $2.4 million. 

30% reduction in staff in June 2010, from 13 full-time and 87 part-time 

employees to 6 full-time and 64 part-time employees. 

July 1, 2011 library scheduled to close; saved in 3rd millage election. 

 

Key Points: 
• Attendance is trending back to 2008 levels. 

• Re-starting or creating programs, re-energizing the collection. 

• Youth audience leading the recovery. 

• Staff love the library, their jobs, and their co-workers. 

 

1,229,216 materials in circulation for FY 2011-2012. 

270 programs offered in FY 2011-2012. 

31% increase in number of new library cards in FY 2011-2012, 

 compared with FY 2010-2011. 

The future is bright “This library environment is 

optimistic and outgoing; a lot 

of energy coming from staff 

and patrons.” 

 

“When we open the door in 

the morning, there are at 

least 20 people waiting  

to get in.” 

 

“This is the most cohesive 

staff I’ve ever worked with. 

They genuinely like each other 

and support each other.” 

 

Library staff 

Section 1: Inside the Library 

The future is unclear “At this point, we don’t 

have enough hours and 

enough personnel to get 

back up to our former 

level of programming.” 

 

“Even with good change, 

it’s not always a 

comfortable feeling.” 

 

“A major concern at this 

point about my job is 

being able to keep it.” 

 

Library staff 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Key Points: 
• TPL embraces technology in collections and services. 

• Audience-driven, not just content-driven. 

• TPL is starting social media marketing and strategic  

business partnerships. 

• TPL desires innovation and transformation, ready for change. 

3,000+ e-book circulation for May 2012, the 4th largest in the  

Midwest Collaborative for Library Services. 

3 self-check-out machines newly installed. 

In the 2012 library staff interviews, staff were asked to rate 5  

dimensions of the library. Technology was the highest rated  

dimension (other dimensions were collections, space, programs, and marketing). 

Section 1: Inside the Library 

Moving into the 21
st

 century 
“Everything we do is based 

on our patrons’ wants.” 

 

“The circulation staff knows 

the patrons intimately.” 

 

 “If you look at our history, 

you see a library that came 

from nothing and we’re in 

this archaic building, yet 

we’re still trying to bring 

innovative programs, have 

new ideas on how to get 

people in, and how to better 

ourselves.” 

 

Library Staff 

 

Key Points: 
• Honor and burden of holding one of the most extensive public library 

collections in Michigan. Library resources must be used to store, 

handle, and maintain this collection, limiting flexibility to start or 

expand other programs and services. 

• Outdated building presents a worn out image; lack of space limits 

opportunities and growth. The issue of limited space was strongly 

confirmed by Troy residents in Space Needs Assessment. 

• Innovation and “rapid prototyping” slowed by staff feeling 

overburdened and the inherent structure of city approval processes. 

 

315,222 total items in TPL’s collection, 20th largest collection out of 382 

Michigan libraries reporting in the ’10-’11 public library annual report. 

Lowest rated dimension of the library in the 2012 library staff 

interviews was Space. 

But with some enduring challenges 

“Our displays are on top 

of each other. Our 

stacks are on top of 

patrons.” 

 

 “We don’t have any 

private rooms. Patrons 

complain it’s the noisiest 

library they’ve been in.” 

 

“There’s not always 

enough staff to cover 

what’s going on. There’s 

a really high demand.”  

  

Library Staff 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Section 1: Inside the Library 

Key Points: 
• Diverse patrons, in terms of ethnicity and age. 

• Diverse ways of using the library: want spaces of community  

and spaces of quiet (for all areas - Adult, Youth, and Teen). 

• Large group of core library users and supporters. 

• Public opinion generally in the library’s favor. 

 

72% of Troy residents want to increase funding or keep the same  

levels of funding for the library in 2011 City of Troy Community Survey. 

Vast majority of people interviewed for the Space Needs  

Assessment love the library. “It was difficult for them to talk about  

issues they would like to see changed.” (from the report) 

“We have ethnicities from 

everywhere. All walks of life.” 

 

“Children, high school 

students, business 

professionals, retired auto 

workers, people who need 

internet.” 

 

 “There’s a core group of 

dedicated users, checking out 

100s of things. A loyal bunch.” 

 

Library Staff 

Diverse and dedicated patrons 

Key Points: 
• There are people who could be using and loving the library, but aren’t. 

Who are they? Why don’t they come? How do we reach them? 

• Some have called into question the need/value of the library. How 

does TPL stay relevant? 

• As marketing becomes more important to libraries, TPL faces big 

questions. How do we communicate our value? How do we transform 

divisiveness around the library to connectedness? 

 

3 elections needed before dedicated library millage passes. 

50,880 cardholders in a population of 80,980. 

 

 

 

“The whole closure 

was such a 

conundrum and 

there’s still a 

residual image 

problem because of 

the last-minute 

save.” 

 

“We have to get 

away from the last 

couple of years and 

market ourselves as 

a strong force in the 

community.” 

 

Library Staff 

Unknown non-users, outspoken nay-sayers 



 

 

 

Describing the Library 

In library staff interviews, respondents were asked 

to give 3 words that described the Troy Public 

Library. The word cloud at the right shows all the 

words used by respondents, with bigger words 

indicating that the word or idea expressed by the 

word was mentioned multiple times. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Dimensions of the Library 
 

In library staff interviews, respondents were asked to rate 5 dimensions of the library from 1 to 7. The dimensions 

were Collections, Technology, Space, Programs, and Marketing. On the scale, 1 was low and 7 was high.  

 Collections Technology Space Programs Marketing 

Average 

rating 

5.20 5.65 3.30 4.35 3.95 

Interpretation Strongly rated. 

Staff noted that 

TPL has a 

historically 

strong 

collection that 

saw a dip 

during the 

near-closure. 

Now the library 

is filling in 

those gaps in 

the collection. 

Highest rated. 

Across the board, 

staff felt the library 

excelled in 

providing 

technology in 

services 

(computers, 

internet, classes) 

and in the 

collection (e-books, 

AV). Staff 

commended the 

tech staff for their 

know-how and 

service to patrons. 

Lowest rated. 

Space 

presents a 

major 

challenge to 

meeting 

patron needs. 

Lack of space 

in staff areas 

hinders 

efficiency in 

core library 

tasks. 

Moderately rated. 

Ratings were highly 

varied, with some 

staff giving 

Programs a 1 and 

others giving them 

a 7. Programs 

traditionally were 

strong, but are just 

barely getting back 

since the near-

closure. Staff 

indicated that they 

would like to see 

more variety and 

risk-taking in 

innovative, need-

driven programs. 

Lowly rated. Ratings 

were highly varied 

here as well. High 

ratings came from 

staff who felt recent 

marketing strategies 

were going well. 

Lower ratings came 

from staff who felt 

the library was just 

beginning to think in 

terms of marketing. 

Some staff were 

unsure what was 

going on at the 

library in terms of 

marketing. 

  

Section 1: Deep Dive Staff Interviews 



 

 

The following tables rank 13 comparable Southeast Michigan libraries on major Inputs and Outputs for TPL’s FY 2009-

2010. TPL’s rank is highlighted in black. Looking at the tables from a distance, you can see how TPL compared to other 

libraries, before the budget and staff cuts and near-closure. The cells highlighted in orange show where TPL would rank 

in this listing if we used its 2010-2011 statistics. The orange highlighting shows how TPL’s funding crisis affected the 

library in comparison with their previous ranking. (Note: The data in the orange cells is not TPL’s data – the orange 

highlighting simply demonstrates where TPL would have been ranked with its 2010-2011 numbers). 

 
INPUTS 

 

Population 

served 
Square feet 

Hours 

open 
Employees 

Operating 

Expenditure 
Programs Collection 

Public 

Computers 

1 138247 WPL 124000 SPL 8964 WPL 142 RH 6436196 SPL 1418 WBT 337983 BH 195 SPL 

2 124471 SH 124000 BH 7328 WBT 128 SPL 5885275 CPL 1140 TPL 315222 TPL 174 WBT 

3 92363 RH 76000 WBT 4992 RH 100 TPL 5876219 BH 943 CPL 307524 CPL 152 CPL 

4 82532 SPL 70160 RH 3600 CPL 95 CPL 4643193 WBT 900 NPL 307494 WBT 117 NPL 

5 80959 TPL 62769 WPL 3462 BH 93 BH 4150075 RH 793 RH 278555 RH 116 PDL 

6 76366 CPL 59314 NPL 3333 PDL 93 WBT 3662530 TPL 650 BH 278003 SPL 108 RH 

7 71579 WBT 53000 CPL 3233 TPL 73 PDL 3394977 PDL 554 BDL 275937 WPL 98 WPL 

8 60062 RO 52000 PDL 3109 BDL 62 BDL 3119731 WPL 538 PDL 242556 SH 83 BH 

9 52424 NPL 50000 TPL 2983 RO 58 NPL 2724935 SH 523 RO 227516 PDL 80 TPL 

10 43023 BH 42556 SH 2930 SPL 48 WPL 2576299 NPL 453 SH 176205 RO 57 RO 

11 39594 BDL 42000 RO 2859 MH 47 SH 2328555 RO 411 SPL 151751 NPL 42 SH 

12 36820 PDL 23100 BDL 2845 SH 38 RO 1779484 BDL 346 WPL 131849 MH 34 BDL 

13 31101 MH 16885 MH 2623 NPL 15 MH 554168 MH 177 MH 112058 BDL 17 MH 

 

 
OUTPUTS 

 

Registered  

Borrowers 

Visits/ 

capita 

Ref trans/ 

visit 

Program 

attendance 
Circ/capita ILL Loaned 

Users of Pub 

Computers 

Program attendance/ 

program 

1 90324 CPL 13.93 WBT 0.65 NPL 65564 WBT 37.45 WBT 143169 TPL 469821 WBT 71.90 SH 

2 71322 WBT 11.06 PDL 0.35 SPL 32570 SH 29.17 PDL 105692 SH 436331 WPL 46.24 WBT 

3 58986 RH 11.00 RO 0.33 WBT 31422 CPL 26.39 CPL 76629 WPL 420000 PDL 39.54 SPL 

4 56913 TPL 10.07 BH 0.28 RH 29060 RH 20.94 RH 35951 BDL 189178 RH 36.65 RH 

5 53114 SH 9.71 SPL 0.23 SH 27570 TPL 20.79 BH 31528 NPL 126256 BH 33.32 CPL 

6 51507 WPL 9.05 RH 0.22 BH 25945 NPL 16.80 TPL 23549 CPL 99961 TPL 31.83 RO 

7 46000 SPL 8.45 CPL 0.20 WPL 17099 BH 14.28 BDL 18138 RH 89430 NPL 28.83 NPL 

8 45648 PDL 8.08 TPL 0.14 TPL 16647 RO 10.62 NPL 16694 BH 86197 SH 26.55 WPL 

9 43439 BH 7.23 BDL 0.13 CPL 16249 SPL 8.63 SPL 16179 RO 72573 BDL 26.31 BH 

10 31446 BDL 5.01 NPL 0.13 PDL 14118 BDL 7.06 RO 13650 SPL 65858 RO 25.48 BDL 

11 30700 RO 4.50 SH 0.12 BDL 12929 PDL 5.04 SH 11794 WBT 35515 MH 24.18 TPL 

12 27025 NPL 3.32 MH 0.08 MH 9186 WPL 4.11 WPL 10195 PDL 0 CPL 24.03 PDL 

13 9300 MH 2.58 WPL 0.06 RO 4146 MH 3.64 MH 9193 MH 0 SPL 23.42 MH 

 

  TPL Rank Position in 2009-2010 

    Where TPL would rank with its 2010-2011 numbers (if different from 09-10) 

BDL Brighton District Library RO Royal Oak Public Library 

BH Bloomfield Township Public Library SH Sterling Heights Public Library 

CPL Canton Public LIbrary SPL Southfield Public Library 

MH Madison Heights Public Library TPL Troy Public Library 

NPL Novi Public Library WBT West Bloomfield Twnship Public Library 

PDL Plymouth District Library WPL Warren Public Library 

RH Rochester Hills Public Library 

   

Section 1: Deep Dive – Library Rankings 



 

 

 

Takeaways from Comparison Tables 
- INPUTS 

o In 2009-2010, TPL was ranked highly in employees, programs and collections; about average in 

population served, hours open, and operating expenditures; and somewhat low in space and 

number of public computers. 

o In 2010-2011, TPL had major drops in all non-fixed inputs (hours, employees, programs, and 

collection – not space or public computers). 

o This resulted in TPL having low inputs across the board, since inputs not immediately affected by 

budget cuts (space and public computers) were already lower to begin with. 

- OUTPUTS 

o In 2009-2010, TPL had a solid number of cardholders and their collection was a strong resource for 

InterLibrary Loan. TPL had average program attendance, circulation, and computer use. Visitation 

and reference transactions were also average, but on the lower end. Program attendance per 

program was low. 

o In 2010-2011, TPL had a significant dip in program attendance, InterLibrary Loan use and computer 

use. TPL has a smaller dip in cardholders, visits, and program attendance per program. Reference 

transactions per visit went slightly up and circulation remained the same. 

o The budget cuts and near-closure had the greatest immediate effect on use of library services 

such as programs, InterLibrary Loan, and public computers. 

  

Section 1: Deep Dive – Library Comparisons 



 

 

A Story of Recovery 
The good news is that as we compare TPL’s statistics over the last 3 years, we see signs of recovery. The tables below 

show trends in library Inputs and Outputs. Circulation and program attendance are leading the recovery. Visitation, web 

hits and computer use is declining, but that seems to be tapering off. While total number of cardholders is declining, 

new cardholders is increasing. TPL’s challenge lies in the Inputs – some inputs (budget, collections, programs) are 

recovering. But inputs such as employees, volunteers, and hours, have dipped and hold steady (or decline). As Outputs 

recover and Inputs stay the same, TPL must learn how to do more with less. 

  

 

Inputs 

Category FY 2009-10 FY 2010-11 FY 2011-12   

Population served            80,959             80,980             80,980    

Employees                  100                     70                     72    

Volunteers                  409                   205                     98    

Budget  $ 4,570,670   $ 2,684,670   $ 3,008,495    

Hours open (annual)              3,233               2,860               2,860    

Square feet            50,000             50,000             50,000    

# public computers                    80                     80                     64    

Collection         315,222          274,001          295,080    

Items added            28,616             22,925             24,254    

Programs (total)              1,140                   145                   270    

Adult Programs                  480                     64                     66    

Teen Programs                    49                      0                       15    

Child Programs                  611                     81                   189    

 

Outputs 

Category FY 2009-10 FY 2010-11 FY 2011-12   

Total Circulation      1,360,367       1,212,904       1,239,276    

circ/capita              16.80               14.98               15.30    

circ/visit                2.08                 2.60                 2.76    

Total # cardholders            56,913             51,213             50,880    

# new library cards              8,791               3,611               4,729    

Total # patron visits         654,258          466,353          448,782    

visits/capita                8.08                 5.76                 5.54    

Total # Web page hits         571,434          450,406          402,130    

Total # Computer users            99,961             68,644             56,316    

# of holds placed/filled            76,992             82,918             83,282    

Items loaned to ILL            43,169               7,554               8,124    

Total attendance            25,290               2,372               5,506    

Adult Attendance              9,969                   863               1,230    

Teen Attendance                  607                      -                     164    

Child Attendance            14,714               1,509               4,112    

Summer reading              1,857               1,582                   939    

Section 1: Deep Dive TPL 3-year Usage 

Recovering  Steady   Decline 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Section 2: The Community 

Key Points: 
• Home to international corporations and individual businesses with 

emphasis in banking and finance institutions. 

• Destination city for daytime work force. 

• Regionally acclaimed shopping and entertainment. 

 

6,000 individual businesses in Troy. 

136,000 daytime population, almost 55,000 more than reside in Troy. 

100,000+ people commute into Troy for work. 

$32,603 retail sales per capita, compared to $10,855 in Michigan overall. 

 

 

Business Culture & Knowledge Economy 

Key Points: 
• Transitioning from manufacturing to a knowledge economy, where 

knowledge (information and expertise) is a product itself, not just a tool. 

Troy has a head start in the transition, compared to surrounding areas, 

based on its business culture and educated workforce. 

• Potential to be an international gateway, particularly to Asia. 

• Potential to be a regional leader within Oakland County and southeast 

Michigan, in transit, environment, civic infrastructure. 

 

Looking Ahead 



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Section 2: The Community 

Key Points: 
• Diverse, educated, affluent. 

• More specifics in “The Community Deep Dive” (3 pages below). 

 

80,980 population of Troy. 

$87,269 median household income compared to $48,432 in Michigan. 

73% White, 19% Asian, 4% African American, 2% Hispanic or Latino. 

23% foreign-born residents, double the Oakland County average. 

62% of foreign-born residents are Asian. 

74% of Troy residents have some college education. 

 

 

 

 

People of Troy 

Key Points: 
• Engage international population in civic, business affairs. 

• Age 65+ expected to increase in Troy from 10% to 22% by 2030. This, 

combined with fewer young people coming to SE Michigan, makes aging a 

significant trend. 

• 6,000 people each year, net, projected to leave Southeast Michigan. Mostly 

because of low in-migration numbers. 

Looking Ahead 



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Section 2: The Community 

Key Points: 
• Formal and informal education is important for Troy residents: exemplary 

school systems and strong tradition of higher education, but also seeking 

lifetime learning experiences. 

• Strong interest in cultural opportunities. 

• “City without a heart” – no conventional city center or downtown. Lack of 

unprogrammed open spaces for cultural life. 

• Troy is better known as a place to work than a place to live. 

 

56% of Troy residents have an advanced degree. 

8,000 of Troy’s 120,000 workforce actually reside in Troy. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Quality of Life 

Key Points: 
• Knowledge-based businesses and workforce are attracted to places with 

reputation for educated workforce and high quality of life. 

• Momentum for developing lifetime learning opportunities in Troy. 

• “Villaging”: creating vibrant activity nodes throughout the city. 

• Think: energetic, memorable places to experience new points of view, 

witness personal expression, enjoy activities with others. 

 

Looking Ahead 



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Section 2: The Community 

Key Points: 
• Decade-long recession with longer, slower recovery than in past. 

• High-wage industries lead the way to recovery. 

• Immigrants, particularly from Asia, bring higher education and  

prepare the region for the knowledge economy. 

• Big budget cuts in city services due to huge revenue shortfalls. 

• Distrust and cynicism with city government. 

• High concern for fiscal responsibility. 

 

2.5% increase in employment in Michigan in 3rd quarter 2011  

compared to same time 2009, compared to 1% nationally. 

4.2% increase in high-wage jobs in Michigan in 3rd quarter 2011 compared to  

1.1% and 3.8% increases in middle- and low-wage industries, respectively. 

85% of immigrants from India have a bachelor’s degree or higher. 

68% Troy residents felt the City of Troy was pretty seriously off on  

the wrong track in 2011 City of Troy Community Survey. 

70% of Troy residents gave a negative rating of Troy City Council in  

serving citizens of Troy in 2011 City of Troy Community Survey. 

Recession, Recovery, Government 

Key Points: 
• Balanced optimism of economic recovery. 

• Continued job growth expected. 

 

 

Looking Ahead 

“The consistent message 

[from the community] was – 

‘whatever is done, do it right, 

but do not be extravagant.’ “ 

 

TPL Space Needs Assessment 

 



  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Section 3: Broader Perspectives 

Key Points: 
• Use pattern changing: more people coming to library but  

using less exclusively for book check-outs and more for  

computers, internet, and programs. 

• Current funding models are not sustaining libraries. 

19% increase in per capita use of library, 1997 to 2007. 

5% decline in circulations per 1000 visits, 1997 to 2007. 

8% increase in program attendance per 1000 visits, 1997 to 2007. 

Double use of public library by computer from 2006 to 2009. 

60% of libraries reporting flat or decreased operating budget for 2011. 

Library Trends 

Confronting the Future: Strategic Visions 

for the 21
st

 Century Public Library, Roger E. 

Levien, ALA Office of Information Technology Policy, 
http://www.ala.org/offices/sites/ala.org.offices/files/content/oitp/publications/polic

ybriefs/confronting_the_futu.pdf 
 

21
st

 Century Skills Report, IMLS, 

http://www.imls.gov/assets/1/AssetManager/21stCenturySkills.pdf 

 

The Future of Museums and Libraries, IMLS, 

http://www.imls.gov/assets/1/AssetManager/DiscussionGuide.pdf 

 

3 Frameworks for the Future of Libraries 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Section 3: Broader Perspectives 

 

 

Physical Virtual 
• Physical library with web 

presence 

• Some virtual media held 

jointly with other libraries 

• Facilities and media all 

virtual 

• Media, Q&A, meetings 

accessed through library’s 

web presence 

Individual Community 
• Focused only on individual 

• Satisfy needs one by one 

• Furniture, equipment for 

individual, quiet use 

• Staff answers questions, 

tailors recommendations 

based on each user  

• Offer technology unavailable 

to individuals (e.g. book 

printers, very large displays) 

• Work and meeting space 

for groups 

• Events of community 

interests 

• Archives of local records 

and artifacts 

• Local displays, exhibits.  

• Offer advanced tech for 

group and community 

Collection Creation 
• Place to get information and 

knowledge, be entertained 

• Ready and free access to 

collections and information 

resources. 

• Extended role as place 

where media is created 

• Specialized equipment to 

help authors, performers 

prepare works 

• Users build on rich base 

of library materials 

Portal Archive 
• Library is a “window” through 

which patrons can access 

media and information 

resources owned and hosted 

by other organizations 

• Library itself possesses few 

physical or virtual media of its 

own 

• Library collection in full 

range of genres, media 

• Rare books or local 

materials relevant to 

community 

• Go-to resource for other 

libraries and patrons. 

 

“To meet the challenges 

they face, [libraries] must 

make strategic choices in 

four distinct dimensions, 

each consisting of a 

continuum of choices 

lying between two 

extremes. Collectively, the 

choices a library makes 

along the four dimensions 

create a vision … to best 

serve its patrons and its 

community.” 

 

from the report 

 

Confronting the Future 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Section 3: Broader Perspectives 

 

 

20
th

 Century 

Library/Museum 

21
st

 Century 

Library/Museum 
Content-driven Audience- and content-driven 

Tangible objects (art, books) Tangible and digital objects 

One-way information 

(institution presents 

information to audiences) 

Multi-directional (co-created 

experiences involving 

institution, audiences, and 

others) 

Focus on presentation and 

display 

Focus on audience engagement 

and experiences 

Enhancing knowledge Enhancing knowledge and 21st 

century skills 

Independent Collaborative 

Located in community 

(operates independently) 

Embedded in community 

(aligned with and acts as a 

leader on community 

needs/issues) 

Learning outcomes assumed, 

implied 

Learning outcomes purposeful, 

designed for 

Institution leads content 

development (content tightly 

edited and controlled) 

Content co-created among 

diverse partners and audiences; 

accessible in multiple ways 

 

“How should libraries and 

museums evolve as 

institutions of learning in 

the 21
st

 century? In light 

of 21
st

 century demands, 

libraries and museums 

should build on current 

strengths and embrace 

new approaches….The 

21
st

 century has changed 

how, when, and where we 

all learn.” 

 

from the report 

 

21
st

 Century Skills Report 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Section 3: Broader Perspectives 

 

 

1: Changing Definitions & Roles of Museums and Libraries  

Societal changes (demographics, infrastructure, technology, 

economics, sources of energy) alter how people live in and view the 

world. These changes will also alter the definition and role of libraries 

as they adapt their services to meet changing community needs. 

2: Shifts in Power & Authority  

Rather than act as gatekeepers to knowledge, museums and libraries 

can be facilitators and teachers, providing the context, content, and 

tools that empower people to question, search, inform. 

3: Museums & Libraries as the “Third Place”  

Libraries embody the “Third Place” as gathering spaces for social 

interaction and engagement. Identify what “Third Place” looks like 

and how to be forces for civic engagement and social cohesion. 

4: Technology & Policy Development  

Rapid advances in technology will have a profound effect on how 

people access and use information. Museums and libraries will need 

to determine their role in policy developments for intellectual 

property, digitization, preservation, and content access. 

5: 21st-Century Learning & Information Use  

Developments in technology and information access combined with 

changes in methods of formal and alternative education will impact 

how museums and libraries deliver educational services. 

6: New Models & Structures for Collaboration 

The boundary between museum and library will likely be less distinct.  

Institutional goals can be expanded and enhanced through 

collaborations that combine resources, knowledge, and experience. 

7: Planning for a Sustainable Future  

True sustainability for museums and libraries lies in being relevant to 

the community. Ask: what makes us unique, what makes us matter, 

and who cares about what we do? 

8: Metrics for Evaluating Service & Impact 

Develop appropriate metrics to articulate the value of museums and 

libraries and ensure future success. 

9: The 21st-Century Museum & Library Workforce  

Library professionals will have a new set of skills and roles adapted to 

technological and information needs. Leadership need not be 

confined to a top-down system of change but can emerge from all 

levels by encouraging risk and visionary thinking and empowering 

staff members to actively shape the future of their organizations. 

 

“Take a proactive and 

positive stance in facing 

the challenges and 

opportunities of the 21
st

 

century. This is an 

opportunity to work with 

your communities in 

defining your 

relationships and charting 

a course for success.” 

 

from the report 

The Future of Museums and Libraries 



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Section 4: Case Studies 

1. Miami-Dade Public Library. Community service and customer service. From 

the IMLS 21st Century Skills Report. 

http://www.imls.gov/assets/1/AssetManager/21stCenturySkills.pdf 

 

2. Skokie Public Library, Embedded in a diverse community. From the IMLS 21st 

Century Skills Report. 

http://www.imls.gov/assets/1/AssetManager/21stCenturySkills.pdf 

 

3. Five Ways to Reinvent Libraries. From Time Magazine, June 2012. 

http://newsfeed.time.com/2012/06/22/how-libraries-are-reinventing-

themselves-for-the-future/?slide=e-books-yes-but-also-cake-pans-toys-and-

other-non-traditional-offerings#how-libraries-are-reinventing-themselves-for-

the-future 

 

4. The Engaged Library: Chicago Stories of Community Building. From Urban 

Libraries Council report. 

http://urbanlibraries.org/associations/9851/files/Engaged%20Library%20Full

%20Report.pdf 

 

5. Santa Cruz Museum of Art & History. Doing more with less. 

http://museumtwo.blogspot.com/2012/07/how-we-doubled-attendance-in-

year-one.html and http://museumtwo.blogspot.com/2012/05/year-one-as-

museum-director-survived.html 

 

5 Examples from the Field 



stewartc
Text Box
O-05







stewartc
Text Box
O-06















stewartc
Text Box
O-07






















































































































	AGENDA: December 17, 2012
	Cover Memo 
	Vision Statement & Goals
	AGENDA: Return to 1st Page
	EXPLANATION BOOKLET: Return to 1st Page 
	Attachments.pdf
	20121217 Agenda - I-05 Oakland County Bid - Installment Purchase of Golf Carts.pdf
	20121217 Agenda - J-02a City Council Minutes-Draft-December 3, 2012
	20121217 Agenda - J-04a SPR1 BusTransportation Services - Recreation
	20121217 Agenda - J-05 Acceptance of Warranty Deed Quit Claim Deed and Permanent Easement for Tuscany Estates Site Condo
	20121217 Agenda - J-06 Request to Abandon Existing Detention Basin and Accept Warranty Deed and Quit Claim Deed for Tuscany Estates Site Condo
	20121217 Agenda - J-07 Sole Source- Purchase Freeance Mobile Application (App) Software
	20121217 Agenda - J-08 Scheduled Contract Reopener with Detroit Water and Sewerage Department (5 Year)
	DWSD Water Contract Reopener 12 17 2012
	Peak Hour Averages Graph
	DWSD Water Contract 2012

	20121217 Agenda - O-01a Animal Control Appeal Board-Final-September 26, 2012
	20121217 Agenda - O-01b Building Code Board of Appeals-Final-November 7, 2012
	20121217 Agenda - O-01c Planning Commission Special-Study-Final-November 27, 2012
	20121217 Agenda - O-02a Troy Public Library 2013-2015 Strategic Plan
	20121217 Agenda - O-05 Robert Davis v City of Troy
	20121217 Agenda - O-06 Michigan Assoc of Home Builders et al v City of Troy
	20121217 Agenda - O-07 Special Elections Lawsuits




